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GUYANA WATER INC. 
The Water Guardian 

 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT 

 

INVESTIGATIONREPORT 

 
To:  Mr. Ramesh Dookhoo - Chairman, Board of Directors  

From:  Manager, Internal Audit 

Date:  June 3, 2015 

Subject: Alleged irregularities 

 

As requested, we have conducted checks into a list of alleged irregularities within the company. We 

herein submit our findings, comments, and recommendations.  

 

Objective 

To establish and/determine the accuracy of the allegations. 

 

 
Scope 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with standard fraud examination techniques, which 

included the examination of records, interviews with relevant personnel, and any other such 

evidence-gathering procedures as necessary under the circumstances. 

 

Overview 

During an emergency meeting held on May 28, 2015 by the Chairman, Board of Directors, other board 

members and Senior Management officials several reports of irregularities regarding the conduct of 

the Chief Executive were raised. These include misappropriation of cash advances for sites visits, 

abuse of authority in using the company assets, overriding company policies etc. 

 

Allegation 1 – Misappropriation of Cash Advance for site visits and unauthorized Cash 
Refunds 

Site Advances for undertaking official trips (Account #1603) are granted to an employee for defraying 

expenses for meals, boarding, etc. while on official duties away from base. 

Procedure: 
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An employee must present a “Request for Advance” form approved by the relevant Head of Department 

(HOD) to the finance department stating the requestor’s name, amount, purpose, clearance date and an 

expense budget.  Cash Advances below and above $15,000 are paid via Petty Cash and Cheque 

respectively.  No advance is issued to any person who has an advance outstanding unless approved by 

the Finance Director.  

Advances must be cleared on the date specified; however, if more time is needed then proper explanation 

should be provided by the respective HOD. Supporting bills or in special cases honor certificates with 

adequate details are required to substantiate expense claims. Cash Receipts are issued in cases where 

cash are returned. Data entry of transaction into Oracle EBS is done by the Accounts Clerk and rechecked 

by the Assistant Accountant. Final posting of transaction to General Ledger is done by the General 

Accountant.  

 

Findings: 

For the period January 2014 – May 2015 a total of $3.9Mn (See appendix 1) was issued to the Chief 

Executive and employees performing duties as his Executive Assistant to facilitate official field trips.  

i) The legitimacy of expenses and field trips could not have been verified since bills produced 

did not provide any contact information for the persons issuing same;  no other official from 

GWI was stated accompanying the Chief Executive on the claimed official visits; and the 

purpose of the visits were not stated. Refer to Exhibit 1. 

 

ii) The following were observed from bills presented to substantiate expenses incurred.  Refer 

to Exhibit 2. 

 

 Like hand writings and formation of letters on bills “supposedly” issued by different 
individuals. 
 

 Bills issued from different persons in different locations which showed signs of being 
from the same book since the receipts contained one of the above if not both and had 
the same designs. 

 
 Individuals who “supposedly” issued the receipts from one location issued another at 

a different location. 
 

iii) Cash receipt of US$400 equivalent to GY$84,000 (Ex. Rate @210) dated 05/09/14  written 

to S. Baksh from M. Ramgoolan for “hire of taxi Piarco – POS San Fernando Chaguanas/ POS” 

was presented to clear advance of $105,000 taken on 04/09/14 for a visit to the Water 

Authority of Trinidad and Tobago. See exhibit 3. We were informed that neither the board of 

directors nor senior management was aware of this visit.  
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iv) Bills dated December 4, 2014 totaling $200,000 were proven to be fictitious as security logs 

showed that the Chief Executive was at head office instead of the locations claimed. Refer to 

the below table for the details:- 

 
Advance Voucher Cheque Bills 

Date 
Prepared 

Prepared 
By 

Date 
Approved 

Approve
d By 

Cheque # Oracle AP 
Module 

Creation 
date & 
Time 

Approved 
By 

Date Details Value 
($) 

04/12/14 Onika 
Holder 

04/12/14 Shaik 
Baksh 

950013014 04-Dec-
2014 
12:02:29 

N. Niles & 
S. Tiwari 

04/12/14 Hire of speed boat 
from Parika – 
Moruka on 4/12 
and return Morika 
– Parika on 6/12 

160,000 

Hire of speed boat 
from Parika / 
Supenaam / Parika 

40,000 

 
Head Office Security “vehicle log book” showed following logs for the Chief Executive’s vehicle:- 
 

Date Driver’s Name Time # of persons 
in  the vehicle 

Remarks 

In Out 

December 4, 2014 Gavin Anderson 11:15 - 3 CEO 

- 13:25 2 CEO 

15:55 - 3 CEO / Family 

Baksh - 17:25 1 CEO 

  
See exhibit 4 
 

v) Advance of $300,000 was issued on April 30, 2015 for visits to Upper Pomeroon region and 

Santa Rosa and Villages in Morika sub region, however, one of the bill presented totaling 

$245,000 for hiring of speed boat from Charity to Santa Rosa, Santa Rosa to Moruka return 

and Santa Rosa to Mabaruma return was dated May 11, 2015 – Elections Day which was 

declared a public holiday. See exhibit 5 for bill and appendix 2 for media article  

 

vi) Advance of $220,000 was requested on May 22, 2015 by Demallea Benjamin, 

Communication Assistant (acting in the capacity of the Executive Assistant to the Chief 

Executive at the time) for visits to communities along the upper and lower Mazaruni River 

and Bartica. See exhibit 6. 

 
- A cheque was prepared and approved on the mentioned date. The Communications 

Assistant indicated that she collected the cheque, changed same and gave the cash to 

the CEO on May 25, 2015. 

- On May 29, 2015, IAD was informed by the Director of Finance that the money was 

refunded by the Chief Executive and a receipt #80324 was issued for same. The 

reason provided for the cancellation of the trip was that the cash was received too late. 

 

Refunds  
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vii) Table below show instances where refunds were made to the Chief Executive by GWI 

for entertainment of Officials from other Water Entities across the region. We were 

unable to determine whether other GWI officials were present on these occasions. See 

exhibit 7. 
 
Date Details Amount Remarks 

 

29-Apr-2015 Entertainment of team from T & T $27,095 This was coded to GWI’s Entertainment and 
Hospitality expense code and not the CE’s 
Entertainment Allowance 
 

16-Oct-2014 Purchase meals for team from Brazil $32,893 

19-Dec-2014 Entertainment of team Solaris 
Barbados 

$13,200 

  

viii) The Chief Executive’s employment contract dated September 17, 2012 does not provide 

for compensation for medical expenses; however, an instance was noted where monies 

were reimbursed for a “claimed” on the job accident. This accident was never reported to 

the Occupational Health and Safety Officer or the Human Resources Department nor was 

there any accident report prepared to justify payments. The total value amounted to 

$29,000 which was approved by the Management Accountant, S. Tiwari and paid on April 

24, 2015. See exhibit 8. 

 

- Apart from the above mentioned three (3) other claims for medical treatments were found:- 

 
Date Details Amount Remarks 

 

19-Mar-2015 Medical Expenses $20,000 
 

 

04-Mar-2015 Payment for medical treatment $50,000 
 

Claims of on the job injury, yet no report 
was made to the Occupational Health & 
Safety Officer or HR. 

03-Feb-2015 Refund to Mr. Baksh MRI cervical spine $85,000 
 

 

 

 

Allegation 2 – Financial irregularity reference made to unaccounted deposits system 
breakdowns 

Copy of the investigation report on unaccounted deposits is provided for guidance. With regards to 
system breakdowns this was evident in routine audits done in the latter part of 2014 for Accounts 
Payable, Fixed Assets & WIP, and Bank Reconciliations and was discussed at various Audit Sub-
Committee meetings including the last held.   

Allegation 3 – Payment of unknown security personnel for the Chief Executive 

The Chief Executive is entitled to 22 hours security services at lot 16 Ixora Avenue, Eccles; EBD 

according to clause 3.3.5 of his is Employment Contract. 
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Two (2) private security personnel were employed by the Chief Executive despite being informed by 

the Director of Human Resources – Gale Doris that the company (GWI) has a contracted security firm 

which provides this service.    

- The creation of these two positions was not approved by the board. 

 
- The recruitment process was carried out solely by the Chief Executive who instructed the 

Human Resources department to create personnel files, prepare employment contracts and 

make necessary arrangements for salary payment. It should be noted that the two (2) 

security personnel were paid a basic salary of $44,000 and $16,000 to compensate for 

overtime ($120,000 per month).  This was cost effective (savings of $118,700 per month) 

compared to $238,700 (2 Baton Security 22hrs@$350 per hour for 31 days) that would have 

been incurred using the contracted security firm. 

 
- Although these positions were not on the company’s regular payroll or approved contracted 

positions approval was granted by the Chief Executive to pay salary increases for 2014. 

Refer to appendix 2 for details  

 

Allegation 4 – Unapproved Enforcement Unit and solicitation of bribes by Officers 

At the request of the Chairman, Board of Directors – Ramesh Dookhoo, an investigation was carried 

out in September 2014 and a report was submitted. Refer to attached email.  

At the time of the above mentioned investigation, two (2) Enforcement and Investigation Officers 

were recruited. Two (2) others Koushall Layne and Tyrone Williams were employed in December 

2014 and February 2015 respectively.  

- The recruitment process was carried out solely by the Chief Executive who instructed the 

Human Resources department to create personnel files, prepare employment contracts and 

make necessary arrangements for salary payment. 

 
Our concerns as reported remain same regarding this matter. With regards to allegations of 

bribery this could not be substantiated.  

 

Allegation 5 – Procurement of Service for construction of billboards 

A detailed investigation report was provided on this.  

Allegation 6 – Abuse of authority usage of Vehicle allocated to the Chief Executive   

On March 28, 2012 a contract was entered into between GWI and S. Jagmohan Hardware Supplies and 

Constructing Services and Nabi Construction Inc., Joint Venture/Consortium for the Georgetown Sanitation 

Program – Priority Works for the Installation of Force Mains. 
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Under the contract’s Special Conditions of Contract, the Contractor was required to provide a specific list of 

facilities for the Engineer’s location which included one (1) Double Cab Pickup (new or reconditioned). The 

Contractor tendered a quoted price of $4,700,000 from Associated Industries Limited (AINLIM) for a Nissan 

Frontier 4x4 Double Cab Pickup – ‘DX’ – Diesel. 

 

This pickup was to be utilised for the sole purpose of site visits and verification of works done by GWI’s 

Project Manager and Engineer on the contract.  

 

A decision was taken to allocate the double cab pickup to be supplied under the contract to the Chief 

Executive’s (CE) full use to fulfil item 3-3.3-3.3.3 as stated in his employment contract under Salary and 

Benefits. 

 
The following observations were made regarding the above arrangement:- 

- The decision was taken despite GWI making available two (2) other vehicles to the CE which 
he deemed as unsuitable. The Director of IPID - Ramchand Jailall who is ultimately 
responsible for the overall management of the contract stated that it was his understanding 
that the CE would have discussed this decision with the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of GWI and the previous Minister of Housing and Water, Mr. I. Ali and approval would have 
been received. 
  

- The double cab pickup acquired differed to the one tendered by the contractors by 
Manufacturer and cost. The double cab pickup acquired was an upgrade in the form of a 
Toyota Hilux Vigo Double Cab Pickup (brand new), 2012 Year Model, Diesel, 2982cc and cost 
$7,500,000 which was $2,800,000 more than the Nissan Frontier. The Toyota Hilux Vigo 
carried plate # PPP 9050. The additional cost of the Toyota Hilux Vigo was borne by GWI and 
recorded in the Asset Register – Vehicles and Mobile Plant Account #1107 with an acquisition 
cost of $3,899,865 and date 01-Jan-07. 
 

- Vehicle PPP 9050 was never used on the contract under which it was acquired. The Project 
Manager and Engineer had to resort to the use of an assigned vehicle from GWI’s vehicle pool, 
which is shared throughout the company on a first come first serve basis. This significantly 
hampered the work of the Project Manager and Engineer throughout the duration of the 
contract. 
 

- The persons authorized to operate vehicle PPP 9050 are the GWI assigned driver and the CE. 
The vehicle was under the purview of the Administrative Manager along with all other 
vehicles in the pool. GWI has an approved mechanic under contract to effect general 
maintenance and repairs to GWI’s vehicle pool. 
 

- The CE made a unilateral decision to have all general maintenance and repairs to vehicle PPP 
9050 done by an unauthorized mechanic. All costs attached to this were processed through 
Purchase Orders. This unilateral decision was taken by the CE despite being shown by the 
Administrative Manger that the costs were higher when general maintenance and repairs 
were done by the unauthorized mechanic than if it was done by the GWI approved mechanic. 
Table below shows maintenance to date. 
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- In addition to vehicle PPP 9050, the Administrative Manager was required to provide 
additional vehicles to complete personal trips and errands for the CE. This impacted the 
ability of the Administrative Manger to fulfil requests for vehicles from other departments to 
complete official GWI work. 
 

- Vehicle PPP 9050 subsequently met with an accident on the 3rd May, 2015. The damages 
sustained deemed the vehicle to be a complete write-off. At the time of the accident the CE 
was out of the country and the vehicle was driven by his son who is not an authorized 
operator of the vehicle. Refer to appendix 4 for media report and condition of vehicle. 

 

 

Allegation 6 – Payment of Gratuity to the Chief Executive without approval from the Board  

According to clause 3.2 of the Chief Executive Employment contract “gratuity should be paid subject 

to satisfactory performance”. We saw no evidence that performance appraisal was done and were 

informed that gratuity payments are programmed in the Payroll Software to be processed when 

due. The Directors and Senior Manager’s payroll with statutory and applicable deductions are 

prepared by the Finance Director and checked by the Human Resources Director prior to payment 

through designated banks. Gratuity payments via payroll to the Chief Executive from the date of 

employment September 17, 2102 to current were as follows:- 

Year Amount Paid Duration  

2013   $1,917,000  12 months 

2014  $2,012,850 12 months 

2015 $1,056,719 6 months 

 

   

 

Conclusion 

Sum of Net Column Labels

Category 2013 2014 2015 Grand Total

Entertainment/Hospitality 2,000           2,000                

Fuel & Lubricants MV 660,861                   1,172,690  382,718       2,216,269        

Hired/Outside Services 65,500          65,500              

Insurance 12,515                     12,515              

Licences 6,000                       6,000           12,000              

Other supplies and servic 8,950                       22,381        40,316          71,647              

Other Transport Costs 4,000                       21,500        25,500              

Repair & Maintenance -B&E 20,500                     319,906      116,000       456,406           

Repairs - Vehicles 197,536                   154,800      9,315            361,651           

Tyres & Tracks 343,640      343,640           

Grand Total 910,361                   2,042,917  613,849       3,567,127        
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In several instances the Chief Executive breached established company policies and procedures and 

abuses his authority while executing his functions. 

    

Recommendation 

Disciplinary action should be taken against the Chief Executive and other officers where applicable 

in accordance to GWI policy and procedures.     

 

Acknowledgement 

 
We thank Management and staff for their co-operation during the course of this investigation. 
 
 
 
 
Not signed as sent electronically 

Anand Bharat 

  
 
 
Cc: Nigel Niles, Executive Director Corporate Services and Company Secretary 
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APPENDIX 1 – Advances taken by the Chief Executive and Executive Assistants  

 

 

Refer to spreadsheet below:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Advances Details
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APPENDIX 2 – Chief Executive – Shaik Baksh mentioned in the media working on elections day – 

May 11, 2015. 

 

Source: http://www.stabroeknews.com/2015/news/stories/05/12/essequibo-coast-vote-goes-

smoothly-despite-hiccups/ 
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APPENDIX- 3 Details of Security Personnel and summary of payments made to date.  

  

Rahaman Rahamat Amount   Himlall Amount   Jairam Deonarine Amount 

DOE.   Sept. 2012    DOE.  Oct. 2012    DOE.   April 2013   

        

Nov-12  $    60,000   Nov-12  $        60,000   Apr-13  $        60,000  

Dec-12  $    60,000   Dec-12  $        60,000   May-13  $        60,000  

Jan-13  $    60,000   Jan-13  $        60,000   Jun-13  $        60,000  

Feb-13  $    60,000   Feb-13  $        60,000   Jul-13  $        60,000  

Mar-13  $    60,000   Mar-13  $        60,000   Aug-13  $        60,000  

Apr-13  $    60,000   Jan-14  $        60,000   Sep-13  $        60,000  

May-13  $    60,000   Feb-14  $        60,000   Nov-13  $        60,000  

Jun-13  $    60,000   Mar-14  $        60,000   Dec-13  $        60,000  

Jul-13  $    60,000   May-14  $        60,000   Jan-14  $        60,000  

Aug-13  $    60,000   Jun-14  $        60,000   Feb-14  $        60,000  

Sep-13  $    60,000   Jul-14  $        60,000   Mar-14  $        60,000  

Oct-13  $    60,000   Aug-14  $        60,000   May-14  $        60,000  

Nov-13  $    60,000   Sep-14  $        60,000   Jun-14  $        60,000  

Dec-13  $    60,000   Nov-14  $        60,000   Jul-14  $        60,000  

   $  840,000   Dec-14  $        60,000   Aug-14  $        60,000  

     
 Jan to Dec Retro 

2014  $        36,000   Sep-14  $        60,000  

Resigned Jan 01-2014  Jan-15  $        63,000   Oct-14  $        60,000  

     Feb-15  $        63,000   Nov-14  $        60,000  

     Mar-15  $        63,000   Dec-14  $        60,000  

     Apr-15  $        63,000   
Jan  Dec Retro 

2014  $        36,000  

     May-15  $        63,000   Jan-15  $        63,000  

        $  1,251,000   Feb-15  $        63,000  

          Mar-15  $        63,000  

          Apr-15  $        63,000  

          May-15  $        63,000  

               $  1,491,000  
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APPENDIX 4- Condition of vehicle after the accident 

 

Source: http://www.kaieteurnewsonline.com/2015/05/05/shaik-bakshs-son-writes-off-govt-vehicle/ 
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Acronyms and Abbreviations 

AWWA-American Water Works Association 

BM – Billings Manager 

CE – Chief Executive/ Chief Executive Officer 

CIPD – Capital Investment and Planning Department – Renamed IPID 

CS – Company Secretary 

CSM – Customer Services Manager 

DF – Director of Finance 

DO – Director of Operations 

DOCS – Director of Corporate Services/ Company Secretary 

DP – Director of Procurement 

ED – Executive Director 

GWITC – Guyana Water Inc. Tender Committee 

D, HR – Director, Human Resource  

IAD – Internal Audit Department 

IA- Internal Auditor 

IPID – Infrastructure Planning and Implementation Department 

IWA-International Water Association 

MA – Management Account 

MTC – Management Tender Committee 

NPTAB – National Procurement Tender and Administration Board 

PA – Project Accountant 

PD – Procurement Department 

PM – Project Manager 

PRO – Public Relations Officer 
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May 18, 2016 

Ms. Sophie Makonnen 
Representative, IDB 
Inter-American Development Bank 
47 High Street 
Kingston, Georgetown 
 

Dear Ms. Makonnen, 

Re: Guyana Water Incorporated-Forensic Audit 

We have been contracted by the Inter-American Development Bank to carry out a forensic audit of 
the Guyana Water Incorporated, a public company registered under the Companies Act of Guyana 
and owned by the Government of Guyana. Our audit focused on the period January, 2012-May, 
2015. 

1. The objectives and scope of the audit: 
 

a) To determine the entity’s adherence to and fulfilment of principles of corporate governance 
in all aspects, including its interpretation of its mission, adherence to legal or statutory and 
policy instructions and good practices; 
 

b) Assess and test systems and detect any instance of corporate malfeasance and inefficiency 
for remedial and /or judicial interventions and systems realignment; 
 

c) Determine the authenticity and validity of significant commercial and financial transactions 
entered into by the entity with related parties, suppliers and customers and measure the 
extent of potential prejudice the entity may have suffered through such dealing, if any; 

 

d) Carry out comprehensive financial systems audit which should look at all systems, decisions 
and practices which have underpinned the entity’s finances test and assess the financial 
discipline at all levels. Without limitation, the Consultant/firm should; 
 
i) Review and examine all financial books and records of the entity as required to 

undertake such review and to obtain such clarifications and explanations as may be 
required in relation to such books and records; 

ii) Review all contract administration and approval processes in relation to the expenditure 
of funds during the period; 

iii) Review all material expenditure and contracts made by the entity during the period and 
obtain all necessary information and explanations as may be required in relation to such 
books and records; 
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iv) Examine all areas, including budgeting, financing, expenditure, management of revenue 
inflows, trade terms, procurement or purchase decisions and supply chain management; 

v) Examine the entity’s assets management system, including its fixed assets, their disposal, 
management or deployment; 

vi) Examine the entity’s marketing, production and commissioning policies, systems, and 
agreements to determine their integrity, efficacy and responsiveness; 

vii) Examine the entity’s archiving policy both by way of record keeping and as a performing 
asset that yields revenue for the entity. 
 

e) Recommend statutory/legal or organizational changes required to identify and prevent and 
recurrence of improprieties.  
 

2. Mission Statement 
 
"To deliver safe, adequate and affordable water and to ensure safe sewerage systems for improved 

public health and sustainable economic development”  
 

3. Vision 
  

“To ensure an efficient, sustainable and financially viable water and sewerage sector delivering a high 
quality service to customers” 

4. History 
 

GWI formed with the merger of Georgetown Sewerage and Water Commission (GSWC) and the 
Guyana Water Authority (GUYWA) on May 30, 2002. Its objectives are: 
 

a) The supply of potable water to the citizens of Guyana. 
b) The provision of sewerage disposal services to the residents of Central Georgetown. 
c) Operation and maintenance of the water and underground sewerage systems in Guyana. 
d) Customer billing and collection of tariff for the services provided. 

 

5. Profile-Division Facilities 
 

GWI’s head office is on Vlissingen Road and Church Street, Georgetown and has five Divisions 
with each Division covering a number of localities. 
 
It currently employs approximately six hundred and forty-one (641) staff and produced over one 
hundred and twenty-two (122) million cubic metres of water in 2015 from about one hundred and 
twenty-seven (127) bore holes of which twenty seven (27) supply nineteen (19) treatment plants. In 
addition, GWI operates twenty-four (24) sewerage pumping stations in Georgetown. Further, the 
company’s water treatment plants are located in Georgetown, Mon Repos, Pouderoyen, Fellowship, 
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Golden Grove, Queenstown, Cotton Tree, Lima, Vergenoegen, Better Hope, Covent Garden, 
Eccles, Bartica, Sophia, Central Ruimvedlt and Number 56 Village. 
 
Corentyne has the most boreholes-26, followed by West Coast, Demerara- 22, East Coast, 
Demerara- 21, Georgetown-18, East Bank, Demerara-13, Essequibo including Wakenaam-12, 
Region5-12 and Linden-3. 
 

6. Governance  
 

‘Water sector governance, at the micro level, is defined by Global Water Partnership (GWP) and 
UNDP as: “…the range of political, social, economic and administrative systems that are in place to 
develop and manage water resources and the delivery of water services, at different levels of 
society”.’  

Good governance depends on the quality of leadership, the strength of the institutions and how 
efficiently, effectively, sustainably, and transparently the resources are managed by sector institutions 
and main stakeholders.  

The Guyana Water Incorporated has always had a Board of Directors (BOD) appointed by the 
Government except for delays in their-appointments. However, having a BOD is only one aspect of 
good governance. In reviewing the minutes of the Directors’ meeting for the period under 
investigation, we can say without prejudice that the contents do not always reflect the significant 
activities which have occurred over the last four years and the many decisions that may have been 
taken. The activities may have been discussed at Sub-committees and decisions agreed on but the 
reports still had to be presented and ratified at the BOD meetings and this has not always been the 
case in terms of documentation. In addition, the following are noticeable shortcomings and or non-
occurrence:  

a) The company last held its Annual General Meeting (AGM) in 2009 contrary to Section 107 
(1) of the Companies Act which requires than an AGM must be held annually after the first 
year.  

b) In addition, the Directors did not exercise the option allowed under Section 107 (2) that is to 
seek the Minister’s approval for an extension. The Director of Corporate Services/ 
Company Secretary informed us that efforts were made to get the BOD to hold AGMs but 
he did not receive a positive response. 

c) The 2012 and 2013 audited financial statements were issued on September 17, 2013 and 
September 22, 2014, respectively. Audited financial statements for 2014 were issued on 
February 12, 2016 by the Auditor General. This is a clear indication that the Directors were 
not concerned with the company’s statutory responsibility to present to the shareholders, 
audited financial statements within the statutory time frame, annually. 

d) Annual Returns, as prescribed under Section 153 (1) have not been filed; this is a breach of 
the Companies Act which could cause the company to be removed from the Registry of 
Companies. 

e) Matters of substance including approval of contracts and other important decisions taken 
were not always seen as approved and recorded in the BOD’s minutes even though 
submissions were received from Sub-committees. The purposes of the minutes are to record 
important action points, decisions taken and by whom, who is responsible to follow up on 
these decisions and by when, whether the company’s planned objectives are addressed and 



 

6 
 

met and where there are adverse outcomes how they are being addressed. Sub-committee 
reports should be recorded as received and approved or amended as necessary. 

f) BOD’s minutes were not signed by the Chairman and Company Secretary (CS) once 
corrected. The minutes are kept electronically and the CS relayed to us that he found it 
difficult to get the Chairman to sign the minutes which he himself did not sign.  

g) The company has not filed Income and Property Tax returns with the Guyana Revenue 
Authority. This is a breach of the Income tax Act which carries penalty and interest on 
outstanding taxes. The Director of Finance (DF) confirmed that preparation and filing of 
income and property tax returns have not been done.  

h) The many directives approved in the Public Utility Commission’s (PUC) Order No. 3 of 
2005 and the tariff increases in Order 2/2013 were not implemented. 
 

Management’s response 

a,b)“Annual Reports for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012 are prepared. 2013 and 2014 are in draft. Efforts are 

being made to have those AGM’s convened.” 

c) “2012, 2013 and 2014 were all received late from the Auditor General’s Office. GWI has presented Audited 

Financials up to 2013 to the Public Accounts Committee of the National Assembly. The subject Minister at the time 

through the Permanent Secretary was aware of the factors surrounding the late submissions.” 

d)“Returns from 2002 to 2013 are prepared. The Registrar of Companies has requested only original copies 
of the Audited Financial Statements. This is being addressed.” 
 
e,f) “Corporate Services department has a Board decisions file which is updated after meetings.” 
 
g)“The issue is acknowledged. The Filing of Income and Property Tax returns with the Guyana Revenue Authority 

will be done in 2016.” 

h)“GWI’s monthly report is sent to the PUC every month immediately after the board meeting.” 

Recommendations 

1) The current BOD must endeavour to develop and sustain a strong culture of good 
governance in the shortest possible time. 

2) Review the functions of key management personnel to determine whether they are 
effectively engaged and whether their scope of work need to be revised. Also, whether they 
need further training.  

3) Ensure that the non-compliance of the issues listed from (a) to (f) above are addressed as 
soon as possible; some can be done immediately and the others within a short time. 

4) Minutes of the BOD must be carefully prepared to reflect the subject of the matters 
discussed and the decisions taken. They must be verified by the Chairman before being 
circularised to directors. At the following meeting, they are signed by the Chairman and CS 
after they are corrected. Printed copies must be filed for future records.  

5) An action sheet must be circulated within two days after the BOD meeting so that directors 
are aware of their responsibilities for the next meeting. 
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7. GWI’s Licence 
 

GWI operates under licence from the Government of Guyana through the Ministry of Housing & 
Water. 

Under the licence granted, the Public Utilities Commission (PUC) is to oversee the issues of price 
and quality of service of a public utility in the public interest. The PUC also has responsibility for the 
monitoring, regulating, enforcing service quality and dealing with consumer complaints and the 
fixing of rates to be charged from time to time. 

The PUC Order #3 2005 states on page 4 paragraph 9 ‘schedule 1 of the licence requires that GWI 
Tariffs should be so determined as to allow GWI to recover 100% of its operation and 
maintenance costs as well as its depreciation expenses’.  

In addition, page 5 (13) states “the licence also provide certain service standards but they are not in 

any way to limit the scope of GWI’s obligations. By the licence GWI is required to achieve the 

following: 

a) Coverage: It is required to provide 90% of the coastal population with safe water whether 
through connection to the network, standpipes, licenced borehole or other means, by no 
later than 5 years from 2002; and by that same period of time it shall ensure that safe water is 
available to or supplied to 80% of all settlements in the Hinterland, through sustainable and 
cost effective locally appropriate means as developed by GWI. 

b) By no later than four years from the effective date (2002) GWI is required to provide 24 
hour continued service of pressurised water supply at a minimum of five meters of 
consumers’ premises to the coastal population including Georgetown. 

c) GWI is to produce and distribute safe water that will meet the WHO standards. 
d) Further, page 9, paragraph 34 of the Order states ‘that the percentage of non-revenue water 

is alarming and much effort must be put in place to arrest the slide’.  
e) The Order approved the following: 

i) 10% increase on unmetered consumers; 5% on metered consumers on their existing 
tariffs effective July 1, 2005. 

ii) In return, GWI was to reduce non-revenue water to 39.45% as stipulated in the licence. 
iii) Ensure debt collection efficiency of 80.6% as set out in the licence. 
iv) Complying with licence standard of metering coverage of 52.7% of consumers. 
v) All unmetered consumers to be billed one year in advance. 
vi) Submit monthly financial statements to the PUC along with other critical financial 

information as set out in the Order.  
 

The Order also sets out other critical obligations on GWI which must be reported to the 

Commission. 

In 2013, PUC issued  Order No 2/2013 which states ‘As a condition in granting the increased tariff 
rates effective July 1, 2013 for the various categories of users GWI will be required to meet the 
following targets and to report its performance to the Commission bi-annually commencing from 
14th January, 2014: 

a) Consumer database should be sanitized to reflect legitimate debtors. This should be 
accomplished no later than 31th December 2013. 
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b) Meters should be read once per quarter and estimated billings would cease. 
c) Collection rates should increase incrementally each year to 2016; correspondingly bad debt 

provision should be reduced. 
d) Non-revenue water should be reduced by 3-4 percentage points annually to 2016. 
e) GWI by 2016 will maintain the level of at least 95% of services having functioning meters. 
f) All disconnected consumers that have not been legitimately connected should be revisited 

within 60 days of being disconnected and outstanding balances should be pursued to the full 
extent of the law. 
 

Based on discussions with the Director of Finance (DF), the Management Accountant (MA), 
Customers Services Manager (CSM) and Billing Manager (BM), none of the foregoing conditions 
have been met or in some cases not implemented particularly the new tariffs effective from July 1, 
2013. 

Subsequent to the issuing of the PUC Order, the Secretary to the PUC wrote to the then Chief 
Executive (CE) Mr Shaik Baksh on November 8, 2013 advising the CE that ‘on the Commission’s 
regular review of various sectors’ operations and billings, the PUC has noted that some of the 
changes issued to customers by GWI are not in sync with Order 2/2013 and wishes to be advised 
on same’. The CE responded on November 28, 2013 advising the Secretary that due to the 
unavailability of the ‘Hi-Affinity’ Billing System provider based in the UK, the rates could not have 
been changed. Unfortunately, the CE’s response of November 28, 2013 was not factual as GWI’s 
personnel in the Billing and Customer Service Department informed us that Managers can make 
certain changes to the ‘Hi-Affinity’ system including changes to the tariffs. On January 15, 2015 the 
Secretary of the PUC wrote the CE of GWI referring to his letter of November 28, 2013 advising 
that the PUC has not had an up-date on the implementation of the PUC Order No 2/2013. Please 
refer to Appendix I for PUC’s correspondence. 

In addition, the Secretary of the PUC has advised us that GWI has been in default of its mandatory 
reporting to the PUC unless management is reminded. 

Comments 

It is very clear that the BOD and management, after having presented both oral and written 
evidence to justify the conditions approved by PUC via Order 2/2013, did not implement them. 
The former BOD must be held responsible for failure to implement the Order. The PUC Act 1999 
Sections V11-Enforcement of Orders and V111-Offences and Penalties set out the possible 
consequences for failure to follow an Order.   

Management’s response: No comments or responses were provided. 

Recommendations 

1) The BOD must urgently address the non-compliance with Order 2/2013 to ensure 
compliance. If they feel that the conditions approved, as documented in the Order, are not 
practical to implement at this point, they must inform the PUC with a view to amend the 
conditions. Otherwise, they should be implemented immediately. 
 

2) Failure to implement the increase tariffs means loss of revenue to the company which it 
cannot afford at the present time as it depends heavily on Government subvention to offset 
electricity costs. 
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8. Strategic Business Plan (SBP) 2012-2016 
 

‘Strategic planning is a management activity that is used to set priorities, focus energy and resources, 

strengthen operations, ensure that employees and other stakeholders are working toward common 

goals, establish agreement around intended outcomes/results, and assess and adjust the 

organization's direction in response to a changing environment. It is a disciplined effort that 

produces fundamental decisions and actions that shape and guide what an organization is, who it 

serves, what it does, and why it does it, with a focus on the future. Effective strategic planning 

articulates not only where an organization is going and the actions needed to make progress, but also 

how it will know if it is successful’ 

The BOD approved of GWI’s Strategic Business Plan (SBP) for the period 2012 to 2016. Listed as 
its Key Objectives are the following: 

a) Financial Break Even by Year 2015 as a result of efficiency measures and a capital investment plan that 
will enhance revenue earning measures (e.g. increased meter coverage). Instead, the audited financial 
statements for 2014 showed that the company made a net operating loss of $3.1B; audited 
financial statements for 2013 and 2012 showed losses of $3.5B and $3.9B respectively. 
Accumulated net operating losses over the last three years amounted to $10.5B whereas total 
reported income from water revenue for the same period was $10.1B. 

b) Reduction of Non-Revenue Water (NRW) from an existing baseline of 70%to 35% by 2016. Again this 
has not been achieved. Currently, there is no specific data to show to what extent NRW has 
been reduced but based on studies now being done by the Coordinator-NRW, the situation 
could still be close to 70% of production based on analysis using billing information for 
2013 from ‘Hi-Affinity’ software. Currently, it still averages about 65% as reported in the 
SBP’s Committee’s meeting on January 20, 2015 which was the last minutes available to us. 
The NRW varies depending on the Division. However the Director (ED)-Infrastructure 
Planning and Implementation (IPI) explained that management is working to achieve a 
gradual reduction annually so by 2020 NRW should be reduced significantly. This goal has 
been set since 2005 and again in the SBP but it seems to be a real challenge to bring the 
NRW levels in all divisions down to an acceptable average.  
The latest forecast to reduce NRW: 

          NRW 
Reduction 
Targets 

  
Baseline 

2013 
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Unbilled Authorized 
Consumption 

15% 14% 13% 12% 11% 9% 7% 5% 

Water Losses 

Apparent 31% 29% 27% 25% 23% 21% 19% 17% 

Real 25% 23% 21% 19% 17% 16% 15% 14% 

Total Water 
Losses 

56% 52% 48% 44% 40% 37% 34% 31% 

Total NRW 70% 65% 60% 55% 50% 45% 40% 35% 

NRW Reduction Costs (GYM)     2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 

          Source: NRW Department 
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c) A simpler and clearer Tariff Structure that should allow for an overall increase of 5% as operating costs of 

GWI. The company was approved to use such a Tariff Structure by the PUC in 2013 but to 
date has failed to implement it.  

d) Move to 100% metering by 2015 compared to just 36% in 2011. This has not been achieved. 
Currently, the company’s customers’ base is 183,000 of which 84,900 are metered 
representing 46%. During 2012 to 2015, 35,223 meters have been installed based on 
confirmation from Executive Director (ED)-Infrastructure Planning and Implementation 
(IPI). Still, this has not had any marked changed to unmetered customers’ numbers because 
the installation of these 35,223 meters could not have been verified. 

e) Introduce Regulatory and Enforcement mechanisms in the new licence to be issued in 
November 2012. 

What the SBP did not articulate adequately is how these objectives would have been achieved. In 

addition, we did not get the impression from reviewing the annual budgets that they were prepared 

consistent with the SBP. 

The SBP’s financial parameters targets were: 

FINANCE AND 
COMMERCIAL 

  
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

  Revenue (G$ Billions) 4.7 3.8 4.4 6.3 6.3 6.6 

  Collection Efficiency 70% 75% 80% 85% 90% 90% 

  Cash Collected  (G$ 
Billions) 

3.3 2.85 3.5 5.35 5.67 5.94 

  O&M Cost (G$ Billions) 9.9 6.2 6.1 6.1 6.2 6.3 

  Depreciation (G$ 
Billions) 

1.5 1.6 1.7 1.8 1.9 2.0 

  O&M Cash Expenses 
(G$ Billions) 

4.6 4.6 4.5 4.3 4.3 4.3 

  Operating Deficit (G$ 
Billions) 

5.2 2.4 1.8 -0.2 -0.1 -0.3 

  Government 
Subvention (G$ Billions) 

1.3 0.25 0.25 0 0 0 

  
Remaining Deficit (G$ 
Billion) 

3.9 2.14 1.55 0 0 0 

 

It was reported that the main facilitator of the SBP is the Capital investment program which had the 
following targets: 

- Improved Level of Service 

- Increased Treated Water Coverage 

- Increased Metered Coverage 

- Increased Coverage (New Customers) 

- Reduce NRW 
Regarding a simpler and clearer tariff structure that should allow for an overall increase of 5% as the 
operating costs of GWI rise, no progress has been made in this regard. In fact, the tariffs approved 
by PUC have not been implemented. 
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The core financial targets set out in the SBP have not been achieved including increases in revenue, 
reduction of costs, increase in metered customers, and reduction Non Revenue Water etc. Based on 
all the information available to us and consultation with the DF and other key managers, none of the 
goals outlined in the SBP has been achieved in a significant way. To date, the SBP has not been 
amended nor has another SBP been prepared. 

The idea of the SBP was well intended and forms part of the company’s requirement to the PUC 
and the IADB. In addition, the BOD set up a Sub-committee to discuss and analyse the progress of 
the key objectives set out in the SBP. Over the last four years there were ten meetings and in 
reviewing the minutes of the meetings, we found that NRW featured the most, yet it remains the 
‘Achilles heel’ of GWI. 

Management’s response:“Management concurs with comments made from (a) through (e) and the Financial 
and Commercial table. The SBP was monitored by a Strategic Committee of the Board and all performance indicators 
were being evaluated.” 

Recommendations 

1) The current SBP should undergo a comprehensive review and changes to reflect the aims 
and objectives which the new BOD intend to implement during the period 2016-2020. 

2) A Sub-committee of the BOD must be tasked with ensuring the SBP objectives form the 
basis of the annual budget and must be monitored quarterly. Deviation from intended 
objectives must be analysed and corrective actions taken so they are achieved. 

3) Like the minutes of the BOD, those of the SBP must be documented and reported to the 
BOD.  
 

9. Water Production vs. Usage and Potential Revenue Loss 

Over the last four years 2012-2015, production of water in all Divisions was as follows: 

Production is measured in cubic meters; that is 1 cubic meter of water is equivalent to 220 imperial 
gallons or 1,000 litres: 

Summary of water production in Guyana 

      

 
2012 2013 2014 2015 Total 

      
Bartica 

           
890,524         821,449         900,263  798,468     3,194,077  

Division 1-Esssequibo Coast     3,890,336      3,856,302      3,601,515  4,785,799    14,083,711  

Div 2-West Dem/West Bank 
   

19,305,394  
   

18,423,843  
   

18,118,271  17,995,859    60,604,508  

East Bank 
   

13,381,410  
   

13,258,708  
   

13,553,890  14,936,443    49,358,994  

East Coast 
   

23,517,947  
   

22,064,792  
   

21,524,569  22,888,239    70,321,000  

Georgetown 
   

27,404,633  
   

28,953,993  
   

26,893,007  22,774,953 
 

 102,368,311  

Linden     5,968,044      5,861,049      5,801,356  5,724,864       21,885,696  
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Div. 4-West Coast Berbice 
   

11,160,446  
   

10,862,728      9,621,482  10,925,095    39,060,649  

Div. 5-East Berbice 
   

21,257,830  
   

21,284,794  
   

20,442,843  21,914,109    78,301,838  

Total production-Cubic meters 
 

126,776,564  
 

125,387,658  
 

120,457,196  122,743,829 495,365,247 

Source of information: Head of Field Services  

We were unable to determine what is the actual water usage billed monthly because the Hi-Affinity 
billing system does not provide the information and this is compounded by the fact that the number 
of unmetered customers is more than those metered. Currently, metered customers numbered about 
84,500 and unmetered 99,000 a total of 183,500. 
 
GWI currently uses tariffs that were approved by the PUC in 2005 and these are classified based on 
rates that were charged by GUYWA and GS&WC, the two entities that were merged to form GWI. 
The tariffs vary for domestic metered customers who are charged $60.90 per cubic meter for 
metered customers in rural areas and urban low and medium customers and $94.5 per cubic meter 
for high-tariffed customers. Metered commercial customers are charged $96.60 whereas unmetered 
domestic and non-domestic customers are charged fixed and variable tariffs based on bands. 
 
We computed actual revenue to volume of water produced and came up with average tariff rates of 
$25 to $31 per cubic meters for the years 2012 to 2015 or an average of $28.14 for the four years.  
 

 
2012 2013 2014 2015  Total   

 
  $    $    $   Unaudited    $  

Actual revenue as per financial 
statements 

    
3,182,111,051  

  
3,331,148,853  

    
3,631,529,899  

   
3,794,464,237  

   
13,939,254,040  

     

      Volume of water in cubic 
meters produced as confirmed 
by the Head of Field Services 

      
126,776,564  

     
125,387,658  

      
120,457,196  

     
122,743,829  

        
495,365,247  

     

Average $ rate per cubic meter 
based on revenue and volume 
produced  25.10 26.57 30.15 30.91 28.14 

 
In the PUC Order #3/2005 page 8 paragraph 29- it was pointed out that the unmetered consumers 
pay on average $25 per day for water whereas the metered ones would pay about three times that 
amount. 
 
The actual tariffs currently in use are significantly higher as reported above. The Head-NRW Unit, 
has computed a very detailed analysis, based on data taken from the Hi-Affinity system, and has 
determined that the weighted average dollar value per cubic meter of water is $78. This higher rate is 
because of the high volume of NRW. We then used $78 as determined by the NRW Unit as the 
weighted average tariff per cubic meter of water to determine the volume actually billed. The 
computation shows that the average volume of billed water based on actual revenue reported.  
 
Volume actually billed using $78 per cubic meter 
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2012 2013 2014 2015  Total   

 
  $    $    $   Unaudited    $  

Actual revenue as per 
financial statements 

    3,182,111,051    3,331,148,853  
    
3,631,529,899  

   
3,794,464,237  

   
13,939,254,040  

     Using a weighted 
average $78 per cubic 
meter as determined by 
the Non-revenue 
Water Unit for 2013 78 78 78 78 78 

      Assumed volume of 
water billed (m3)          40,796,296         42,707,037  

        
46,558,076  

       
48,646,977  

        
178,708,385  

 
If GWI had billable volume of 35% of the actual production over the last four years revenue would 
have been higher by $416M. 
 
Possible revenue using 35% of volume produced  

   

      

 
2012 2013 2014 2015  Total   

 
  $    $    $   Unaudited    $  

Volume of water in cubic 
meters produced  

     
   126,776,564  

  
125,387,658  

   
120,457,196  

  
122,743,829  

    
495,365,247  

      
If GWI had billable 
volume of 35% of 
production which is: 

     

     
44,371,797  

       
43,885,680  

        
42,160,019  

       
42,960,340  

        
173,377,836  

      Using a weighted average 
$78 value per c3 as 
determined by the Non-
revenue Water Unit for 
2013 78 78 78 78 

 

      
Possible revenue 

    
3,461,000,197  

  
3,423,083,063  

    
3,288,481,451  

   
3,350,906,532  

   
13,523,471,243  

      

Actual revenue as per 
financial statements 

    
3,182,111,051  

  
3,331,148,853  

    
3,631,529,899  

   
3,794,464,237  

   
13,939,254,040  

     
 
 

    

 
 
 

Variance (net of lost revenue) 
    
(278,889,146) 

     
(91,934,210) 

      
343,048,448  

     
443,557,705  

        
415,782,797  

 
Further, if billable volume had been 40%, then revenue would have been $1.5B higher than total 
revenue over the last four years 
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Possible revenue using 40% of volume produced  

   

      

 
2012 2013 2014 2015  Total   

 
  $    $    $   Unaudited    $  

Volume of water in cubic 
meters produced as 
confirmed by the Head of 
Field Services 

     
   
126,776,564    125,387,658  

   
120,457,196  

  
122,743,829  

    
495,365,247  

      
If GWI had billable 
volume to 40% of 
production which is: 

     

             
50,710,626  

       
50,155,063  

        
48,182,878  

       
49,097,532  

        
198,146,099  

      Using a weighted average 
$ value per cubic meter as 
determined by the Non-
revenue Water Unit for 
2013 78 78 78 78 78 

      
Possible revenue 

    
3,955,428,797  

  
3,912,094,930  

    
3,758,264,515  

   
3,829,607,465  

   
15,455,395,706  

      

Actual revenue as per 
financial statements 

    
3,182,111,051  

  
3,331,148,853  

    
3,631,529,899  

   
3,794,464,237  

   
13,939,254,040  

     

     
  

Variance (of lost revenue) 
    
(773,317,746) 

   
(580,946,077) 

    
(126,734,616) 

     
(35,143,228) 

    
(1,516,141,666) 

 
Comments 
It is clear that the BOD and managers were not presented with analytical information by the 
DF/MA to better understand the revenue possibilities if billable volume of water had been 5% and 
10% above the average 30% as shown above. GWI has potential to increase revenue but it must 
quickly improve its billing systems, significantly reduce unmetered consumers, and reduce line 
inefficiencies. In addition, the DF/MA needs to work closely with the NRW Unit Manager to 
understand how information from Hi-Affinity can be used to produce analytical information that 
can support and enhance decision making. 
 
Production hours in each Division differ but water is pumped between 8 and 24 hours per day of 
which Georgetown is almost continuous. In 2015, production was reduced as one of the measures 
to reduce non-revenue water but there is no conclusive evidence to prove this. In fact the new CE 
has been publicly stating that GWI is moving towards achieving the targets set by the PUC.  
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10. Billing System and Data Verification  

Management is well aware of the many deficiencies within the system, some of which are as follows:  

 Estimations when meters are not read 

 Duplication of accounts 

 Empty and abundant properties being billed for which receipts will never be received 

 Incorrect tariffs being used 

 No water supplied but bills still issued 

 Incorrect meter readings 

 Missed billing period 

 Illegal connections eventually fixed but charges back dated at current tariffs 
 

The BOD set about to address these problems by engaging in data verification exercises in 2013. 
The Project Manager who oversaw this exercise issued a report on the background and outcome of 
it. A summary of the outcome is as follows: 

The Data Verification Exercise started in February 2013 with GWI staff then an external Project 
Manager was contracted in mid May 2013. The project covered all the Divisions and the core Data 
Verification was completed in July 2014 but was extended to November 2014 to address further 
verifications. 
 
Objectives of the Project: 

1. The database will accurately reflect customer and property information. 
2. Correct database with information about a customer’s service as it exists in the field. 
3. The bills will accurately reflect the customer type and charges. 
4. Increase in revenue collection – at the conclusion of this project the number of active 

customers’ accounts in the divisions will increase resulting in accurate bills and increased 
revenue.  

5. Improved collection efficiency – with the accurate billings and increase revenue, the 
collection efficiency will improve. 

6. Improved customer service - with accurate billings there will be less complaints by 
customers and improved customer service. 

7. Reduction in NRW by reduction of apparent losses via: 

 Identification and update of connections for which no billing is made  

 Identification of illegal connections so that these can be addressed by having the 
service regularized or legal action instituted by GWI.  

 Identification and elimination of duplicated accounts from the database which would 
eliminate unnecessary billings and adjustments. 

 Identification of metered customers in the field currently listed as unmetered in the 
GWI database and update database accordingly. This would improve the revenue 
water amount and reduce the unbilled authorized consumption figures due to 
reduction of unmetered customers on the database. 

 Reduction of billing adjustments due to accurate information in the GWI database. 
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Actual recurring expenditure for the project amounted to $43.7 million whilst capital expenditure 
was budgeted at $1.2 million used to acquired furniture and equipment.  
 
Due to the large number of some categories of records considered invalid, only 71% (126,878) of 
the database of 179,532 customer records were validated as part of the core Data Verification 
Exercise. Management considered this sample verified as acceptable given the size, complexity, 
money expended and time allocated to the project. The remaining 29% or 52,654 records were 
examined later to rectify and make corrections to the database. 
 
The exercise found that the Customer Information System has thousands of records that were not 
reflective of existing customers in the field and vice versa. The primary reasons for those not 
existing in the field but are on the database are: 

 Duplicated accounts and properties that could not be found in the field. 

 Poorly trained staff and turnover of staff responsible for adding records to the system also 
contributed to these problems. 

 There were a large number of accounts relating to abandon buildings on the database.  
 

Based on analysis of the 179,532 accounts checked 19,442 accounts were found to be invalid and 
these consisted of the following categories.  

Abandoned 2,468 

Duplicated 2,124 

Closed 3,987 

Empty Lot 2,178 

No Property 6,099 

Removed 2,586 

Total 19,442 

 

The report also addressed the remaining 160,090 customers after deducting the invalid accounts.  

Focusing on the remaining 160,090 valid accounts on the database, are thousands of records where 
no payments were made prior to 2006 and between the period 2006 to 2013.  
 
This table provides this information by division and years when payments were last made. 
Customers by Division and Last Payment Date 

  Bartica 
Division 

1 
Division 

2 

Division 
3 - 

EBD 

Division 
3 - 

ECD 
Division 
3 - GT 

Division 
3 – 

Linden 
Division 

4 
Division 

5 
Grand 
Total 

No 
Payments 

Pre 2006  187 353 2,261 2,191 5,706 7,755 1,022 885 2,093 22,467 

2006 32 21 36 21 68 175 13 26 66 472 

2007 37 89 137 211 223 349 153 105 332 1,651 
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2008 26 70 135 144 225 400 78 82 279 1,454 

2009 71 73 175 153 376 392 106 102 354 1,816 

2010 61 96 287 275 347 437 175 100 332 2,124 

2011 60 109 257 237 422 723 185 60 433 2,500 

2012 59 157 384 317 536 887 243 147 547 3,291 

2013 195 365 816 608 1,070 1,491 414 410 1,427 6,808 

Cumulative 
Pre 2006 to 

2013 728 1,333 4,488 4,157 8,973 12,609 2,389 1,917 5,851 42,583 

Paying 
customers 
2014 1,208 9,217 20,825 11,670 19,491 20,098 4,166 9,764 21,068 117,507 

Grand 
Total 1,950 10,564 25,327 15,841 28,478 32,721 6,569 11,695 26,945 160,090 

 

The report further stated that there are 22,467 customers that may not have made any payment since 
Hi-Affinity was implemented in 2006. A total of 42,583 customers have not paid prior to 2006 and 
at the end of 2013. The Data Verification project confirmed these customers existed. The largest 
numbers of defaulters are from Georgetown and on the East Coast Demerara.  
 
Of the 160,090 accounts on the database, 26,594 are disconnected accounts on the database. These 
customers may be connected in the field, either by illegal reconnections or a lapse in the 
management mechanism resulting in some of these customers not being updated. This resulted in a 
loss of revenue since these customers are not being billed for water consumed. 
 
Disconnected Customers by Division and Meter Status 

  Metered Unmetered Total 

Bartica 147 277 424 

Division 1 376 857 1,233 

Division 2 1,223 2,883 4,106 

Division 3 - East Bank Demerara 711 2,528 3,239 

Division 3 - East Coast 
Demerara 1,105 2,597 3,702 

Division 3 – Georgetown 3,639 5,077 8,716 

Division 3 – Linden 283 412 695 

Division 4 129 1,166 1,295 

Division 5 1,243 1,941 3,184 

Grand Total 8,856 17,738 26,594 
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At the time of this audit, the customer database in Hi-Affinity remained without any significant 
changes that were recommended in the report. Also, at the time of the audit, the BOD has retained 
the services of a Consultant to review the Billing’s database and to work with the department with a 
view to ensure that over a given time period, the database is sanitised to represent accurately 
customers who are receiving services. This will impact positively on revenue and the company’s 
plans to achieve its 95% billing accuracy. 

 

11. PUC’s Order #2/2013 increase Tariff-impact on revenue 

As reported under ‘7. GWI’s Licence’ above, GWI never implemented the approved tariffs issued 
in 2013 by the PUC. Had management implemented these tariffs, revenue would have been 
significantly higher and would have certainly impacted on the company’s overall performance. This 
is a clear case that the revenue base of the company was not a priority whilst management continues 
to apply for and receive significant subvention from the Government to offset electricity cost. Had 
management implemented the new tariffs, perhaps the subvention may have been much less or not 
needed. A summary of the likely revenue that would have been earned had the new tariffs been 
implemented compared with actual revenue reported is a follows: 

Revenue by 
segments 

No of 
Customers 

2013 

Using new 
tariffs 

2014 

Using new 
tariffs 

2015 

Using new 
tariffs 

Fixed charged  1,046,677,200 1,046,677,200 1,046,677,200 

Water service 
charges 

 4,149,191,038 4,207,053,487 4,387,157,563 

Total 184,478 5,195,868,238 5,253,730,687 5,433,834,763 

Actual revenue  3,331,148,853 3,631,549,899 3,762,742,468 

Additional 
revenue 

 1,864,719,385 1,622,180,788 1,671,092,295 

% of additional 
revenue to actual 

 56% 45% 44% 

Government 
subvention 

 800,511,454     2,470,133,090      1,738,615,541 

Revenue for 2015 was taken from DF’s December’s management report 

This analysis shows that over the last three years, additional revenue of $5,157,992,468 would have 
more than compensate for the Government subvention of $5,009,260,085 by $148,732,383. 
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Comments 

There is no verifiable evidence to confirm why the previous BOD did not implement the PUC 2013 
Order. We understand, without confirmation, the Government then was not in favour of 
increasing the tariffs. 

Recommendations 

1) Implement PUC 2013 Order or seek to revise it if the tariffs are not consistent with the 
BOD plans but increased tariffs are necessary to sustain the company’s objectives and 
performance. 

2) Communicate with the PUC to ensure that the company is fully in compliance with its 
mandates to the Commission. 
 

12. Revenue &Trade receivables 

Receivables balances over the last three years as a % of revenue were: 

TABLE 1 

 2014 2013 2012 

Trade receivables 6,093,664,333 6,008,408,525 7,459,605,948 

Less: provision for bad (3,393,556,121) (4,039,222,312) (4,401,642,849 

Net receivables 2,700,108,212 1,969,186,213 3,057,963,009 

Revenue 3,631,549,899 3,331,148,853 3,182,111,051 

Receivables as a % of 
revenue 

74% 59% 96% 

 

During the audit, the issue of trade receivable was contentious because of the different balances we 
received. We then sought from the Management Accountant (MA) the reconciliation for trade 
receivables and received the following: 

TABLE 2 

 2014 2013 2012 

Opening balance 6,152,579,330 7,551,297,232 7,839,754,793 

Add: revenue 3,631,549,899 3,331,148,853 3,182,111,051 

 9,784,129,229 10,882,446,085 11,021,865,844 

Less: Receipts (3,023,445,715) (2,984,123,954) (3,026,837,413) 

        Bad debts (118,779,670)             0            0     

       :prior year adjustments (634,828,143) (1,101,084,076) (443,731,199) 

 6,007,075,701 6,152,579,330 7,551,297,232 

As per FS 6,093,664,333 6,008,408,525 7,459,605,948 

Differences (86,588,632) 144,170,805 91,691,284 

Source: MA’s reconciliation 

It is very clear from these balances that the financial statements balances are not in agreement with 
the MA’s reconciliation. These are major differences, which the DF must explain. This is an 
indication that the receivable ledger, as the BOD so rightly recognised, was never correct yet there is 
no evidence that they did anything that would have caused these deficiencies to be corrected.  
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The continuous accumulation and adjustments to provision for bad and doubtful debts does not 
make any accounting sense given that management has been ineffective in recovering debts and 
managing the receivable ledger. The company suffered because management, during the audit 
period, did very little to improve collections especially amounts in arrears; develop a strategy to 
improve collections and to sanitise the billing system. Only from November 2015 a Debt Recovery 
Department was set up and to date, we were advised by the Head, it has been able to recover 
significant amounts which were long overdue. 

Except for one instance when the BOD discussed how they intended to address the issue of bad 
debts when they reported under Financial Performance ‘during 2015 the company will look at 
reducing estimated billings and also write off of debts after the data cleansing is concluded’. 
This is an indication that the BOD, while its members would have discussed revenue and 
receivables, has failed to ensure that the receivable data-base was sanitised and balances over one 
year were written off.  

The fact that at December 31, 2014 only $285,974,576 was reported as ‘recoverable’ within one year 
means that the net balance of $2,414,133,636 was potentially not recoverable plus the amount that is 
repeatedly coming forward as provision for bad debts of $3,393,556,121. These are figures from 
schedules presented to us by Finance and Billing departments. 

In addition, the presentation of receivables in the financial statements is not in compliance with IAS 
32, 39, and particularly IFRS 7 which defines receivables as being a financial instrument. In this 
regard, IFRS 7 detailed specific and extensive disclosures for financial assets (receivables) to enable 
users to have a fair assessment of the risks attached to the instrument and the possible consequences 
or impact to the company of those risks if they do materialize. 

We highlight some of the elements of the disclosures as follow: 

(a) Disclosures of credit risk – IFRS 7.36 to 38 
(i) Information on credit quality of financial assets that are past due or impaired. 

Analytical disclosures are required 
(ii) Information on credit quality of financial assets that are neither past, due nor 

impaired.  
 

(b) Qualitative disclosures: 
(i) Risk exposures of the financial instrument 
(ii) Management objectives, policies, and processes for managing those risks 
(iii) Changes from prior period 

 
(c) Quantitative disclosures 
 
The Quantitative disclosures provide information on the extent to which the company is 
exposed to risks, based on information provided internally to the company’s key 
management personnel. These include: 

(i) Summary quantitative data about exposures to the risk at the reporting date 

(ii) Disclosures on credit risk and how the risk are managed  

(iii) Concentration of the risk 
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Comments:  
 
Because of the weaknesses mentioned above management and stakeholders cannot determine, when 
reading the financial statements, the underlying risks associated with receivables including 
recoverability of most of the balances. In addition, we were unable to determine whether the 
amounts disclosed as net receivables are materially correct in the absence of consistent 
reconciliations and aged reports and in the absence of adequate disclosures in the financial 
statements. 
 
Our conclusion is that the receivable balances shown in the financial statements for years 2012-2014 
may be overstated. In addition, no evidence was presented to us to support why provisions for bad 
debts were not written off as bad debts earlier since it is highly unlikely most will ever be recovered. 
 
The previous BOD and CE, along with the DF must take full responsibility for the state of affairs of 
receivables, which at the end of 2014 was 74% of revenue, and the potential effect on the financial 
statements based on the limitations mentioned above. This state of affairs is unacceptable in any 
company especially when it seeks large sums of money as subvention from Government to off-set 
electricity cost. 
 
It is very surprising that the auditors did not recognise some of the deficiencies noted above which 
may have caused them to include a qualifying paragraph in the audit reports over the last three years.  
 
Management’s response 

(a) Management agrees to Table 1 above 
(b) Response to Table 2 is as follow: 

 
“The reconciliation provided by the Management Accountant (MA) at the time of the review was incomplete. 
The auditor has accepted the reconciliation and drawn a conclusion (Auditor’s Comments in paragraph 4, 
page 12 “it is very clear from the balances that the financial statements balances are not in agreement with the 
MA’s reconciliation”) without substantiating the details that may have contributed to the numbers provided. 
Complete reconciliation is now presented.” 
 
Our response: We have reviewed the complete reconciliation provided by the DF (see 
Appendix XVIII) and noted that the amount for Ancillary Billings differed from the 
schedule which was provided to us during the audit (See appendix XIX). 
 

(c) Our comments on disclosure requirement in accordance with IAS 32, 39 and IFRS 7 were 
agreed with by management. 

Recommendations 

1) The BOD should identify one of its members to oversee the Debt Recovery Department. 
2) Sanitise the existing receivable listing. This task had started in 2013 but the findings were 

never implemented. Each Division, must sanitise its own customers’ database and the BOD 
must ensure that this exercise is completed within a given time-say six months. Those 
involved must be independent of the Billing department. 

3) Consider rotation staff in the Billing department at Head Office and Divisions periodically.  
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4) The DF must prepare monthly aged reports of receivables for review by the BOD.  
5) All adjustments must be verified by the Divisions’ managers (or senior staff designated) to 

ensure that they are correctly done and the opportunity must be taken to up-date customers’ 
database if the information is incorrect.   

6) Establish policies to improve recoverability of current balances, not exceeding three months, 
and ensure that the Debt Recovery Department is properly staffed to pursue debts long 
overdue. 

7) Ensure the payment period do not exceed two weeks from billing date. For Key customers, 
receivables should be collected at least quarterly. 

8) Send reminders or include a statement on customers’ bills ‘if payments are not received their 
services will be disconnected’. 

9) Consider once a year incentives for customers who pay on time. 
 

13. Revenue based on audited financial statements and adjustments 
 

 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Metered 1,801,071,131 1,905,643,581 2,277,320,835 1,986,467,050 

Un-metered & 
ancillary 

1,381,039,920 1,425,505,272 1,354,229,064 1,776,275,418 

 3,182,039,920 
 

3,331,148,853 3,631,549,899 3,762,742,468 

*2015 revenue was taken from the billings summary and include Key customers adjusted for 
metered customers billed in January 2016  

Revenue information issued by the Billing Department differs significantly from those reported in 
the financial statements because of adjustments which are done every month. We have reviewed the 
monthly and year to date adjustments for the years under review and found that the adjustments 
were significant as follow: 

TABLE 1 

 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Current year (113,670,437) (31,860,309) (72,745,130) (19,285,960) 

Prior year 
 

(445,048,319) (1,082,008,642) (634,828,143) (948,896257) 

 (558,718,756) (1,113,868,951) (707,573,273) (968,182,217) 

Source: Billing Adjustment summary for each year January to December 

These adjustments represent the net effect of all transactions from each division for each year. 
These balances are debit which means that revenues were overstated each year because of the 
reasons stated below but not limited to these. The credit balances, which were insignificant and 
represent customers’ underpayments, were netted off from the debits. 

 Estimations when meters are not read 

 Duplication of accounts 

 Empty and abundant properties being billed for which receipts will never be received 

 Incorrect tariffs being used 

 No water supplied but bills still issued 
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 Incorrect meter readings 

 Missed billing period 

 Illegal connection eventually fixed but charges back dated at current tariffs 
 

The adjustments are posted monthly to account code 5606–‘Adjustment Previous Year’ in 
ORACLE as the summaries are submitted by the Billing Department. At the end of the year, further 
adjustments are made for bills issued in one accounting period but relate to the prior period mainly 
for the month of January.  

We were able to verify that the current year adjustments were included in revenue for the current 
year but the prior years were charged to expenses described as impaired receivables in 2014 and bad 
debts write off. A reconciliation of revenue revealed that there are unaccounted differences. Please 
see Appendix II 

In response to the above are as follows: 
 
“The revenue reconciliation prepared in Appendix 4 was done in a crude form; it has not taken all of the 
parameter of how billings and adjustments are treated in the financial statements. The auditor highlighted 
differences between billing and adjustments compared with the financial statements. Refer to table 2 below and 
table 3, (a) through (d) for the reconciliation for revenue and adjustments respectively.” 
 
We have reviewed the DF’s adjustments for the year 2012 which was done monthly and 
noted the net effect of the monthly adjustments was $517,732,735. This was arrived at by 
taking the current month’s balance and deducting the prior month’s balance throughout the 
year. Our source of information is attached (see appendix XX for adjustments summary for 
2012 by Division). Regardless, both were supposed to give the same reconciled balance. 
DF’s reconciled balance was $517,732,735 and Billing Department reconciled balance was 
$558,718,756. 

When we asked the DF why the prior year adjustments were not done by restating prior year 
financial statements, he explained that the amounts were expensed in current year. We pointed out 
to him that, in our opinion, prior years’ adjustments had to be addressed in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard 8- Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors as follows: 

Recognition, accounting treatment and disclosures of prior period error 

IAS 8.42 

 Subject to paragraph 43, an entity shall correct material prior period error retrospectively in the first 
set of financial statements authorized for issue after their discovery by: 

a) restating the comparative amounts for the prior period(s) presented in which the error 
occurred; or 

b) If the error occurred before the earliest prior period presented restating the opening balances 
of assets, liabilities and equity for the earliest prior period presented. 

IAS 8.46 

Limitations on retrospective restatement 
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The correction of a prior period error is excluded from profit of loss for the period in which the 
error is discovered. Any information presented about prior periods, including any historical 
summaries of financial data, is restated at far back as is practicable. 

IAS 8.49 

Disclosure of prior period errors 

In applying paragraph 42, an entity shall disclose the following: 

a) the nature of the prior period error; 
b) for each prior period presented, to the extent practicable, the amount of the correction: 

 
I. for each financial statement line item affected; and 

II. if IAS 33 applies to the entity, for basic and diluted earnings per share; 
 

c) the amount of the correction at the beginning of the earliest prior period presented; and, 
d) If retrospective restatement is impracticable for a particular prior period, the circumstances 

that led to the existence of that condition and a description of how and from when the 
error has corrected. 

Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures. 

In fact, GWI’s policy on revenue states- turnover comprises billed sales of water and sewer services 
to customers. Tariffs payable by customers are determined by reference to the Company’s Licence. 
Income is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Income is reduced 
for estimated invoices by issuance of adjustments as appropriate.  

This policy seems to contradictory what is actually happening as the DF did not follow the last 
sentence. 

With regards to the adjustments posted through account ‘5606’ in the general ledger, the amounts 
were charged as follow: 

 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Impaired 
receivables 

(113,670,437) (31,860,309) (72,745,130) (19,285,960) 

Bad debts 
written off 
 

(445,048,319) (1,082,008,642) (634,828,143) (948,896257) 

 (558,718,756) (1,113,868,951) (707,573,273) (968,182,217) 

 

A summary of adjustments made over the last four years are as follow: 

  Current Year  Prior year Charged as exp. Difference  

        $M        $M    $M $M 

2012      (113,670,437)  (445,048,319)      (494,131,151)     (49,082,832)  

2013       (31,860,309)          (1,082,008,642)      (399,121,156)      (682,887,486) 
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2014       (72,745,130)  (634,828,143)       (516,048,473)    *(118,779,670) 

2015       (19,285,960)  (948,896,257)          draft FS not available 

Source of information: Adjustment Summary-Billing Department 
*This amount was written off as bad debts in the profit and loss statement in 2014. 

Had these adjustments been correctly treated in accordance with the reporting standard, the income 
statements would have been different from the audited financial statements. 

In our discussions with the Billing Manager (BM), she has advised us that the number and value of 
bills as extracted from Hi-Affinity monthly are forwarded to the Finance Department along with 
adjustments. This information is then posted to ORACLE-the accounting software. 

Adjustments to current and prior years billings are made based on customers querying their bills and 
GWI’s meter readers and billing staff identifying prior months’ corrections. Daily corrections are 
made in each Division whenever meter readings are corrected, duplication identified or incorrect 
tariffs corrected and whenever customers query their bills. These corrections are effected 
immediately in Hi-Affinity and printed. It is these adjustments which are summarised and sent to the 
Finance Department for posting to the ORACLE software.  

We were advised by the Customer Relations & Commercial Services Manager (CR&CSM), BM, DF 
and other managers that the billing database needs to be sanitised because there are over 30,000 
incorrect transactions caused by some of the reasons listed above. Several attempts were made in the 
past and as late as in 2013/2014 to sanitise the database and management confirmed that this is an 
ongoing exercise. We reported on this under 10 above. 

These adjustments were posted in the general ledger account code 5606 described as ‘adjustments 
previous years’. The trial balance available to us over the last four years 2012-2015 showed the 
following net debit balances under ‘adjustments previous years’. 
 
    $M 
2012    1,138,793,876 -$494,131,151 in P&L: difference $644,662,725 
2013      399,122,439 - profit & loss as expense 
2014      516,048,473 - profit & loss as expense 
2015      948,896,257 - no FS to date 
 
These balances do not match the net amounts in the adjustment reports submitted by the Billing 
Department and we are unsure how the difference in 2012 was accounted for. 
 
Management’s comments: ‘difference of $644,662,725 was prior year adjustment posted to the earliest year at the time 
of the financial statement preparation. The financial year 2012 was the most recent year which was opened in Oracle 
general ledger and the error was posted in that period’  
 
Our responses is that the amount should have been adjusted to the earliest prior period-2011 
 
Management’s comments: ‘the receivable analysis was based on a report generated from the Hi Affinity billing software 
in January 2015 and not as of December 31, 2014 which may have contributed to the difference between the numbers 
noted’ 
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‘it is acknowledged that there have been movements of $118,779,670 for bad debts written off and $516,779,670 
written off as prior year adjustments’ 
‘the presentation in accordance with IAS 32,38 and IFRS 7 will be presented as far as practicable in the 2015 
financial statements as there are limitations that inhibited and the quality and types of reports that are generated from 
the Hi Affinity software’ 
 
In addition, we noted that receivables account code 1401 and provision for bad debts code 1402 as 
shown in the trial balance when compared with the financial statements had differences as follow: 
 
    Trial balance  Financial  Difference 
       Statements  

2012 
Receivables   6,814,943,223  7,459,605,948  644,662,725 
Provision for bad debt            (4,401,642,849)            (4,401,642,849)          - 
2013    there was no difference 

2014    6,093,664,333  6,093,664,333          - 
Provision for bad debt            (4,039,222,313)  (3,393,556,121)           *(645,666,191) 

 
The 2014 difference was treated as other income in the profit and loss. This amount was taken from 
trade receivable aged listing in a very ingenious way as shown below.  
 
The 2014 financial statements- statement of profit and loss-page 5 reported ‘Reduction in the 
Provision for Bad Debts’ of $645,666,191. This balance was arrived at using an aged receivable 
analysis which showed balances owed by customers from all Divisions. The summary of balances by 
age is as follows: 

Divisions Not due at 
31/12/2014 

0-365 days 366-730 
days 

731-1080 
days 

1081 days 
and above 

Total 

Total 285,974,576 2,591,774,964 819,713,245 279,378,982 2,126,221,522 6,103,063,288 

Bad debts 
provision % 
written back 

 25% 50% 75% 100%  

Value Nil 647,943,741 409,856,622 209,534,237 2,126,221,522 3,393,556,122 

Prov. In GL 
1.1.2014 

 556,604,126 362,220,810 572,290,335 2,548,107,042 4,039,222,313 

Increase/ 

(decrease) 

 (91,339,615) (47,635,812) 362,756,098 421,885,520 645,666,191 

 

 We were unable to verify the basis of how the aging was arrived at. 

 Whether the amount of $645,666,191 was discussed with the BOD and approved to be 
recognised as ‘Reduction in the Provision for Bad Debts’ at a time when it is almost certain 
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that these amounts would not be recovered.  This appears to be window dressing of the 
financial statements. 

 Who approved the write back of ‘provision for bad debts’? 

 Receivable balance at December 31, 2014 in the trial balance was $6,093,664,333 and not 
$6,103,063,288 as is reported in the aged analysis, a difference of $9,398,955. Again, 
receivables balance in the reconciliation provided by the MA was $6,007,075,701. So, clearly, 
there seems to be a lot of issues with receivables’ balances. Please see appendix III&IV 
for both the aged listing and receivable reconciliation. 

 The provision for bad debts at January 1, 2014 remained unchanged during 2014 as per the 
trial balance. The only movement during the year was $118,779,670 which was the difference 
between the prior year adjustment and the amount of $516,048,473 which was written off as 
impaired receivables in the statement of profit and loss.  

 Receivables presentation and reporting have not been in compliant with IAS 32, 38 and 
IFRS 7. 

Management’s response: 

“The basis of arriving at the provision for bad debts of $645,666,191 have been done in earlier reported periods in 
2007 and 2008. The quality of the customer database, the design of the system and the lack of acceptable reports 
inhibits from making a more realistic and prudent provision that would reflect the risk profile of the trade receivables 
portfolio. To note a few limitations that would impede a more acceptable methodology of arriving at write off and 
provisioning; pertaining to aging of receivables is that the design of the system applies all payments to the oldest balance 
at all times instead of allocating to intended invoice(s) and the volume and value of high estimated billings absorbed 
overtime in the trade receivables and are only discovered overtime and adjusted and the level of collections efficiency, 
amongst other limitations. 

The creation of the provision (general) for bad debts has been debited to the profit and loss accounts over time and it is 
only logical that once there is a decrease in provision the amount be recognised as other income. Attempts would be 
made to provide for bad and doubtful debts on a specific basis based on a risk profile of customers or groups. 

As it relates to the application of determining to write back the provision the methodology was based on percentages 
used in 2007 and 2008 audited financial statements prepared by a reputable Audit firm during a consultancy in 
2007-2008. I used the methodology because of the limitation of the Hi Affinity billing software.”  

In fact, considering that management has always struggled to collect outstanding balances and that a 
significant portion may be incorrect because of a highly flawed receivable ledger, receivables over 
365 days should have been written off as bad debts a long time ago. If bad debts are subsequently 
recovered then the amounts should be treated as other income just as overstatement of revenue is 
reported monthly as prior year adjustments.    

At the time of our audit, the new BOD has set up a Debt Recovery Department and from 
November 2015 to March 2016 a significant amount of receivables in arrears has been reported as 
being recovered from a balance of over $6B. But there are still significant balances that have been 
coming forward which would not be recovered and should be written off as bad debts.  

In reviewing the DF’s financial reports for the month of December 2012 to 2015, the reporting 
information and to some extent the format has not changed in a meaningful way. Perhaps the BOD 
did not request more details including segmental/divisional reporting nor have they requested 
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financial ratio analysis which are used to measure and evaluate the company performance such as its 
efficiency, liquidity, current ratios etc.  

The first paragraph of the report mentioned about the SBP as follows: 

‘The Financial Year 2015 represents the fourth year implementation of the company’s Strategic Business Plan 2012-
2016 (SBP). For the month of December 2015, the company made an operating loss of G$131M and a profit of 
G$1.08B after a subvention of G$1.21B was allocated by the Ministry of Finance to the Guyana Power & Light 
Inc. The subvention is recognized as other income and impacted positively on the financial results of the 
company. The operating loss for the year before electricity subvention of G$1.74Bln was G$2.21B and a loss of 
G$472M after subvention. 

What the opening paragraph did not report is that the company’s performance against the SBP’s 
projection; it only reported against budget for the year. Had the SBP projected revenue been 
matched against the actual, the variance would have been less by $2.5B plus. It is clear management 
had abandoned the SBP and instead prepared annual budgets but the DF superficially mentioned 
the SBP in his report.  

Management’s response: 

“ The reports reviewed are standard reports generated by Oracle Business Suites Financial Modules which is used to 
prepare management accounts and have significantly being improved compared to the no base period of 2012. There are 
detailed reports at company, divisional and departmental levels which are available to review. Like any other 
organization, other reports are also requested on an ‘ad hoc basis’.” 

GWI continues to have many problems with revenue generation and collection of outstanding 
customers’ balances. Some of the reasons advanced were: 

a) Company is not managed with a view to breakeven at a minimum. 
b) All metered customers may not be included in the data base. 
c) Field study was done to determine whether data base is accurate but information gathered 

was not used to adjust/correct data base. 
d) Unmetered customers are still higher (54%) than metered customers even though SBP plan 

had targeted 100% by 2015. 
e) The Billing Manager estimate that the current billing list includes duplications of customers 

the number of which cannot be determined, customers who no longer live at the address but 
are issued with bills monthly, customers who requested services but have not used it and are 
being billed fixed amounts since their meters are not read. 

f) Limited number of meter readers thirty four (34) in all currently. 
 

The financial statements for 2014 reported on page 4 that ‘the Board of Directors approved these 
financial statements for issue on 17 December, 2015’. We verified the BOD’s minutes of December 
17, 2015 and noted that the directors reported ‘the financial statements were approved and signed 
off and the company received a clean opinion’.  

What we are uncertain about is whether the directors had the benefit of thoroughly reviewing and 
questing the balances and presentation of the financial statements which in our opinion have severe 
limitations as reported below under ‘Financial Statements’. The current Chairman explained to us 
that the BOD relied on the DF to ensure that the financial statements were in order. 
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14. Non-Revenue Water  
 

NRW has been an ongoing issue with GWI to the extent management has set about to reduce the 

percentage since incorporation. Included in the PUC Order 3/2005 was ‘the percentage of non- 

revenue water is alarming and much effort must be put in place to arrest the slide’.  

Based on information available and discussions with the Head-NRW Unit, NRW is still very high-

close to 70% of actual production. There are many reasons for this including: 

 -leakages in water mains and home connections 

 -illegal connections 

 -legal connections but not billed 

-over 50% of customers still not metered resulting fixed billings   

 -mains connected to the water system not identified and therefore water not accounted for 

 -main valves not recording water passing through them correctly  

Over the last four years, the ED-CIP Department have been reporting significant improvements to 

existing transmission and distributions mains. ED-CIPD informed us that 35,223 meters have been 

installed over the last four years yet there has been no significant change to the metered customers 

in the billing system. The BM could not have confirmed whether the additional metered customers 

as reported by the ED-CIPD have been reported for inclusion in the Hi-Affinity system but she is 

certain that the numbers have not increased significantly. We were unable to verify evidence that 

indeed 35,000 new meters have been installed  

 
 
 

The following are extracts from the IPID’s report for 2014 issued in April 2015. 
 
‘The 2014, Capital Investment Programme focussed on  the state of Non-Revenue Water and the 
consolidation of all efforts and investments while being consistent with goals set out in the Poverty 
Reduction Strategy Paper (PRSP), Millennium Development Goals (MDG) and Low Carbon 
Development Strategy (LCDS). Additionally, considerations were made to the objectives set out in 
the five (5) years Strategic Business Plan’ 
 
In reviewing the Strategic Planning Sub-committee’s minutes of January 4, 2013 we extracted the 

following, which gives an idea of how the Committee was addressing the company’s most pressing 

issue-NRW. The Committee included four (4) directors including the Chairman, ED and most 

managers. 

‘Non-Revenue Water (NRW) 

‘It was noted that there is no agreement in the company on the figure for NRW. A team 

tried to address the matter but got nowhere. A task team is now set up with a TOR (copy 

circulated at meeting) to address this matter. A report will be submitted by month end. It 

Year 2012 2013 2014 2015 Totals 

Grand Total 1,738 7,072 19,827 6,586 35,223 
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was explained  that part of the problem in calculating the figure is the information available 

in Hi-Affinity’ 

 ‘Concern was raised that representation would have been made by the utility to cabinet and 

 donors on the NRW figure and that it was troubling to now hear that there is no settled 

 position on the matter. It was mentioned that the company is in possession of much more 

 information now than ever before and that a fresh look can be taken at NRW. It was noted 

 that the inconsistencies have been around for a while but it is time that the numbers be 

 reviewed to come up with a realistic figure. It was agreed that at the next meeting the CE’s 

 report on this matter will be presented. Full establishment of the M&E Unit was noted as 

 critical to the implementation of this plan’ 

‘It was noted that the formula used to calculate the baseline figure for the strategic plan 

should  also be used in calculating the 2012 figure for NRW. It was explained that the 

previous calculations for NRW included an estimate for consumption by unmetered 

customers. It was also explained that with the TOR in place and a fresh look at this matter 

an explanation can be provided to stakeholders at all levels about the changes in 

computation and that a more superior methodology was used’ 

 ‘It was suggested that with the adoption of the new methodology the numbers 

 submitted over the last 5 (five) years should be re-examined. It was further suggested 

 that the Matrix be amended to include the actual figures for 2012’ 

‘Inaccurate Accounts – physical verification will begin in Georgetown and Division 2 and 

that the staff in the Division will be used to do this. It was indicated that there needs to be a 

section  of the company identified for accounts maintenance. The challenge seems to be 

verifying and  maintaining accounts. It was suggested that this exercise should be 

completed this year’. 

In reviewing their minutes of May 20, 2014, which is over a year later, we extracted the following, 

which gives an idea of how the Committee continued to address the issue. Again the Committee 

included four (4) directors including the Chairman, ED and most managers. 

‘Presentation on GWI Measures to tackle Non Revenue Water’ 

The IWA and AWWA definition of NRW was explained including a breakdown of each 

component. With respect to commercial losses a member asked that the indicators be ranked 

in order of importance. It was noted that the technical losses may be easier to identify and 

assess. It was explained that theft and billing adjustments are mostly responsible for 

commercial losses. The challenges faced in estimating NRW were highlighted including data 

entry errors in inputting production figures and accurately calculating water billed. A 

member noted that challenges present opportunities that can lead to strategic interventions 

and queried whether the presentation will address the interventions needed. It was explained 

that getting data which is verifiable is another challenge and that the Linden consultancy 

presented opportunities to address NRW. A member also queried whether the presentation 

will address NRW as a whole for the company or for the purposes of the strategic plan 

target. It was explained that NRW is becoming the heart of the utility and will be 
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transitioned to the divisional level. The establishment of the NRW committee is the start of 

the process. It was suggested that after the challenges were established that a SWAT should 

have been done to determine the strategic way forward. It was explained that the strategic 

interventions are in the latter part of the presentation and include universal metering, DMA 

installations and network modelling. It was further explained that the current focus of the 

Committee is to establish a baseline by the end of July, since the SBP has an estimate of 

69%. Proposed solutions were presented to address some of the challenges with NRW. With 

respect to Data Entry Flow Chart, the presentation highlighted a two-tier level of validation 

for information. A member queried the need for a second level of validation. It was 

explained that the M&E Unit will check the information being inputted and raise concerns 

with the relevant Manager. Concern was raised that this maybe too much layering and that 

accountability should be upheld. It was suggested that different reports should be designed 

for different levels of managers. The presentation also highlighted the NRW reduction 

measures and the action plan from 2014 to 2016. It was agreed that performance indicators 

should be developed so that there is a tool to measure the implementation of the plan. A 

member suggested that the risks should also be assessed. 

In reviewing their minutes of January 20, 2015, another year later, we extracted the following,  

‘A presentation was made highlighting the 2013 baseline of 70% and the methodology used 

to calculate NRW. 2014 water balance is still to be completed since all the data is not 

available. It was noted that the monitoring of unmetered customers revealed that their 

consumption  averages 28m3 per month. Based on the numbers for 2014 so far it 

appears that NRW  may be down to 65%. Computation used to arrive at the baseline 

followed the methodology used by the Consultant in Linden. A plan has to be developed 

to address NRW to bring it down to 55% by 2016 by increments of 5% each year. It 

was noted that from the presentation that the technical losses were not as high as expected, 

losses are mostly on  service connections as a result of poor contractors, supervision 

or materials. A member noted that reduction in NRW should decrease incrementally each 

year as systems improve and  more work is done. It was further noted that GWI is capable 

on the engineering side and that more attention should be focused on the non-technical side. 

It was mentioned that the IDB Linden consultancy contained a report on Customer Services 

making recommendations on  institutional strengthening, training and the use of GIS. It was 

noted that the position of Director of Customer Services has been vacant for some time and 

this should be addressed. It was further noted that future investments should concentrate on 

the non-technical in order to further address NRW. Committee asked that a soft copy of the 

presentation be circulated to the Board.’ 

It is very clear that the BOD and management were still struggling to determine a way forward to 

address NRW although four years earlier it was included in the SBP how it would be  addressed. 

Comments 
 
We understand that GWI has retained a consultant who is carrying out studies on how to address 
NRW, particularly in reducing wastages through the mains and locating mains that are connected to 
the system but have not been previously identified. With GWI’s in-house engineers and the NRW 
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Department in place, we believe a plan must now be implemented and acted on to reduce NRW to 
achieve the desired reductions over the next five years.   
 
Recommendations 

1) It is imperative that the new BOD take steps to reduce NRW and to ensure that over the 
next five years to 2020, it is reduced from 70% or thereabout to 45% as Mr Ramchand Jailall 
emphasised to us. This would require a comprehensive plan which should be reviewed 
monthly; any positive change must be supported by verifiable evidence so that the BOD can 
confirm the reduction.    

2) Divisions with high NRW must be given priority to fix their problems such as line losses and 
the misuse of water by those not metered etc. 

3) Ensure that the customers are metered at least to 80% of a sanitised data base of customers 
in the next few years. 

4) Replace aged pipes, some of which may be very old and leaking. 
5) Leakages must be minimised which is an important way to identify and account for non-

revenue water. 
6) Identify main lines which have not been previously identified. 
7) Ensure that the customers are metered at least to 80% of a sanitised data base of customers 

in the next few years 
8) DF to work along with Manager-NRW to obtain details of analysis that has prepared using 

Hi-Affinity data. In addition, DF should present a special report on the effect of the 
decrease in NRW on the financial performance of the company quarterly. 

 

15. Georgetown Sanitation Improvement Programme (GSIP)    
 
The works have been completed on the rehabilitation of the sewer system in Georgetown and the 

distribution of medication for the reduction of diseases related to poor sanitation continued in 2015. 

The progress under the GSIP in 2014 was 100% completed with a disbursement of $521.8M. This 

resulted in improvement in the performance of the Georgetown sewer system after the works have 

been completed.   

16. Hinterland 

The Hinterland program has been undertaken to the value of $190M which has resulted in the 

increase in the Hinterland coverage to 84% of the population. Works were completed in Waikerabi, 

Haimakabra, Cabrora and Santa Rosa- Region 1, Arau and Kaikan – Region 7, Taruka and 

Kanapang- Region 8 and Aishalton, St Ignatius, Kathur and Pipang – Region 9.  Works are 

continuing in Region 1 at Mabaruma, Port Kaituma and Matthew’s Ridge so as to improve the 

service being provided to the customers. Also works are planned for the drilling of a new well at 

Culvert City, Region 9 so as to improve the capacity of Lethem to provide service to the new 

housing areas.  
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It should be noted that water produced in the Hinterland has not been billed since 2008. We were 

unable to determine who made the decision to stop the billing except for Key Customers-

Government Agencies who are billed ‘on average’ for billing purposes. 

Management’s response – “GWI is advancing a plan to improve the service being provided in the Hinterland 

communities first and has a plan to commence billing in the small towns, including Government once the services 

provided are deemed satisfactory.” 

Recommendation 

1) The BOD need to consider a special tariff for the Hinterland to offset operational costs. 
Customers having to pay for the service may very well prevent its misuse.  
 

17. Linden Water Treatment Plants & Linden Water Supply Rehab 
(LWSRP) 

 
The construction of two new Water Treatment Plants (WTPs) was completed and handed over in 

March 2015.  The preparation of the Dakoura Creek Watershed Management Plan is ongoing and 

continued in 2015. These Plants are expected to last for 40-50 years once they are not affected by 

construction defects. 

There are currently five (5) aged WTPs-Amelia Ward, Linden Power Company, Wisroc, West 
Watooka and Mackenzie; three (3) are being retained plus the two (2) new ones until such time when 
all the distribution systems are remedied of their existing defects to significantly reduce NRW.   

NRW in Linden is due to leakages, unmetered customers, illegal connection and unknown water 

mains laid by SIMAP in the past, damaged and isolated mains which cannot be located because of 

sand based conditions. 

We visited Linden to verify progress on the two Water Treatment Plants (WTPs) which were 

constructed at a total cost of US$12.3M. The contract to construct these new Plants was awarded to 
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UEM Inc. a Trinidad based company via competitive bidding in 2012. The supervising consultant 

appointed was Egis EAU of France. The design of the Plants was done by HYDEA Srl of Italy. 
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New infrastructure at Amelia’s Ward WTP 

With the construction of these two WTP, it was expected they will service the entire Linden while 

the existing McKenzie and West Watooka WTPs will be used as back-ups. In addition, the overall 

intention was to reduce the operating cost associated with the treatment of surface water from the 

Demerara River consistent with the World Health Organisation standard. The Plants were 

completed in March 2015 and are now in the defects liability period until March 2016 which we 

understand has since been extended. 

We understand that all deviations from the original designs were approved by GWI after 

recommendations from the supervising Consultant, Egis Eau/SRKN Consortium and also received 

a no objection from IDB who has funded the project.  

At the time of our visit, the South Amelia’ Ward Plant was working but the Wisroc Plant was still 

under testing. Before the construction of these Plants, Linden was serviced by five treatment plants 

and one booster station and these were intended to be decommissioned once the new plants 

become operational, while two plants (McKenzie and West Watooka) would have been maintained 

as backups. 
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Based on Mr Jailall, ED-IPID, who is an engineer by profession, it appears that the designs for the 

Plants had issues/shortcomings from the inception. These issues  were also identified and reported 

on by the contracting engineers, UEM Inc. in a detailed letter dated January 3, 2013, a copy of which 

is attached at Appendix V. The Consulting Engineers responded to the report on June 13, 2013, 

which is also attached as Appendix VI. The Consulting Engineers did not support some of the 

critical findings identified by the contractor and concluded that the HYDEA’s designs are adequate 

and should be followed.  

We do not possess the necessary engineering skills to draw conclusion from these reports; however, 

the ED-IPID issued a report on October 12, 2015 which highlighted the weaknesses and possible 

remedies except that the report did not quantify the likely cost to GWI to carry out the remedial 

works. 

The ED in his December 2015 report to the BOD, stated ‘that the Linden Water Supply 

Rehabilitation Programme has resulted in the construction of two (2) new WTP, transmission and 

distribution mains.  However, GWI is currently experiencing several challenges with the water 

supply systems in ensuring continuous delivery of service to all customers as a result of inefficient 

performance of the new treatment plants and high water losses within the system.  GWI has 

continuously requested the support and patience of the Linden community with an undertaking to 

improve the service and address defects on the plants. At present, GWI is advancing a leakage 

reduction program and mobilising some Engineers with labour, tools and equipment to explore all 

areas so as to repair leaks and decommission old mains that may be causing significant losses within 

the system in order to address the distribution system challenges.  In addition, the defective filter 

media is expected to be replaced by the end of February 2016 along with the installation of a 

geotextile membrane to improve the performance of the filter. This was one of the major 

weaknesses identified by the contractor which the consulting engineers advised that there was no 

need to modify the design. 

In addition to the foregoing, we physically visited the Plants and noted that the one at Wisroc had 

remedial structural works done. The background to this was that GWI’s requested the Guyana 

Association of Professional Engineers to serve as adjudicator regarding faulty concrete that was 

poured by the contractor. Excerpt from the Adjudicator’s report:  

The Issues ‘concrete poured on March 7 2014 have defects in the form of honeycomb, cold joints and 

cracks. The consultant and contractor initially discussed the repairs of the concrete and the contractor 

was asked to submit a method statement. This was submitted. The consultant subsequently issued 

instructions to the contractor to demolish the walls. They claimed that the suspect that the defects at 

the joints went through the thickness of the wall and as such repairs cannot guarantee the integrity of 

the structure on a long term basis. It was also claimed by the consultant that the proposed method of 

repairs were not applicable because of the extent of the defects.     

The contractor is claiming that since the concrete reached the required strength they should be allowed 

to carry the repairs as originally discussed. They are contending that the instruction to demolish the 

works was based on the suspicions of the consultant rather than any engineering approach and 
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analysis. The consultant claimed that their decision to demolish was not based on suspicions but 

rather on observations.  

Cracks were observed on opposite faces of the walls at the same depth. 

The contractor referred to the relevant clauses in the contract which allows for repairs to the concrete 

rather than demolition.  

The consultant expressed concerns during the pouring of concrete on 7 March 2014 when the batching 

plant broke down and also when the line pump malfunctioned. The consultant contends that the 

extent of the defects is such that the 50 years expected life of the structure cannot be guaranteed if 

repairs are carried out. There are concerns that the surface treatment could later develop small cracks 

which would leak, thereby negating the repairs. The depths of the defects observed from the chipping of 

the concrete did not take into consideration the actual depths that would be required to get the 

patching materials beyond the reinforcement.  The consultant referred studies done in the North 

America and Europe showing that 50% of all repaired concrete fails within the first five years.  

The consultant reported a much larger area of concrete with defects as compared to that reported by the 

contractor. 

Actions taken by the Adjudicator 

Contract between parties was reviewed. Particular attention was paid to the technical issues. A 

meeting was held between the parties and the adjudicator; after extensive discussions it was decided 

that alternative corrective methods should be considered. 

Decisions taken: 

1) An additional layer of concrete is to be placed on the inner and outer faces of the walls affected 
2) This layer of concrete is to be 150mm thick 
3) The concrete for the additional layer must be of the same mix design the original wall 
4) The additional layer of concrete should extend to a minimum of 200mm into the second lift 
5) The reinforcement and other construction details should be agreed upon between the parties  
6) Consideration should be given to increasing the overall height of the reservoir in order to 

maintain the same capacity as the original design  
7) The cost of these works is to be borne by the contractor 

 
During our visit, we noticed the storage tank walls have what looks like seepages/sweating of the 

outer walls. See pictures below. The ED who accompanied us, explained that these seepages will 

stop in due time as the concrete matures. We are not sure whether these seepages/sweating would 

have a long term impact on these walls. We were informed that the BOD and management are 

looking at the issues which are affecting these Plants to ensure that GWI takes them over 

structurally sound before the end of the defects liability period.  
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Seepage/sweating of the outer walls 

The issue of fixing the NRW in Linden is challenging because of the following: 

a) The area is sand terrain, therefore leaks cannot be easily identified; 
b)  The mains have been laid by several organisations including SIMMAP, Basic Need Trust 

Fund and there are no drawings to identify where they were laid. This makes it difficult to 
determine whether they are affected by leakages, broken, damaged or completely abandoned 
resulting in loss of water and pressure; 

c) The terrain is undulating and this compounds the points at 1 & 2. 
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Comments 

The Government of Guyana through loans from the IADB have invested over US$12M to 

construct these Plants with a view to significantly improve the water supply and distribution systems 

in Linden. It seems at this stage that the Plants and distribution systems are not fully operational 

because of several defects and existing problems with the entire water distribution systems. 

Currently, another contractor has been engaged to identify and provide recommendations on how to 

improve the distribution systems with a view to significantly reduce NRW.  

Because of the issues reported above, the existing five water treatment plants and wells, some of 

which were to have been de-commissioned because of age, will continue to be used at high costs.  

Management’s response: 

“The two new plants have been designed to provide a combined supply of 10,000 m3 of treated water per day. At 

present the existing demand in the entire Linden is around 16,000 m3 per day. This requires the other WTPs to be 

in operation to provide the additional demand. A non-revenue water consultant has been engaged by GWI to provide 

assistance with the objective of reducing wastages/losses so that the demand can be reduced. Based on the outcome of 

this consultancy, a decision will be made on the decommissioning of other plants.” 

“The replacement filter media has been sourced and is presently in the country. GWI has approved a modified 

filtration system to be installed and the replacement media will be installed upon completion of the modification to the 

filters.” 

“...it mentions that seepage/sweating were observed on the outer walls of the Wisroc tank. Inspections were undertaken 

in April 2016 and a significant lower number of sweats were observed but not to the level that it can be measured. 

This tank is continuously being monitored as there is an extended warranty of 6 years to the defects liability period and 

a performance bond has been provided for this warranty covering the total value of the reservoir.” 

Recommendations   

Because we do not have engineers’ services at our disposal, we offer the following limited 

recommendations: 

1) BOD must ensure that the two Water Treatment Plants are structurally sound and fully 
operational before being hand over. 

2) The BOD should seek legal advice on how they should proceed based on the terms and 
conditions of the contract as defects are still being addressed even after the defects liability 
period has ended and now extended. Failure to protect the interest of GWI may cost the 
company later. 
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18. Contracts 
 

During the period under review, the volume and value of minor and major contracts issued were: 

     Minor    Major     

    Volume Value  Volume Value 

        $M      $M 

________________________________________________________________________ 

2012       228    452  38  5,894 

2013       240    492  36  1,271 

2014       352    746  60  1,827  

Total       820    1,690  134  8,992  

Source of information: Procurement Director 

A sample of contractors was selected for the period under review and the volume and value of 
contracts awarded to them were:- 

     Minor    Major     

    Volume Value  Volume Value 

        $M      $M 

________________________________________________________________________ 

S. Jagmohan   3  31     12  2,182 

% of total stated above 0.37  1.83  8.96  24. 

R. Kissoon   33  64.80     13  174.60 

% of total stated above 4.02  3.83  9.70  2 

N. Lachman     0  0  6  205.40 

% of total stated above 0  0  4.48  2.2 

A. Chowramootoo  1  2.29  14  360.90 
 

% of total stated above 0  0  10.45  4.0 

Faldhari Singh  3  8.03  7  97.44 

% of total stated above 0.37  0.48  5.22  1.0 

Source of information: Procurement Department – Contract Register 
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Our primary objectives were to determine whether contracts were issued in accordance with Tender 
Board Rules, National Procurement Act No.8 of 2003, and all other rules and policies governing the 
award of contracts. 

Samples of contracts issued for the period under review were selected from the ‘Project Tracker 
Workbook’ which is maintained in EXCEL by the Procurement Department (PD). Additional 
information on contracts examined was requested from the Capital Investment and Planning 
Department (CI&PD or the IPID both refer to the same department). 

For minor contracts, copies of the contracts are maintained by the PD and files are also maintained 
by the CI&PD which show the progress of work, correspondences with contractors and valuation 
of work done. Files are maintained by both the PD and CI&PD for major contracts; the PD’s files 
include details such as the advertisement for the contracts, evaluation reports and award of 
contracts. The CI&PD’s files include progress of work, correspondences between GWI and 
contractors and evaluation of work done. 

All minor contracts are awarded internally in accordance with Tender Board Rules which clearly 
identify the ‘limitations of awards of contracts by the Management Tender Committee’ as follow: 

The Management Tender Committee (MTC) shall award contracts where the value of works and /or 
services to be acquired are more than ten million (G$10M) but less than fifteen million (G$15M) 
dollars, except for contracts over G$2M for consultancy services which will be awarded by the 
National Board for Procurement and Tender Administration. 

Limitations of awards for contracts for the GWI Tender Committee 

They shall award contracts when the value of works, goods and or services to be acquired is more 
that fifteen million ($15M) but not more than twenty million ($20M) 
 
All contracts outside of these amounts must be awarded by the National Procurement Tender and 
Administration Board (NPTAB). 

Summaries of the major findings for contracts examined:- 

Contract 2012/032 valued $113,997,762 – N. Lachman Business Establishment and Civil 
Works - Service connection upgrade/metering and upgrade of filters of Rose Hall Water 
Treatment Plant, Region 6 

 Section GCC 19.1 of the Special Conditions of the Contract states that “… the winning 
Bidder shall prepare a Safety Plan for inspection and approval by GWI’s Health and Safety 
Officer…Failure to adhere to this clause shall result in the rescinding of the Award of 
Contract and the forfeiture of the Contractor’s Bid Security.” The safety plan was stamped 
‘received’ on the 3rd July, 2012 by the PD and CI&PD; this was also the same date the 
contract was signed. There was no evidence from the Health and Safety Officer that the 
safety plan was reviewed and approved. This shows that Section GCC 19.1 was not 
complied with and therefore the contract should not have been awarded even though the 
NPTAB had approved the award of the contract to N. Lachman. GWI’s representatives 
clearly ignored this section in signing the contract along with the contractor.  
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Management’s response: 
 

“It is customary for Mr. C. Cathro, the sole Health and Safety Officer to review and approve the safety plan 
submitted for the project which is included in the contract document. Mr. Cathro was out of the jurisdiction at the time 
hence, did not append his signature to the plan. This should have been corrected upon his return.  

Contract 2012/033 valued $108,796,562. – N. Lachman Business Establishment and Civil 
Works - Upgrade of Pouderoyen and Fellowship Water Treatment Plant 

 Again, Section GCC 19.1 was not followed. The safety plan was stamped ‘received’ on the 
3rd July, 2012 by the PD and the CI&PD the same date the contract was signed by all parties. 
There was no indication from the Health and Safety Officer that the safety plan was 
reviewed and approved. Again, GWI’s representatives clearly ignored this section in signing 
the contract along with the contractor. In addition, there was no evidence of an evaluation 
report from the evaluation team appointed by NPTAB to confirm the awarding of this 
contract. On 22ndJune, 2012, the Secretary of the Cabinet, Dr Roger Luncheon advised that 
Cabinet approved a ‘no objection’ to the award of this contract to N. Lachman Business Est. 
 

 Evidence in the CI&PD’s file indicated that the contractor encountered ‘hiccups’ in 
gathering resources and materials to complete the project in a timely manner. Liquidated 
damages were applied and the contractor was written to on February 10, 2014 to repay 
outstanding amounts of $5,689,760 to GWI which has not been paid to date. We were 
advised by the Director of Cooperate Services/Company Secretary (DOCS) that GWI has 
taken the Contractor to Court to recover the amount. The DOCS stated that the case is still 
in court and no settlement has been reached to date. Please refer to Appendix VII-letter 
from GWI’s PM informing Mr Narindra Lachman of his indebtedness to GWI. 

 

 A partial completion certificate was issued by the GWI’s engineer, Mr. Riaz Zalil, but no 
final completion certificate for the work done was issued. In effect the contract was not 
completed. 

 
Management’s response: 

“The safety plan for this project was received by Mr. Cathro who gave his approval on 6th July, 2012 via the 
review of the Health and Safety plan memo. The evaluation report for this project was subsequently placed in 
the project file.” 
 
“GWI took legal actions against the contractor to recover outstanding balances as a result of the application 
of Liquidated damages under this contract as such this contract ended up in a legal dispute. Several defects 
that were identified during the defects liability period were corrected by contractors assigned to divisional office. 
A final completion certificate was not issued for this contract as a result of the legal dispute with the contractor 
which is still to be resolved.” 
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Contract 2013/675 valued $13,214,000 – N. Lachman Business Establishment and Civil 
Works - Installation of transmission mains - Belvedere 

 On the 1st February, 2013 the GWI’s evaluation committee awarded N. Lachman the 
contract on the basis that he had more experience in works of a similar nature and a lower 
bid price. We observed that the evaluation report- ‘Evaluation of the Technical Capacity of 
Responsive Bidders’ showed that ‘Satar Mohamed possessed more experience and had less 
outstanding projects at the time’. Subsequently, the Executive Director of CI&PD 
recommended to the Evaluation Committee to select a contractor that has no outstanding 
jobs. The project was then retendered. On the 26th April 2013, the Evaluation Committee 
again awarded N. Lachman the contract on the basis that he was the lowest responsive 
bidder. N. Lachman scored the lowest points based on the threshold for responsiveness but 
at the same time had more than four outstanding projects. The report of the Evaluation 
Committee was not signed by one of the appointed members, Mr Deslyn Griffith; no reason 
was stated. The MTC which comprised of the CE, DF & DO approved the award of the 
contract on the 6th May, 2013 to N. Lachman.  

 

 Verification of work progress and correspondences for this contract was not available to us 
as CI&PD indicated that the file was misplaced and could not be located. 

 

 Information was also not available to determine if the project was advertised or if selected 
contractors were invited to tender. 

 
Management’s response: 
 
“The adverts for are placed in the “Advertisement file” for the respective year.”  

“It is acknowledged, the original file for this project was misplaced during the period when the renovation works were 
being executed in IPID (CIPD) in August 2014. A substitute file was soon after created by the project engineer to 
enable him to complete the supervision of the project since it was still ongoing.” 
 
Contract 2013/1059 valued $35,765,120 – N. Lachman and Business Establishment and Civil 
Works - Service connection upgrade and metering, Hope/ Mon Repos Plant Area. 

 The Evaluation Committee signed its report on the 19th February, 2013 awarding the 
contract to R. Kissoon on the basis that he had no outstanding contract at the time and his 
bid amount was lower than the engineer’s estimate. The report also stated that the contract 
was not awarded to the lowest bidder, N. Lachman, since he had three to four projects 
outstanding for GWI at the time. The report was however re-signed by the Committee on 
the 6th March, 2013 recommending the contract be awarded to N. Lachman as his bid was 
lower than the engineer’s estimate. This recommendation was approved by Cabinet Decision 
on the 21st June, 2013. The contract was awarded to N. Lachman on the 3rd July, 2013 and 
terminated by GWI on the 11th August, 2014 on the basis that his work was not satisfactorily 
done and the contractor stopped works without authorization. Please refer to Appendix 
VIII for recommendations of award of contract first to R. Kissoon and subsequently 
to N. Lachman. 
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 GWI made a claim from CARICOM General Insurance Company against the ‘Performance 
Guarantee’ for $3,576,512 but the claim has not been received to date. When we enquired 
about the loss suffered by GWI, Mr. Riaz Zalil, Project Engineer, advised us that the 
company did not lose any money and rather than losing, GWI would benefit from whatever 
work the Contractor would have done. 

 

 The DOCS has advised that GWI is still following up with the insurance company to 
recover the performance guarantee. 

 
Management’s response: 
“The evaluation criteria required award to the lowest responsive bidder hence, N. Lachman was awarded. This is not 
always the best approach as the past performance and the contractor suitability for the particular project in relation to 
the resources to execute the works can be under estimated resulting in poor implementation rate and delayed services to 
customers. More emphasis needs to be placed on past performance and outstanding works in the evaluation criteria.” 

“Legal action was taken against the Insurance Company and judgement was granted in favour of GWI to recover 
monies under the Bond/Guarantee.” 
 
Contract 2013/004/007 valued $29,013,394– R. Kissoon Contracting Services - Remedial 
works to Kwakwani Water Supply System, Lots 1&2 

 Sufficient information was not in the PD’s file to determine whether the contract was 
advertised or selected contractors were invited to tender.  
 

 This contract was eventually awarded to R. Kissoon on the 19th February, 2013 for a total 
amount of $29,013,390 for remedial works to be done on the Kwakwani Water Supply 
System Lots 1 & 2. The Evaluation Report did not state by whom the evaluation team was 
appointed. On the 6th February, 2013, the Evaluation Team recommended Pioneer General 
Construction to be awarded the contracts for an amount of $28,088,350. However, a 
handwritten note from the DOCS on the 8th February, 2013 indicated that the contract 
should be awarded to R. Kissoon since Pioneer General Contracting had outstanding work 
and was in liquidated damages. The MTC which comprised of the CE, DF and DO 
approved R. Kissoon on the 8th February, 2013. The ‘Approval of the Evaluation Report’ 
page in the PD’s file was then invalidated since the MTC is not authorized to sign contracts 
above $15m. The signature page of the Approval of the Evaluation Report was again 
prepared by the DOCS on the 28th February, 2013 stating that the evaluation team had 
recommended R. Kissoon but there was no evidence of approval by the Evaluation Team to 
be awarded Lot 2 of the contract for an amount of $16,294,640 whilst no approval was seen 
for Lot 1 which also went to R. Kissoon. Approval was sought from the Chairman of the 
GWI’s Sub-Committee for Tenders and three other directors since the amount was beyond 
the limit of the MTC, but approval was received from two members only. 
 

 Sub-rule 7(ii) of the Tender Board Rules states that “The GWI Tender Committee shall not 
for the purpose of giving itself authority to act under sub-rule 7(i) subdivide the quantity of 
Goods and/or Services to be acquired in two or more portions so that the value of one 
portion is less than twenty million dollars…” 
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 A final completion certificate for neither contract was in the CI&PD’s file. We confirmed 
that they were not issued by the Project Engineer, Mr Richard Hoyte, to confirm that works 
were satisfactorily done. 

 

 Request for the original contract 2013/007-Lot 2 was made to the PD but only a copy was 
received. 
 

It appears that this project was intended to be awarded as one contract divided into Lots 1&2 but 
the MTC and GWI’s TC decided that the contract should be split contrary to Section 7 (ii) of the 
Tender Board Rules since all bid amounts submitted were in excess of $20M. The divided contracts 
were then issued to the same contractor for amounts of $12,718,750 for Lot 1 and $16,629,464 for 
Lot 2. This contract should have been initially referred to NPTAB. Please refer to Appendix IX 
for correspondences on Award of Contract, Invalidated Page and Recommendation of the 
Evaluation Committee. 

Management’s response: 

“Two members of Board Tender Committee are considered a quorum according to the rules.” 

“This project was designed by IPID to be done in two lots with distinctly different scope of works...Hence, the project 
was tendered as two lots which could have been implemented by two contractors. Notwithstanding the above, this award 
should have been made by NPTAB as the total of the lots exceeded 20M. This will be carefully scrutinised before 
tender by procurement dept. in the future so that based on the estimates the appropriate board is requested to receive the 
tenders.” 

“This is acknowledged since only the practical completion certificate is in the project file. The final completion certificate 
has been issued and is currently in the project file.” 

Contract 2013/003 valued US$796,156 – UTECO - Procurement of 28,485 water meters 

 It was noted that requests for sole sourcing of water meters from UTECO has been a norm 
prior to the award of this contract by the NPTAB on the 14th February, 2013. Sole sourcing 
request was made by the DP for UTECO to be awarded this contract on the basis that the 
meters are of the required quality set out by GWI and that it is also less costly to procure 
them from UTECO. The National Procurement Act 2003 sub-section 28 (a) and (b) states 
that “ The procuring entity may engage in single-source procurement when – the goods are 
available from a particular supplier or contractor…and no reasonable alternative or 
substitute exists…the services, by reason of their highly complex nature, are available from 
only one source…”. The most recent request for approval to be granted to sole source 
meters from UTECO was done on the 14th April, 2015. 

 

 A letter was submitted to NPTAB on the 3rd December, 2012 requesting the approval for 
10,000 water meters and boxes from UTECO at a cost of US$796,183. Approval to supply 
these items was given by NPTAB on the 28th December, 2012. On the 23rd January, 2013, a 
subsequent request was submitted to the Chairman of the NPTAB to amend the approval to 
allow UTECO to supply 28,485 water meters only for a cost of $796,156 and also to source 
the water meter boxes from Jiaxing Eastron Electrical Instruments Co. Cabinet considered 
and approved this variation on the 7th February, 2013. All 28,485 meters were supplied and 
GWI has since continued to directly procure water meters from UTECO.  
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 There was no evidence that GWI advertised this contract and therefore we could not have 
determined whether UTECO was the best source. We have received a letter of protest 
addressed to the Hon Mr Joseph Harmon, Minister in the Office of the Presidency signed by 
Mr Darshanand Manohar and dated June 3, 2015 who states ‘...the water meter itself is sole 
sourced from a company, “UTECOS” for twice the price that what other meters with 
superior quality can be supplied at.’ The Hon Minster then forwarded the letter to Minister 
of Finance who then referred it to GWI to be addressed. GWI wrote Mr. Manohar on June 
15, 2015. Please refer to Appendix X for the letter. 

 
Management’s response: 
“A comprehensive response was provided by GWI in relation to the allegations of Mr. Manohar.”The response is 
attached as Appendix XXI:  

“The GWI Strategic plan 2012-2016 included a comprehensive metering program that had specific targets for the 
supply of these measuring instruments in a timely manner to facilitate the achievement of the annual targets. The public 
tender route for supply and installation of meters in 2011-2012 had the following pit falls: 

 Single contractor won bids to supply and install 3000-4000 meters and service connection materials but 
lacked the capacity to procure the instruments in a timely manner and install the meters. 

 New brands of meters were introduced in the various regions which were different to the preferred quality and 
type adopted by the utility in 2006. 

 Cheap connectors, poly female adaptors and stop cocks entered the distribution system resulting on many 
leaking service connections. 

 Divisional contractors were repairing leaking, meters on a regular basis... 

 
As a result of the foregoing management sought to procure all materials for metering program and issue installation 

contracts to install the meters in lots of 500 meters to the contractor’s who were repairing leaks and installing new 

services in the divisions.  

Contract 2014/4177 $54,000,000– Dax Contracting Services - Supply and delivery of 10,000 
water meter boxes 

 Request was made by DP to the Chairman of NPTAB to sole source 10,000 water meter 
boxes from Dax Contracting Services on the 4th April, 2014. It would appear that NPTAB 
subsequently approved Dax Contracting Services to supply the boxes and Cabinet issued a 
‘no objection’ approval via letter dated 22nd May, 2014. We saw evidence that Dax 
Contracting Services was awarded a contract to supply water meter boxes via public tender 
in 2013, yet requests were subsequently made by the DP to sole source their services even 
though Manohar had bid and subsequently requested a review ‘into the evaluation and 
recommendation of award of contract’. Prior to the award via public tender, a request was 
made on the 23rd January, 2013 by the DP to sole source water meter boxes from Jiaxing 
Eastron Electronic Instruments Co. Approval for this request was given on the 7th February, 
2013 by NPTAB. We were informed by the DP that GWI did not go head to procure the 
boxes from Jiaxing since they were not in agreement with the Terms of Reference set out by 
GWI. In fact, correspondences between the Procurement Officer and Jiaxing seem to 
indicate that Jiaxing had difficulties with sending a sample of the meter box because GWI 
did not have a FEDEX account. After GWI was reluctant to open a FEDEX account, 
Jiaxing referred another source to GWI for the supply of the boxes.  
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The National Procurement Act 2003 sub-section 28 (a) and (b) states that “ The procuring 
entity may engage in single-source procurement when – the goods are available from a 
particular supplier or contractor…and no reasonable alternative or substitute exists…the 
services, by reason of their highly complex nature, are available from only one source…”. 
There is no evidence to confirm that Dax Contracting Services was the only supplier of the 
meter boxes since the contracts were not advertised and Manohar had protested the awarded 
via letter dated June 21, 2013. 
 

 Again, we quote from Mr Darshanand Manohar’s letter of protest to the Hon. Mr Joseph 
Harmon as follows: ‘In April 2013, Dax contracting was among two companies that tender a 
bid to supply 20,000 pcs of water meter boxes under IFB: GWI-GOG-P106-2013. Despite 
being almost $10M higher than the other bidder and with no previous experience as a 
supplier in this sector, he was awarded the contract. Several objections were made to the 
award but to no avail. Within a few weeks of that contract, the GWI’s Procurement Director 
recommended DAX to be sole sourced to supply an additional 10,000 pcs of the water 
meter box at the same price.’ Please refer to Appendix X. 
 

The most recent request for approval to be granted to sole source meters from Dax Contracting 
Services was done on the 14th April, 2015 which was granted by the NPTAB.  

The direct procurement with Jiaxing Eastron Electronic Instruments Co. Was cancelled since our due diligence with 

the Chinese Embassy could not provide a vote of confidence in the firm and its authenticity...This reality lead to the 

public tender in 2013.There were three bids and only one bidder provided an appropriate box that met the 

specifications and match the water meters and boxes that were adopted as the standard meter for the customer’s services 

and connections...Public tender annually for the procurement of water meter boxes would have delayed the metering 

program since the water meters were procured by the direct contracting method. The box and meter had to be 

compatible hence, changing the box each year would not allow for standardisation of the meters used for meter 

installations...This particular programme has been a successful procurement for GWI between 2013-2015 with timely 

supply of goods and great saving to the state’s resources since this program is funded by the Government of Guyana 

mainly...In relation to the letter sent by Mr. Darshanand Manohar referred in the report,...a comprehensive response 

dated 15th June, 2015 was submitted to GWI’s Board and Minister of State – Mr. Harmon. Mr. Manohar’s 

missive and grievances highlighted is an acute case of “sour grapes mentality’. He continues to enjoy business relation 

with GWI even after such callus allegations against GWI and its officers. This would never be condoned in the private 

sector.” 

Contract 2014/2534 valued $14,290,000 – AAV Ragoobeer General Construction - Supply of 
materials, equipment, plant, transportation and labour for the drilling of two wells 

 This contract was awarded on the 2ndst January, 2014 based on recommendations from the 
GWI’s Hinterland Engineer. A tendering process was not carried out neither were 
contractors invited to tender. The contract was prepared and signed by the Contractor along 
with the DP and DOCS on the 2nd January, 2014. It was later signed by the Director of 
CI&PD and the CE on the 3rd and 6th January, 2014, respectively. This contract was awarded 
for an amount of $14,290,000 and payments were made to the contractor totalling 
$9,825,000. The contractor was unable complete the project stating that the areas selected to 
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drill were too rocky to complete the project. The Hinterland Engineer confirmed that no 
equipment, plant etc. was supplied. 

 On the 12th November, 2015 the Hinterland Engineer informed the DF that all works done 
on the site should be considered exploratory and that there were no assets on site and the 
contract should be exempted from the work in progress list. The DF informed us that the 
amount is still shown as work-in-progress while he seeks clarification from the CIPD about 
this cost. Please refer to Appendix XI-Request from Engineer to sole source and letter 
to DF that all works should be treated as exploratory. 

It appears that this contract was abandoned and GWI did not apply any penalty as stipulated in 
the contract. Instead, the Hinterland Engineer wrote the CE through the ED-IPI on February 
15, 2015 stating that he sought legal advice from DOCS and that GWI should pay the 
contractor.  
 
Please refer to Appendix XII for this letter and memorandum dated 26th January, 2015. 
 

Management’s response: 

“The pilot hole at Mabaruma settlement was drilled to a depth of 120ft and granite rocks were found, another pilot 
hole was drilled at Hosororo stretch to a depth of 180ft and no productive sand zone was found. Based on a legal 
review of the contract and the activities that were achieved, the contract was closed and payment was approved for the 
contractor for works that were undertaken based on the contract.” 

Contract 2014/3608 valued $4,782,800– S. Jagmohan Hardware Supplies & Construction 
Services - Supply and installation of 200mm PVC Transmission Mains at Coldigen 

 This contract was awarded to S. Jagmohan on the 7th May, 2014. Approval from the MTC 
requires signatures from the CE, DF and DO; however, no approval was seen from the CE. 
A memorandum issued by the DOCS dated 18th March, 2014 stated that the contract should 
be awarded to Y2K Construction for the sum of $4,422,220. On the 10th April, 2014 the 
same DOCS included a handwritten note on the memorandum stating ‘Award to S. 
Jagmohan Committee noted that recommended bidder was awarded projects in excess of 
$50M and a capacity issue may arise, project awarded to next responsive bidder’.  
 

 There was no evidence that the Evaluation Committee agreed to the change for S. Jagmohan 
to be awarded this contract. The National Procurement Act 2003 sub-section 39 (3) states 
that “If the procuring entity does not agree with the Evaluation Committee’s determination, 
the procuring entity shall issue an advisory recommendation to the Evaluation Committee 
regarding which bidder shall be the lowest evaluated bidder, which recommendation the 
Evaluation Committee shall observe.” Please refer to Appendix XIII for hand written 
notes from the DOCS to award contract to next bidder 

 
Management’s response: 

“...The last line of the section does not require input or approval by the evaluation committee and makes it mandatory 
for the evaluation committee to adhere to the award. In both instances highlighted by the Auditor, DOCS, recorded the 
reasons for the Committee’s decision.” 
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Contract 2014/3565 valued $8,108,050– S. Jagmohan Hardware Supplies & Construction 
Services - Supply and installation of Trench crossing at EBD, Region 4 

 This contract was awarded to S. Jagmohan on the 6th May, 2014. Approval from the MTC 
requires signatures from the CE, DF and DO; however no approval was seen from the CE. 
A memorandum issued by the DOCS dated 18th March, 2014 stated that the contract should 
be awarded to Y2K Construction for the sum of $8,068,200. On the 10th April, 2014 the 
same DOCS included a handwritten note on the memorandum stating ‘Award to S. 
Jagmohan! Committee noted that recommended bidder was awarded projects in excess of 
$50M and a capacity issue may arise, project awarded to next responsive bidder’. There was 
no evidence that the Evaluation Committee agreed to the change for S. Jagmohan to be 
awarded the contract. The National Procurement Act 2003 sub-section 39 (3) was not 
followed. Please refer to Appendix XIV for hand written notes from the DOCS to 
award contract to next bidder 
 

Management’s response: 

“...The last line of the section does not require input or approval by the evaluation committee and makes it mandatory 

for the evaluation committee to adhere to the award. In both instances highlighted by the Auditor, DOCS, recorded the 

reasons for the Committee’s decision.” 

Contract 2014/3918 valued $26,451, 500 – S. Jagmohan Hardware Supplies & Construction 
Services - Supply and installation of materials for the interconnection of components within 
the Water Supply System, Linden 

 The bid advertisement stated that the bids would be opened on the 25th March, 2014 
according to the evaluation report prepared by the Evaluation Committee. The bids were 
opened on the 18th March, 2014, six days prior to the announced date. The appointment of 
the Evaluation Committee was approved by the NPTAB on the 18th March, 2014 and the 
Committee prepared the evaluation report on the same day the contract was awarded to S. 
Jagmohan who was the only bidder at the time. Approval was given by the NPTAB to award 
the contract on the 19th May, 2014. Please refer to Appendix XV for letter to NPTAB to 
bring forward the opening date of the contract contrary to the advertised closing 
date, evaluation report and no objection letter. 
 

 It is very clear that the early opening of the bids was disadvantageous to other bidders since 
they would have anticipated the closing date to be 25th March. A request to bring forward 
the opening date of the bid was made by the DP but a reason for doing so was not stated. 

Management’s response: 
 
No comments/responses were provided. 
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Contract 2014/3569 valued $12,123,000– S. Jagmohan Hardware Supplies & Construction 
Services - Replace of distribution network 

 On the 25th February, 2014, the Evaluation Committee appointed by the NPTAB 
recommended that this contract be awarded to Y2K Construction for an amount of 
$15,030,600. At the time of the Evaluation Committee’s recommendation, S. Jagmohan was 
considered a non-responsive bidder as he had submitted an invalid business registration. On 
the 6th March, 2014, a request was made by the DP to review the evaluation appendix and 
make appropriate amendments in the evaluation report on the basis that S. Jagmohan had 
subsequently submitted a valid business registration expiring until the 21st January, 2015. On 
the 12th March, 2014 the Evaluation Committee recommended the contract to be awarded to 
S. Jagmohan for an amount of $12,123,000. Approval of the bid evaluation report was 
signed on the 3rd March, 2014, by Chairperson and directors Mr Emil Mc Garrell and 
director Mr. Seepaul Narine three days prior to the request made by the DP and six days 
prior to the Evaluation Committee recommending the award to S.Jagmohan. The National 
Procurement Act 2003 sub-section 39 (4) states that “No change in a matter of substance in 
the tender, including changes in price and changes aimed at making a non-responsive tender 
responsive, shall be sought, offered or permitted.”Please refer to Appendix XVI-email 
from DP to make changes to recommendation and evaluation report. 
 

Management’s response: 

No comments/responses were provided. 

BK International drilling of wells at Hope, Mon Repos and Eccles 

The following are extracts from the BOD minutes discussing the progress of well projects awarded 
to BK International: 

 BOD’s 106th meeting held on December 20th, 2012 - Mention was made of the wells 
awarded to BK Intl. It was noted that 3 (three) are 10% complete. It was explained that 
materials should arrive in January. It was noted that the contracts were awarded in 2011 and 
that these projects should have been completed by August 2012. All the projects are in 
liquidated damages. It was suggested that the evaluation criteria should be reviewed so that 
the evaluation committee can be aware of all other works being undertaken by a bidder. It 
was suggested that GWI should develop its well drilling capacity internally, however it was 
indicated that this would not be feasible at this time and that the focus is on well 
maintenance. Disappointment was expressed at the delays in completing these projects and 
the effect on the customers not being able to get a service.  

 BOD’s 107th meeting, January 31st, 2013 - With respect to the Wells projects, BK Int’l has 
indicated that the casings have arrived and the screens should be here by February 15th. It 
was suggested that a final warning letter be sent to BK Int’l on this matter.      

 BOD’s 108th meeting, February 28th, 2013 - Casings and screens are in the country. 
Contractor to submit to a revised work programme.  

 BOD’s 112th meeting, July 4th, 2013 - The Board was asked to consider extending the 
contracts awarded to BK Int’l to the end of the year. It was explained that the liquidated 
damages period has expired and that it would not be feasible to terminate the contracts now. 
It was agreed that the contracts can be extended but a meeting must be held with Mr Tiwarie 
soon.  
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 BOD’s 113th meeting, July 25th, 2013 - Projects – The Eccles well is progressing and the 
object still remains in the Hope well. A meeting was held with the contractor and the 
situation appears hopeless. An attempt would be made with a crane to remove the object 
failing which the contractor will be approached to drill another well. 

 BOD’s 114th meeting, September 5th, 2013 - Good progress has been made at Eccles; 
contractor is placing the screens and casings and will start development within a day.  

 BOD’s 120th meeting, March 27, 2014 - A member queried what the issue is with BK Int’l. It 
was reported that the contractor has not completed any of the wells awarded to it. It was 
suggested that GWI move to the next level and terminate. It was noted that there isn’t 
anyone else to do the work and the company is working along with the contractor to 
complete the wells. 

 BOD’s 124th meeting, July 31st, 2014 - Board was updated on the status of the well drilling 
projects. With respect to the wells awarded to BK Int’l, the Hope well is progressing, 
another borehole will be drilled at Mon Repos at the Contractor’s expense and at Eccles 
there is an obstacle in the well that has to be removed. The contractor was written to giving 
an extension up to August 31st to complete the well failing which the process for termination 
will begin. 

 BOD’s 125th meeting, September 30th, 2014 - With respect to the wells, BK is moving slowly 
with the Hope and Eccles wells, no progress has been made with the Mon Repos well. 

 BOD’s 126th meeting, October 30th, 2014 - Mon Repos- BK Well inspection report by GWI 
showed the screen collapsed possibly due to poor development of the well. Hope-BK 
International-The screen and casings installed and well was in the development stage in 
August.  However, the contractor moved from the location and proceeded to Eccles Well 
site without GWI authorization.  He was written on this matter. Eccles-BK International-
Contractor removed two of three pipes that were dislodged in the well.   A further Camera 
inspection is to be conducted to identify location and possible effect on performance of well.  
Query was made as to why all the projects given to this contractor has issues. It was 
mentioned that it is not necessarily the contractor but the Supervision of the project and the 
enforcing of compliances. 

 BOD’s 127th meeting, November 27th, 2014 - Mon Repos – there is a kink in the screen and 
the camera cannot go pass a certain depth. Contractor wrote proposing that GWI accept the 
well since it was meeting expected production. A meeting was subsequently held with the 
contractor who further proposed a 5 (five) year defects liability period. This was not 
accepted. Opinions were sought on the matter and it was suggested to the contractor that 
the well be plugged. Contractor agreed to this suggestion and is attempting to contact an 
expert from Trinidad. A member noted that where there is a structural defect the risk 
involved must be assessed. 

 BOD’s 128th meeting, December 18th, 2014 - A meeting was held with contractor and a 
decision was reached on the way forward for this well.  

 BOD’s 132nd meeting, April 30th, 2015 - Mon Repos – nothing much has been done in the 
last month since contractor has been focusing on Hope 
Hope – the electrical work is almost complete. The well is producing and is in operation. 
Eccles – more developing has to be done. 
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The contracts for these wells were awarded to BK International in 2011 and were to be completed 
in August, 2012. These contracts have not been completed to date and the contractor has not been 
faced with any penalties. 

The problem with these contacts was that the BOD procrastinated and allowed the contractor to 
determine when the contracts would be finished. In addition, the delays, time spent by management 
and cost to resolve issues with the contractor has compromised the BOD as can be seen from the 
extracts of the Board minutes above. Further, stakeholders who were hoping for improved water 
service continue to wait. The contracts have not been completed as there are still major components 
and works to be done to complete the wells.  

The current status of these contracts, after five (5) years are as follow: 

Project Contract sum 
G$ 

Amount 
paid to 

Contractor 
G$ 

Status Activities to be 
completed 

Remarks 

Hope, East Coast 
Dem. 

92,627,315 60,893,531 completed  Well in production 

Eccles, East Bank, 
Dem. 

84,202,840 53,197,086 60% 
 

Construction of well 
head base and plate; 
installation of 
transformers, soft 
starter, wiring of facility; 
installation of pump; 
installation of discharge 
pipes & valves ; 
installation of pipe 
networks; retrieving of 
pump which fell into 
well 

Presently, ongoing 
exercise to retrieve the 
submersible pump; BK 
Int. was given notice of 
termination; project file 
is currently with DOCS 
for legal action 

Mon Repos, East 
Coast, Dem. 

75,542,924 49,208,864 60% Construction  well head 
base and 
plate                              
The installation of 
transformers, soft 
starter and wiring of the 
facility                            
Installation of pump 
and to existing 
networks                       
Installation of Well 
discharge pipes and 
valves  
motor                 Installa
tion of pipe 
network                         
Interconnection of pipe 
networks                        
                        

Well was constructed 
and developed, unable to 
further proceed because 
of crush screen. BK Int. 
has proposed sleeving 
this well, but is yet to 
submit a methodology 
for carrying out the 
works. The pump testing 
exercise was completed 
on this well.  
The contractor has also 
proposed to put the well 
into production as is, 
GLDA has expressed 
that will not be 
accepting the well and 
GWI has informed the 
contractor of this 
decision. 
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Management’s response: 

“These contracts were awarded by the National Procurement and Tender Administrative Board based on their 
evaluation of a contractor that had no experience in well drilling. These contracts were consistently discussed at the level 
of the GWI Board and there has been consistent agreement to allow the contractor to complete the three wells. The 
maximum liquidated damages have been applied under each contract which is 10% of the value of works for each of 
the contract to the total value of G$ 18.6 million for the three contracts. At present the respective status of the 
contracts are provided in which one well (Hope) is completed, the contractor has been issued an ultimatum to complete 
remedial and development works on Eccles by April 30, 2016 and they are required to recommence drilling of a 
replacement well for Mon Repos by April 30, 2016 or the contract will be terminated and legal actions taken against 
the contractor.” 

Contract No. GWI 2011/C091 – Drilling of Potable Water Well at No. 47 Village – Awarded to Nabi 

Construction. 

During our audit, we reviewed an internal report which was commissioned by the CMT to 
investigate the failure of the No. 47 Well which was contracted to Nabi Construction. A Committee 
comprising the following persons: Marlon Daniels-Divisional Manager, Division 5, Ian Cole-
Contracts Engineer and Twidle Trim-Legal Officer were identified by CMT to carry out the 
investigation and submitted a report, the essence of which is highlighted below:  

The Committee concluded that it was beyond the ability of its members to determine what 
specifically caused the well to collapse. The Committee believed that there were procedural and 
contractual breaches which occurred during the supervision of the project which could be 
contributory factors to the failure. The Committee reported the following points determined to be 
contributory factors:- 

 There was no evidence that the verification of materials used on the job was inspected by 
GWI. The contractor did not submit progress reports, quality assurance documents and test 
results. Clerk of works could not verify if the materials used on site were specified in the 
contract. The Water Resources Manager and Engineer along with the Project Development 
Manager testified that the sampling techniques used in the execution of the project were less 
than desired. 

 Pressure testing was supposed to be carried out before the insertion of the screen. The 
contractor admitted to not carrying out this procedure and there was also no measure put in 
place by GWI to ensure this was done. 

 There were no systems put in place to ensure sufficient monitoring and evaluation of the 
project. 

 Clerk of works had little or no knowledge of the contractual requirements. 

 The Engineer or any senior personnel were not present on site for the placing of screens 
into the well. 

 There were times when the site was left unmonitored both in authorized and unauthorized 
cases. 

 The Project Management team failed to ensure that the contractor carried out his obligations 
as per the contract. 

 The contract did not adequately cover the testing stages of the project and the 
responsibilities of both parties were not clearly outlined. 



 

54 
 

The Committee did not identify any action to be taken against any party. We discussed this matter 
with Ms Trim who has advised that she is not aware that GWI took any action to recover damages 
from the contractor instead the contractor may have made a claim against GWI because the 
contractor was not issued with a cease order, to stop works. We understood that GWI settled with 
the contractor but we were unable to determine the settlement details because the file was not 
available to us. The ED – IPI informed us that an amount of $121,800,000 was capitalized on this 
contract. 

Recommendations were made to correct these flaws and weaknesses in the system and contract 
documents. During our review, we noted that contract documents were revised to cover these areas 
that were previously flawed. There are still instances where project files are not updated with daily 
reports from the clerk of works.  

Reported in the 103rd meeting of the BOD-‘it was noted that the Audit Manager did not have the 

permission of the Board to write to the Auditor General on this matter. Board was informed that 

the AG may start looking into other wells drilled by the contractor in question’. The Audit Manager 

confirmed that he wanted to seek independent technical support from the Auditor General Office. 

At the 106th meeting of the BOD, Board was informed that the No. 47 Well was saved and now 

functioning at no additional cost, which in effect closed the investigation. 

Management’s response: 

“The file is available for review and the final valuation has been prepared for the sum of $109,660,201 against a 
contract sum of $111,834,000. A structural failure was encountered within this well where the screens failed, as such 
GWI and the contractor agreed to a methodology to undertake remedial works, which was successfully completed by the 
contractor with GWI supervision. Reference to the clerk of works reports, in most instances, the reports are placed in 
individual files since these reports include daily and weekly sheets and are very bulky to place in the project files which 
are used continuously to manage projects.”  

In addition to the above findings, the following were noted:- 

 Section 14 (ii) of the Tender Board Rules states that “Reports of meetings of each 
committee shall be prepared and submitted for approval at the next meeting of the Board.” 
We have reviewed the BOD’s minutes for the period 2012 to 2014 and only saw that the 
minutes of the Management Tender and Technical Committees were acknowledged and read 
as taken. There was no definitive approval by way of signatures or acknowledgement that 
these minutes now form part of the BOD minutes. Minutes are import records for both 
current and future use and therefore the Chairman and Company Secretary must ensure that 
they are signed and included as an attachment to the BOD minutes. 
 

 At the 106th meeting of the BOD Management was advised to review the tender documents 
as complaints were received at the National Board concerning ambiguity in GWI tender 
documents. The Tender/Technical Committee was asked to follow up on this matter. 

 
 Contracts were being issued based on recommendations from Divisional Managers; this 

ruled out the process to allow for competitive bidding and also to give a fair chance to other 
contractors. 
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 Safety plans submitted by contractors for different types of work were of a standard format 
and not specific to the description of the contract. In some cases, safety plans were not 
approved but contracts were still signed. During a discussion with the Health and Safety 
Officer, Mr Christopher Cathro, he indicated there are instances where safety procedures 
were not followed by some contractors and this would eventually result in stoppages until 
the necessary precautions were corrected. 

 Clerk of works and site supervisors are required to submit daily and weekly reports on the 
progress of works. During our review of files from the CI&PD it was noted that some of the 
files were not updated with the progress reports on a weekly basis and in some cases there 
was no report. A sample of the files are listed below:- 
 
Contract # Contractor Project 

2013/004 Rudolph Kissoon Contracting 
Services 

Remedial Works to Kwakwani 
Water Supply and Distribution 
System 

2013/007 Rudolph Kissoon Contracting 
Services 

Remedial Works to Kwakwani 
Water Supply and Distribution 
System 

2013/756 N. Lachman Business 
Establishment 

Upgrade of Shelterbelt Water 
Treatment Plant, Design of 
Sludge System 

2013/1950 Global Hardware Inc. Supply and Installation of 
200mm Transmission Mains at 
Bushlot to Eversham. 

Management’s response: 

Clerk of work reports – “It is customary that all the reporting on the daily activities of the project is done by a 
Clerk of Works. As such the daily reports for these works are within the file held by IPID for each individual Clerk 
of Works. Except in the case of the Upgrade of the Shelterbelt Water Treatment Plant, Upgrade of Sludge System, 
where this project never commences and the contract was subsequently terminated. Hence, a Clerk of Works was not 
assigned to the project. The department is also in the process to revise a standard operating procedure document which 
will be implemented and provides for all field reports, especially from Clerk of Works, to be filed in a weekly basis. 

 Between 2012 and May 2015 the following contractors were most favoured having received 
contracts as listed as follow:- 
 
Contractor 

 
Date 

 
Contract# 

 
Amount (G$) 

 
Category 

 
S. Jagmohan   2-Apr-12 2012/C007    1,299,139,491  Major Works 

 17-Sep-12 2012/C042      156,109,500  Major Works 

 17-Sep-12 2012/C043      319,289,600  Major Works 

 17-Feb-12 2012/004        72,389,000  Major Works 

 14-Oct-13 2013/1835          8,070,000  Major Works 

 9-May-13 2013/C1058        95,636,090  Major Works 

 24-Mar-14 2014/2956          2,356,000  Minor Works 
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 5-Jun-14 2014/3831          3,030,000  Minor Works 

 18-Jun-14 2014/3918        26,451,500  Minor Works 

 23-Jan-14 2014/2693      107,538,640  Major Works 

 12-May-14 2014/3572          8,889,000  Major Works 

 12-May-14 2014/3565          8,128,050  Major Works 

 12-May-14 2014/3608          4,782,800  Major Works 

 13-May-14 2014/3569        12,123,000  Major Works 

 13-May-15 2014/3609          9,254,000  Major Works 

 9-Jul-14 2014/4047        89,995,000  Major Works 

 27-Feb-15 2015/6275          1,299,800  Minor Works 

 6-May-15 2015/6956            629,000  Minor Works 

Total   2,225,110,471  

 
Contractor 

 
Date 

 
Contract# 

 
Amount (GS) 

 
Category 

 
R.Kissoon 3-Feb-12 2012/020          1,200,000  Minor Works 

 3-Feb-12 2012/026          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 20-Feb-12 2012/043          1,001,300  Minor Works 

 29-Feb-12 2012/044          1,200,000  Minor Works 

 24-Apr-12 2012/049          1,841,400  Minor Works 

 6-Jul-12 2012/112          1,200,000  Minor Works 

 25-Sep-12 2012/174          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 19-Nov-12 2012/215          1,200,000  Minor Works 

 6-Jun-12 2012/C012        16,960,340  Major Works 

 20-Jun-12 2012/C021          7,996,060  Major Works 

 7-Jan-13 2013/004          1,200,000  Minor Works 

 20-Jun-15 2013/081          1,259,762  Minor Works 

 23-May-13 2013/090          3,140,100  Minor Works 

 16-Jun-13 2013/099          1,200,000  Minor Works 

 4-Sep-13 2013/1479          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 8-Nov-13 2013/2005          1,200,000  Minor Works 

 1-Mar-13 2013/C004        12,718,750  Major Works 

 6-Mar-13 2013/C007        16,294,640  Major Works 

 26-Jun-13 2013/C522          8,909,800  Major Works 

 28-Jun-13 2013/C521        10,757,000  Major Works 

 13-Jan-14 2014/2588          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 13-Jan-14 2014/2540          3,102,300  Minor Works 

 4-Apr-14 2014/2747          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 29-Jan-14 2014/2747          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 22-Apr-14 2014/3424          1,200,000  Minor Works 

 5-Jun-14 2014/3792          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 13-Jun-14 2014/3879          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 16-Jun-14 2014/3898          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 16-Jun-14 2014/3873          4,518,550  Minor Works 

 30-Jul-14 2014/4295          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 6-Aug-14 2014/4356          1,200,000  Minor Works 

 18-Aug-14 201/4441          4,518,550  Minor Works 

 20-Oct-14 2014/5144          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 20-Oct-14 2014/5145          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 21-Oct-14 2014/5175          4,518,580  Minor Works 
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 31-Oct-14 2014/5287          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 27-Nov-14 2014/5518          1,450,165  Minor Works 

 29-Dec-14 2014/5695          1,500,000  Minor Works 

 29-Dec-14 2014/5696          1,200,000  Minor Works 

 13-May-14 2014/3563        12,215,000  Major Works 

 20-May-14 2014/3655        11,308,000  Major Works 

 9-Jul-14 2014/4045          5,507,000  Major Works 

 15-Jul-14 2014/4082        20,745,000  Major Works 

 15-Jul-14 2014/3931        26,088,930  Major Works 

 30-Jul-14 2014/3773        17,325,000  Major Works 

 30-Dec-14 2014/5784          7,806,800  Major Works 

 21-Jan-15 2015/5976          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 29-Jan-15 2015/6022          1,200,000  Minor Works 

 6-May-15 2015/6973          2,000,000  Minor Works 

 19-May-15 2015/7124          1,200,000  Minor Works 

Total   245,883,027  

 

Contractor 

 
Date 

 
Contract# 

 
Amount (GS) 

 
Category 

 
N. Lachman 3-Jan-12 2012/C001          3,757,000  Major Works 

 8-Jul-12 2012/C032        13,997,776  Major Works 

 8-Nov-12 2012/C033      108,796,562  Major Works 

 28-Jun-13 2013/C756        29,873,800  Major Works 

 24-Jun-13 2013/C675        13,214,000  Major Works 

 17-Jul-13 2013/C1059        35,765,120  Major Works 

Total        205,404,258   

  

Contractor 

 
Date 

 
Contract# 

 
Amount (GS) 

 
Category 

 

A. Chowramootoo 18-Jul-12 2012/127          2,290,200  Minor Works 

 12-Jun-12 2012/C020        12,237,440  Major Works 

 5-Jul-12 2012/C025        11,419,940  Major Works 

 5-Jul-12 2012/C026          9,659,440  Major Works 

 5-Jul-12 2012/C027          7,588,765  Major Works 

 6-Jul-12 2012/C031        20,721,850  Major Works 

 25-Sep-13 2013/871        70,053,400  Major Works 

 23-May-13 2013/C013        39,924,200  Major Works 

 24-May-13 2013/C014        56,779,565  Major Works 

 10-Jul-13 2013/C871        70,053,400  Major Works 

 8-May-14 2014/3532        12,892,600  Major Works 

 8-May-14 2014/3644        12,392,600  Major Works 

 15-May-14 2014/3636        13,391,600  Major Works 

 30-Jul-14 2014/4148        20,817,000  Major Works 

 30-Jul-14 2014/4139          2,984,000  Major Works 

 22-Jan-15 2015/6007        12,640,000  Major Works 

Total        375,846,000   
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Contractor 

 
Date 

 
Contract# 

 
Amount (GS) 

 
Category 

 
Dax Contracting 
Services 
 7-Jun-12 2012/C014        21,866,000  Procurement of Goods 

 7-Jun-12 2012/C019        19,455,000  Procurement of Goods 

 9-May-13 2013/C971      108,000,000  Procurement of Goods 

 22-Jul-14 2014/C4177        54,000,000  Procurement of Goods 

 30-Jul-14 2014/4137        27,040,000  Procurement of Goods 

 30-Jul-14 2014/4136        23,175,000  Procurement of Goods 

 22-Jan-15 2015/5948        23,800,000  Procurement of Goods 

Total   277,336,000  

 

Contractor 

 
Date 

 
Contract# 

 
Amount (GS)  

 
Category 

 
Faldhari Singh and 
Sons Contracting 
Services 

 25-Jan-13 2013/020            569,000  Minor works 

 8-Aug-13 2013/1084          3,971,000  Minor works 

 28-Jun-13 2013/C718          9,707,200  Major Works 

 13-May-14 2014/3522        11,458,900  Major Works 

 14-May-14 2014/3612          9,995,800  Major Works 

 15-May-14 2014/3613        12,393,000  Major Works 

 30-Jul-14 2014/4245        19,932,200  Major Works 

 30-Jul-14 2014/4246        19,970,800  Major Works 

 30-Jul-14 2014/4247        13,984,000  Major Works 

 18-May-15 2014/7054          3,490,600  Minor works 

Total   105,472,500  
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Termination of contracts - The following contracts were terminated for the period under review: - 

Contract # Contractor Description Value Date of 
award/signing 

Date of 
termination 

Reason for termination 

2012/023 Pioneer 
Contracting 
Services 

Supply and 
installation of 
300mm 
Transmission -
Providence to 
Mocha 

$83,162,400  
 

6/25/2012 
 

6/24/2013 
 

Contractor failed to carry out works within the agreed time period, 
extensions were also granted but the contractor still failed to complete 
works accordingly. Liquidated damages were applied. The claim for the 
advance and performance bonds was made after the end of the defects 
liability period. The Director of Corporate services stated that actions were 
filed against Pioneer Contracting in court on the 16th March, 2015. The 
Insurance Company has agreed to pay GWI the sum of $20M. This 
amount is still to be received by the Insurance Company. 
 

2012/024 S.Lorick 
Contracting 
Service 

Supply and 
installation of 
300mm 
Transmission –
Eccles to 
Providence 

$85,106,405  
 

6/21/2012 
 

6/24/2013 
 

Contractor failed to carry out works within the agreed time period, 
extensions were also granted but the contractor still failed to complete 
works accordingly. The contractor also failed to provide updated and 
revised work plans for review by GWI.  
The DOCS advised claims were made on both the Advance Guarantee 
and Performance Bond and that he requested information from the 
overseas reinsurer of NAFICO. No payment was received and legal 
proceedings will be filed. 
 

2013/756 N.Lachman 
Business Est. 

Upgrade of 
Shelterbelt water 
treatment plant; 
design and 
construction of 
sludge system, 
Region 4 

$29,873,800  
 

6/28/2013 
 

6/23/2014 
 

Contractor failed to submit designs and reports for approval and review by 
GWI, he also kept applying for time extensions on the basis that he 
needed additional information from GWI. Failure to submit reports after 1 
year lead the Project manager and engineer to conclude that the contractor 
was incapable of carrying out the works stipulated in the contract. An 
amount of $2,984,393 was claimed and received on the Performance Bond 
from CARICOM General Insurance in addition to an amount of 
$6,328,450 claim and received from GBTI on the Advance Payment bond. 
 

2013/1059 N.Lachman 
Business Est. 

Service 
connection 
upgrade and 
metering, Hope/ 
Mon Repos Plant 
Area. 

$35,765,120  
 

7/25/2013 
 

8/11/2014 
 

Work was not satisfactorily done, contractor stopped works without 
authorization. Contractor also failed to maintain the required Advance 
Payment Guarantee until full repayment of the advance granted. Claims 
were made on the Advance payment bond from GBTI and an amount of 
$13,037,724 was received on the 9th June, 2015. Legal action was taken 
against CARICOM General Insurance for an amount of $3,576,512 and 
judgment was granted in favour of GWI. 
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2014/4271 

 
 
George 
Torrington 

 
 
Supply of labour, 
transportation 
and equipment to 
upgrade service 
connections 
within Div 3 – 
ECD 

 
 
$4,518,550  
 

 
 
7/24/2014 
 

 
 
10/28/2014 
 

 
 
Breach of contract, contractor failed to rectify defects of work done within 
the stipulated defects liability time period.  
 

2014/4272 Jane Ann 
Robinson 

Supply of labour, 
transportation 
and equipment to 
upgrade service 
connections 
within Div 3 – 
ECD 

$4,518,550  
 

7/24/2014 
 

10/28/2015 
 

Contracted terminated as contractor failed to rectify defects within the 
defects liability period. 
 

2014/3550 Y2K 
Construction 

Extension of 
Distribution 
Mains at 
Vergenogen – 
EBD 

$7,648,440  
 

5/7/2014 
 

8/11/2014 
 

GWI stated that the contractor laid the pipes incorrectly and failed to 
contact the respective Public Bodies in order to gather relevant 
information before laying the pipes. The contractor stated that it was 
based on the plan and designs that GWI provided that he did the work. 
The contractor made efforts to negotiate with GWI to rectify works done 
but at costs exceeding the original contract price which was unacceptable 
to GWI. The contractor stopped works and failed to resume at GWI's 
instructions to do so. Assuria Life and General Insurance Company was 
contacted to receive payments for Advance and Performance bonds. Y2K 
got an injunction against GWI on the basis that the engineer was 
neglectful of his duties and did not stop the contractor when he was 
continuing works that should not have been done. An agreement was 
made between GWI and the contractor for GWI to pay the contractor an 
amount of $2M. This payment was made in January, 2016. 
 

2014/4454 Michael 
Andrews 

Service 
connection 
upgrade, Division 
3; EBD 

$4,518,550  
 

8/13/2014 
 

10/13/2014 
 

One month after the Order proceed was issued, there was no feedback 
from contractor neither were reasons for delays to commence work 
communicated to GWI. 
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Internal Audit Department-reports 

During this engagement, we met with the Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) and reviewed samples of 
his reports which were issued. We found that the findings in many of his reports highlighted 
breaches in internal procedures and policies. He advised us that very often he did not receive 
responses to the reports and subsequent audits in the areas revealed that many of the weaknesses 
still persisted. He went on to explain that, in his opinion, ‘the BOD then did not do enough to 
ensure that his audit findings were followed up and corrected, where necessary’.   

In consultation and approval from him, we include reports’ findings which we believe should be 
included in this report except for minor changes for clarity: 

a) Alleged Procurement of Billboards Elections Campaigning 2015 
 ‘Alleged Procurement of Billboards Elections Campaigning 2015’ 

The following points were highlighted in the report: 

 Claims were made by Mr Neil Sooklall, Managing Director of Impressions Advertising 
that his company designed, printed and erected billboards for GWI and his payments 
were outstanding. 

 

 He also claimed that his original works for the billboards did not include the PPP/C logo 
and it might have been placed there by unknown individuals from the respective party. 

 

 Officials from GWI, who initiated the project, claimed that the billboards were erected to 
enable residents across the country to be reminded of the progresses that were being 
made in the various constructions undertaken by GWI. 

 
Initiation and Approval  
 
Included in a memorandum dated April 10, 2015 to the DF from the ED of the IPI through the 
Chief Executive the following was proposed: 

 20 Billboards be constructed to enhance the company’s public image countrywide and 
educate the general public about all the proposed, completed and on-going works 
undertaken by GWI in both the water sector and sanitation improvement program. 

 

 Supplier - Impressions should be used “for the construction of these billboards at a unit 
cost of G$300,000 each (a total of G$6,000,000) which is deemed reasonable.”  
 

 Supplier - Impressions was chosen due to the reasonableness of the cost. An invoice 
dated March 13, 2015 from the supplier was attached. 
 

The ED of IPI stated that through discussions and instructions from the Chief Executive, the 
above mentioned memorandum was approved by the Chief Executive on April 16, 2015 

Approval for sole sourcing was given by the MTC on April 17, 2015 using the memorandum and 

invoice from Supplier – Impressions as justification.  At this time, the DP was on vacation and 

the Procurement Officer in charge stated that she did not agree with the procurement method of 

sole sourcing and sought advice from DP who in turn instructed via emails that she should in 

accordance with the Financial Regulations, gather at least two more quotations from other 

suppliers  
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The MTC comprises of CE (Chairman), DO and DF.  The approval for sole sourcing 
Impressions for the construction of 20 billboards valued at G$6,000,000 was done without 
obtaining/ comparing quotations from at least three similar entities that provide the same 
service. This is a breach of GWI’s Financial Regulations 2014 and deviation from standard 
procedures 

An interview with the DF disclosed the following: 

 The Director of IPI had visited the entity in question and verified their modernised 
equipment and facilities; this enabled him (DF) to confidently sign off on the Evaluation 
Report as endorsing the sole sourcing of the billboards in question. 
 

 Did not see any other comparison of costs from any other entity prior to and after 
approving the request to sole source. 

 

The Procurement Officer was advised by the Director of IPI to seek information requested from 

the Public Relations Officer who indicated that Impressions had the specifications and provided 

contact information for same.  

The Public Relations Officer (PRO) stated that he was asked by the CE to provide the Managing 

Director of Impressions with the required texts and pictures to be inserted on the billboards 

which were sent via outlook on April 9th, 2015. He was not a part of formulating the designs. 

Further, during his discussions with the Managing Director-Impressions, he had requested that 

the finished product be sent to him for the CE’s approval. This was never done. 

Purchase Requisition #6240 for the billboards was created in Oracle I Procurement module on 

April 17th, 2015 and approved on April 20th, 2015 by the Director of IPI. This was after the 

Managing Director, Impressions was contacted by Director of IPI, CE, and PRO which is a 

breach of the procurement process. Added to this, no Purchase Order (PO) was processed in the 

Oracle Purchasing as required for the transaction. 

None of the above mentioned individuals knew of the actual date the billboards were erected at 

the respective locations, however, the DP indicated that after constant requests were made to the 

Director of IPI for the specifications and designs for the billboards proved futile; he refused to 

sole source same since the financial regulations called for at least three (3) quotations from 

entities of the same nature for purchases of $2m to $10m. 

The original design of the billboards were set to be affixed with Guyana’s Coat of Arms and the 
GWI logo, however, upon verification of the billboards located at Covent Garden and Eccles 
revealed that they were instead originally created with the VOTE PPP/C logo. 

On May 8th, 2015, the CE stated on the justification for the billboards location and designs that 

“the designs were reviewed by me and PR Unit and are in conformity with GWI’s Water 

Infrastructural Projects and Community Awareness Programme, Proceed early”. This was 

contrary to statements given by the DF and the PRO on designs/specifications and funding 

source. 

Email dated May 8, 2015 sent to the DP from the Director of IPI showed that the entire 

procurement process was disregarded since the Director of IPI was requesting that a Purchase 

Order (PO) be prepared for the Finance Department to process the payment to Supplier – 

Impressions for the already erected billboards. 



 

63 
 

Conclusions 
 

1. The Director of IPI along with members of Management Tender Board (MTB) breached 
GWI’s procurement policy and procedures to engage the services of Supplier – 
Impressions to construct of Billboards for corporate awareness. 
  

2. Billboards were not done in accordance to original designs and specifications. 
 

3. No evidence was found to substantiate that the Supplier – Impressions was instructed to 
affix the PPP/C party logo on billboards, however, it was possible that this could have 
been done unofficially.   
 

Recommendations 
 

1. Disciplinary action should be taken against the Director – IPI and members of MTC in 
accordance with GWI’s Conditions of employment. 
 

2. The Supplier – Impressions should not be paid since he was found to be dishonest and 
works were not to the standard required. 

 

 

 

We have verified that a Committee including the D, HR carried out an internal investigation 
resulting in the DF and ED-IDI being issued with warning letters. No further actions were 
taken. In addition, this matter was discussed at BOD meeting on June 25, 2015 and the CE 
resigned on the same day. The BOD agreed to accept payment of $4.5 for the damaged vehicle. 

Management’s response: 
 
See Appendix XXII for response in the form of a memorandum dated 2015-06-05. 

b) Internal Audit Reports – Procurement 2014 
 
GWI award a contract 2014/3613 to Mr Zulfikar Khan on 2014-04-17. However, after an appeal 
by a Contractor, Punraj Singh (Faldhari Singh & Sons Contracting services), a second evaluation 
was done and the contract was awarded to Mr Singh. Mr. Singh was awarded on the point that 
his bid was 8% less than the contractor’s estimate whilst Mr Khan’s bid was 6% less than the 
estimate.  
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After the second evaluation, the evaluation committee along with the approval of the 
Management Tender Committee rescinded its award to Mr Khan and awarded it to Mr Singh. 
 
Mr Singh submitted a letter from the Guyana Bank for Trade and & Industry Limited, dated 
March 19, 2014, which indicated that his savings and current account amounted to $23.2M 
 
The evaluation which was completed on March 25, 2014, indicated in the evaluation of the 
Technical Capacity of Responsive bidders, that Mr Singh was at the time executing more than 4 
projects of which Internal Audit Department (IAD) was able to ascertain the value of the 
projects which amounted to $51M or 120% more than his financial capacity at that time.  
IAD also noted that the current job status was not stated in the contractor’s record of past 
experience. Apart from it not being stated, there was no record to show exactly how the 
evaluation committee was made aware of outstanding projects by Mr Singh. 
 
IAD therefore concluded, based on the evidence received that neither the Evaluation Committee 
nor the Management Tender Committee had done a complete evaluation. 

Procurement 2013 Major Contracts and Purchase Orders 

IAD noted an instance where Contract #2013/C521 for the Supply and Installation of 200mm 
Transmission Upgrade #76 to #78 Villages, East Berbice, Region #6 was signed six (6) months 
after being awarded. 

Bids for this contract closed on October 23, 2012 whilst the Evaluation Report was signed on 
November 21, 2012 and the letter of Award of Contract was sent on January 25, 2013.  

On May 7, 2013 R. Kissoon informed GWI that he could no longer proceed to carry out works 
because of significant price increases that would impact the bid amount since they were only 
then being asked to sign the contract; five (5) months after the letter of award which was far 
beyond the bid validity period. 

A meeting was held on May 16, 2013 with the contractor where it was decided that GWI would 
approach the other two (2) bidders. 

On June 18, 2014 the contract was signed with R. Kissoon for the same amount as per the initial 
bid. There were no other correspondences to show how R. Kissoon was awarded the contract 
after Mr Kissoon made the decision to decline the award of the contract and a decision to 
approach two other bidders was made. 

Management’s Response 

IAD was informed by the Director of Procurement that CIPD had made a request for procurement of works but 
did not realise that it was an IDB funded project. When GWI realised the funding agency was IDB, it took a 
few months to get IDB to agree to GWI’s recommendation for the contract. After IDB had agreed to the 
recommendation, rather than GWI having to go over the entire bidding process again, verbal negotiation (which 
was not documented in the contract file) was done between Mr Kissoon and the DP (date not given) after which 
Mr Kissoon agreed to execute the works for the original contract sum. 

In another finding, the IAD’s review of the 2013 submissions for prequalification of Lot ‘A’ Major Works 
revealed that S. Lorick Contracting Services had submitted letters from Toolsie Persaud Limited and Citizens 
Bank related to credit facilities which were dated 13th January, 2011 but subsequently had the dates written over 
to 03th January, 2013. Mr Lorick should not have been included on the pre-qualification list since he presented 
forged documents.  



 

65 
 

“Such extensive checks into the pre-qualification documents submitted were not done. This will be taken into 
consideration for future reference.” 

Procurement – Award of Minor Contracts 2013 

Contracts for Works (New Service Connections, Disconnections/Reconnections, Leak Repairs, 
Meter Reading,) and Services (Welding, Transportation, Weeding, etc) at Divisions continued to 
be awarded based on the recommendation of the respective Divisional Managers. IAD noted 
correspondences to this effect.  
 
‘In our opinion, this practice can encourage favouritism and discrimination by the managers in 
awarding contracts to persons which ultimately eliminates the atmosphere of competitiveness 
and fairness. Further, the duration of these contracts are for short periods and the services are 
retained upon renewal of contracts. This again eliminates competitiveness and fairness to other 
contractors. 
It would also create a risk of familiarity with the contractors and customers which may result in 
contractors bending the system to suit the customers upon requests’ 

Recommendation 

There should not be automatic renew of contracts but instead there should be a request for 
quotations so as to exercise a competitive environment.” 

IAD further noted that a recommendation was made by the Procurement Officer – Shellon 
James for Mr Jones, a former employee, to conduct work as a disconnection / reconnection 
contractor although he had expressed interest in conducting works for general maintenance and 
meter installation contracts. The Procurement Officer stated that her recommendation was 
based on directive given by management for which there was no paper trail to confirm this.   

At the time, Mr Jones was being investigated based on allegations made by his co-worker for 
presenting falsified expense bills via the Petty Cash and Advance system. During the 
investigation, Mr Jones was granted annual Leave and he subsequently resigned. Ms Latoya 
Blackman did not co-operate further with the investigation which was halted.” 

Management’s response: 
“The award of contracts is not solely done on Divisional Manager’s requests. Contractors are identified from the 
prequalification list from the regions also. The minor works maintenance, disconnection contracts are all 
standardised rate hence, the competitive process for these types of standard rate contracts is not necessary. The costs 
are budgeted by the divisions annually. The use of the same contractor is advantageous as it relates to institutional 
knowledge of the network customers, payment process, and procedures for accounting for materials etc. A suggestion 
was made to rotate contractors biannually which can be considered. The risk of former contract workers tampering 
with services that are disconnected may increase if this is implemented.” 

Procurement of galvanized pipes 

A procurement of service connection materials was undertaken by the Procurement Department. 
This was done in four (4) lots with the procurement of galvanized pipes being lot three (3) via 
contract # GWI 2012/C035 for the sum of $18,900,000 (7000 Units @$2,700). This contract 
was awarded to Nabi Construction Inc. The contractually agreed pipe to be delivered by the 
contractor was as follows:- 

“32mm diameter light weight galvanized coated steel pipes having a nominal length of 5.8 
meters, wall thickness of 2.6mm, must be male threaded ends with a coupling, and should be 
capable of being used for sleeving 25mm HDPE tubing. Outer diameter must be approximately 
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42mm. Pipe must not bend easily and must be in accordance with BS 1387/ASTM A – 120 
standards.” 

There was a delay in the delivery of the pipes by the contractor. The contract end date was stated 
to be 17th October, 2012, but the pipes were not delivered to LBI Central Store until 
10thNovember, 2012. The contractor did however share with GWI communications between 
himself and the shipping agency which indicated there was some difficulty of arrival being 
experienced by the vessel from Trinidad to Guyana on which the pipes were loaded. 
 

The delay caused GWI to procure pipes locally to address the demand for service connections. 

All of the above pipes were supplied by Gafsons Industries Ltd. with the exception of the last 
PO # 24502 which was supplied by Dalip Trading Ltd. 

The purchase at point 2 above (PO 23132) were made from Gafoors, who had initially tendered 
for contract # GWI 2012/C035 but was unsuccessful on the Administrative Requirements. The 
Administrative Requirements not met were failure to supply the following:- 
 

 Evidence of Bidder’s financial capacity 

 Warranty on the pipes with a minimum of five (5) years 
 

The specification of the pipes finally delivered to GWI by Nabi Construction Inc. was not what 
was contractually agreed to be supplied. The pipes supplied were smaller and it was the general 
opinion of the end users that they were of an inferior quality. 

Source 
Document 

PO Date 
Qty. 

Ordered 
on PO 

Receipt date 
Item 

# 
Detail Qty. 

Unit 
Price 

Total 

PO 22044 10-Jul-12 

2,000 

July 16, 2012 1835 
1 1/4" Galvanized 
Pipe  

500 $4,400   $   2,200,000  

PO 22044 10-Jul-12 July 16, 2012 1835 
1 1/4" Galvanized 
Pipe  

200 $4,400   $       880,000  

PO 22044 10-Jul-12 July 20, 2012 1835 
1 1/4" Galvanized 
Pipe  

700 $4,400   $   3,080,000  

PO 22044 10-Jul-12 September 12, 2012 1835 
1 1/4" Galvanized 
Pipe  

600 $4,400   $   2,640,000  

PO 23132 
10-Oct-

12 
1,000 

October 12, 2012 1835 
1 1/4" Galvanized 
Pipe  

500 $4,200  $   2,100,000  

PO 23132 
10-Oct-

12 
October 18, 2012 1835 

1 1/4" Galvanized 
Pipe  

500 $4,200  $   2,100,000  

PO 23439 
23-Nov-

12 
1,000 

November 27, 2012 1835 
1 1/4" Galvanized 
Pipe  

550 $4,300  $   2,365,000  

PO 23439 
23-Nov-

12 
November 30, 2012 1835 

1 1/4" Galvanized 
Pipe  

450 $4,300  $   1,935,000  

PO 24502 
22-Feb-

12 
1,000 February 28, 2013 1835 

1 1/4" Galvanized 
Pipe  

200 $4,300  $       860,000  

  

5,000 

   

4,200 
 

 $  18,160,000  
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All the pipes supplied locally to meet the demand were of the quality and standards required by 

the contract. They were delivered in an expeditious manner and primarily by the same supplier 

who was deemed NOT to have the Administrative Requirements during the evaluation of 

tenders by the Tender Evaluation Committee. 

ALL the pipes delivered by the contractor did not meet the contractual requirements and 

standards and were initially rejected via a memorandum sent to the contractor on 14thNovember, 

2012 for the following reasons:- 

“The pipe supplied is not consistent with the specifications stated in the contract since the 

internal diameter is less than 32mm and the external diameter is less than 42mm. 

The wall thickness is also less than 2.6mm. The pipes are slender and will bend easily thus not 

confirming to the specification” 

A collective agreement was arrived at by management (Director of Procurement, Director Corporate 
Services and Chief Executive) to accept the pipes without meeting the specifications and standards of 
the contract at a reduced unit price of $2,164 against the Contracted unit price of $2,700. 
Further, an addendum was done to reflect the change of the specifications and standards to 
accommodate the pipes delivered by the contractor but this proved to be contradictory in its 
composition of the wording in the addendum. Refer to the excerpt from the addendum below: 
 
“32mm diameter light weight galvanized coated steel pipes having a nominal length of 5.8 
meters, wall thickness of 2.6mm, must be male threaded ends with a coupling, and should be 
capable of being used for sleeving 25mm HDPE tubing. Outer diameter must be approximately 
42mm. Pipe must not bend easily and must be in accordance with BS 1387/ASTM A – 120 
standards and REPLACE THE ABOVE UNDERLINED with OD (outer diameter) 32mm, 
thickness, 2.6mm, length 5.8m.” 

 
GWI subsequently accepted ALL 6,971 pipes from the contractor citing a high discount received 
from the contractor when compared to the current market rate for the pipes despite being 
advised by the Operations Department to only accept 1,000. 
 
We discussed these findings with two GWI’s engineers, who did not want us to refer to them by 
name; they confirmed that indeed the pipes were not of the standard and sized as per the 
contract but they were used for shorter connections and may not last the time they were 
intended. In addition, the flexible hose that the pipes serve to protect was fitted with much 
difficulty. This was physically demonstrated to us.  
 
The decision by management to accept the alternative specification of Galvanised Pipes and not 
the approved specifications and standards which was available on the local market was not the 
best option based on findings above. 
 
Management’s response: 
 
“The decision to procure the pipes at a reduced cost was also influenced by the fact that between November 2012 
and January 2013 local suppliers of the galvanised pipes were exhausted and would have resulted in a reduction in 
the number of new services supplied to the prospective customers between November and January...The pipes were 
suitable for use on services across small drains and where there were no drains. It should be noted that all pipes 
were used hence, did not become dead stock.” 
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Conclusion 
 

We conclude that based on the audit work done, including reports issued by the IADto 
determine whether contracts were issued in accordance with Tender Board Rules, National 
Procurement Act No.8 of 2003, and all other rules and policies governing the award of contracts, 
that contract was not awarded consistent based on these rules. 

Recommendations 

1) BOD must review the Tender Board Rules and up-date them to ensure that weaknesses 
highlighted above do not recur. 

2) Ensure that a board member who is technically qualified sits with MTC when discussing 
and approving contracts or the complete file of the processes is submitted to the BOD’s 
Sub-committee before the contract is approval. An up-date check list of all the 
requirements must also be included in the contract file. 

3) Contractors must be made to provide NIS & PAYE compliances quarterly and guarantee 
or confirm from a financial institution that the contractor has financial resources to 
complete the contract on time. 

4) BOD must approve the qualifying terms and conditions for contracts to ensure that 
those seeking to be included in the pre-qualification list are eligible.  

5) GWI must maintain up-to-date files of all contracts including the names of the key 
management staff, qualification, description of the machinery and equipment and 
vehicles they owned by copies of registration or any form of ownership. 

6) BOD must consider rotating staff to prevent familiarity treats. During the period 2012 to 
2015, four contractors were the principal recipients of contracts even though some were 
already involved with more than two contracts and as reported about not fit to carry out 
the contracts. 

7) Even though the NPTAB may approve a contract because the contractor may seem to 
be the best of the lot, the BOD should intervene if BOD feels, based on experience, the 
contractor is not ‘fit and proper’ to carry out the contract. 

8) GWI’s engineers need to be more diligent to prevent/minimise delays by contractors. 
9) Management must write contractors as soon as it appears that delays are inevitable. If the 

contract works continue to be affected by delays for reasons that, in the opinion of the 
management are avoidable, then the penalty clause must be enforced and losses 
recovered from the Performance Bond as soon as possible.     

10) More contractors should be considered for minor contracts and the BOD should have a 
more effective oversight over these contracts.  

11) Where contracts are issued for goods and services but the contracted suppliers seek to 
modify the specifications of the goods/services management must consider the impact 
of the modification before approval is given. 
 

19. Financial Statements Presentation 2012-2014 

The company has adopted the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) in the 
preparation of its financial statements. These standards require financial statements to meet 
certain qualitative features: 

Understandable: The information must be readily understandable to users of the financial 
statements. This means that information must be clearly presented, with additional information 
supplied in the supporting footnotes as needed to assist in clarification. 
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Relevance: The information must be relevant to the needs of the users, which is the case when 
the information influences the economic decisions of users. This may involve reporting 
particularly relevant information, or information whose omission or misstatement could 
influence the economic decisions of users. 

Reliability: The information must be free of material error and bias, and not misleading. Thus, 
the information should faithfully represent transactions and other events, reflect the underlying 
substance of events, and prudently represent estimates and uncertainties through proper 
disclosure. 

Comparability: The information must be comparable to the financial information presented for 
other accounting periods, so that users can identify trends in the performance and financial 
position of the reporting entity. 

In our review of the 2014 audited financial statements which were issued by the Auditor General 
on February 10, 2016 we found that there were a number of areas that need to be improved as 
discussed in sections 20-26. Most of these findings also apply to the years 2012 and 2013 as well. 

Management’s response – Agrees with notes. 

20. External funding 

The company had $25.2B external funding as stated in the Statements of Financial Position 
which represents 74% of total assets. There is no note in the financial statements which explains 
the terms and conditions of these external funding in accordance with IAS 20.39 which requires 
the following disclosures: 

a) The accounting policy adopted for government grants, including the methods of 
presentation adopted in the financial statements, 

b) The nature and extent of government grants recognised in the financial 
statements and an indication of other forms or government assistance from 
which the entity has directly benefited: and 

c) Unfilled conditions and other contingencies attaching to government assistance 
that has be recognised. 

Effect of non-compliance 

In the absence of the above information, users of the financial statements will be unable to 
determine the following: 

(a) What was the funding used for; 
(b) The disclosure of the terms and conditions as they relate to the fund; 
(c) What is the timing of the repayment if at all and the interest being charged, if they are 

not grants; 
(d) Policies on how the grants are amortized, calculations and presentation of the 

quantitative effect of the amortization to the statements of other comprehensive income; 

(e) Disclosures of the assets to match the outstanding funds in the balance sheet. 

During our review of the trial balance and the financial statements for 2014, we noted the 

following differences. The MA informed us that the adjustments were made but we were unable 

to verify them in the financial statements: 
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Funding Source Balance as per TB 2014 Balance as per FS 2014 Difference 

External Funding – GOG     14,249,095,442          14,212,308,578  36,786,864 

External Funding – DFID       1,975,234,215               527,937,565       1,447,296,650  

External Funding - World 
Bank 

      3,942,876,676            2,676,691,666       1,266,185,010  

External Funding – IDB       2,971,805,694            5,675,938,456 (2,704,132,762) 

External Funding – EIB         336,636,672 0 336,636,672 

External Funding – CDB       1,338,975,603 0 1,338,975,603 

External Funding – EU         190,000,000                10,581,894  179,418,106 

External Funding – JICA       2,986,935,270            2,132,251,428  854,683,842 

Total 27,991,559,572 25,235,709,587 2,277,849,985 

 

For the period under review, GWI through the Government of Guyana had three ongoing 

projects funded by the Inter-American Development Bank, as follow:- 

1. Georgetown Sanitation Improvement Program – Project cost- US$ 10,000,000. 
Signed on December 8, 2010 

2. Linden Water Supply Rehabilitation Program – Project cost – US$ 12,300,000. 
Signed on July 13, 2011 

3. Water Supply and Sanitation Infrastructure Improvement Program – Project cost 
– US$ 31,676,500. Signed on October 10, 2014 

An amount of $5,675,938,456 is shown in the 2014 financial statement for ‘External Funding-

IDB’, this amount does not correspond with the trial balance which shows an amount of 

$2,971,805,694 giving rise to a difference of $2,704,132,762. We discussed this difference with 

the MA and she informed us that adjustments were made to the balances and gave the following 

breakdown: -        $ 

__________________________________________________________________________  
T.B. balance 31.12.2014     2,971,805,964 

Reclassification from deferred income 

Add: external funding      2,267,352,055 

External Contract Payable-TB     1,704,604,343 

Less: Deferred income amortization    (1,267,823,638) 

Balance reported in Financials    5,675,938,455_ 

We were unable to verify the origin or the basis for the amounts stated under ‘deferred income’ 

and ‘deferred income amortization’. The MA presented to us an EXCEL schedule of the 

deferred income but the details of the origin of the amounts could not be verified. The MA 

further explained to us that the balance of $2,267,352,055 was transferred to the External 

Funding-IDB account but the nature of the amount she couldn’t have explained as the balance 

has been lying in the Deferred Income account for several years. She was unable to provide any 

further details on this matter. 
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Management’s response: 

“Acknowledged journal entries have been booked to classify the amount stated as $5,675,938,455.” 

During our review of the ‘cashbook’ of IDB’s funding maintained by the Project Accountant 

(PA), we compared the balances with the 2014 financial statements and noted the following: 

      GSIP    LWSRP 

     2014      2013       2014      2013 

Amount stated in FS’s statements  418,603,573 533,957,305   795,580,048 637,121,781 

Statements of cash flows 

 

Amount Stated in Cashbook  418,603,573 575,244,000   815,315,270 389,500,000 

Difference     0 (41,646,695)   (19,735,222) 247,621,781 

The differences could not have been verified as both the PA and MA were still trying to 

determine the reason/s why these differences arise. 

All expenditure incurred under these projects is maintained by the Project Accountant who 

resigned recently. The PA maintained records on all funds received for projects and she has 

provided the following breakdown for the period under review: 

      2012    2013  2014  

__________________________________________________________________________ 

Funding received: 

GSIP      576,664,029 575,244,000 418,603,574  

LWSRP      890,893,834 389,500,000 815,315,271 

Total funds received    1,467,557,863 964,744,000 1,233,918,845 

Expenditure: 

GISP      511,288,186 528,281,620 515,971,926 

LWSRP      585,815,755 637,288,108 672,140,110 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Total expenditure    1,097,103,941 1,165,569,728  1,188,112,037 
  

*Source of information – Project Accountant.  

The Project Accountant informed us that these balances are not reflected in the financial 

statements since adjustments would be made to them by the DF and MA. The MA advised us 

that she cannot provide to us any further clarification of these balances in the absence of the PA. 

We are requesting the DF to provide to us the working papers or detailed schedules of all fund 

balances for the years ended December 31, 2012-2015 to determine how the balances in the 

financial statements were arrived at. In addition, the DF must also provide to us the details of 
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how deferred income has been arrive at as the ‘Note to the financial statements’ is inadequate 

and does not provide an understanding of how deferred income of $177,533,346 was arrive at.  

 

It is our firm belief that the funds received have not been properly stated and may not have been 

amortised against the assets that relate to the fund.  In addition and based on exhaustive 

discussions with the PA and MA, we are convinced that the amount shown as deferred income 

may not be correct.  

 

Management’s response – “The Company adopted the International Accounting Standard 30 (IAS 30) 

in 2013 and in 2014 substantial substantially comply with the standard. It is acknowledged, however, that more 

disclosure would be necessary and this will be done in the 2015 Financial Statement. It has to be acknowledged 

that the application of the standard has been relaxed for some years and it was not possible at the time of 2014 to 

complete the full implementation.  

 

“The amounts booked as deferred income has been determined based on the funding sources stated in the Statement 

of Financial Statement. The amount stated as External Funding has been accumulated since the Company’s 

incorporation in 2002. Depreciation has been calculated over the years, however, the income aspect of these funding 

sources have not been recognized consistently and the matter was discussed with the Board in 2014 which and the 

implementation of the accounting standard was done given that the amounts stated as External Funding is 

material and cannot be allowed to accumulate indefinitely. It must be acknowledged that there is limitation of 

records that relates to some of the older funding and the Project Accounting unit cash book and project files were 

used as a basis to recognize the deferred income decision was taken.” 

 

“While the cash flow statement may have not represented the cash flows accurately for 2013 for GSIP and 2013 

and 2014 for LWSRP. The general ledger has accounted for all transactions for the period 2012-2014. All the 

general ledger accounts including bank accounts and work in progress have been reconciles. The Project Accountant 

has made an erroneous statement of figures were being changed by the MA and FD without substantiating the 

entries that were posted to the general ledger.” 

 

 

Funding Source Balance as per TB 2014 Balance as per FS 2014 Difference Finance 
Response 

External Funding – GOG     14,249,095,442          14,212,308,578  36,786,864  

External Funding – DFID       1,975,234,215               527,937,565       1,447,296,650  Deferred income 
2004-2014 

External Funding - World Bank       3,942,876,676            2,676,691,666       1,266,185,010  Deferred income 
2004-2014 

External Funding – IDB       2,971,805,694            5,675,938,456 (2,704,132,762) Acknowledged – 
journals to reclassify 

External Funding – EIB         336,636,672 0 336,636,672 Deferred income 
2004-2014 

External Funding – CDB       1,338,975,603 0 1,338,975,603 Deferred income 
2004-2014 

External Funding – EU         190,000,000                10,581,894  179,418,106 Deferred income 
2004-2014 

External Funding – JICA       2,986,935,270            2,132,251,428  854,683,842 Deferred income 
2004-2014 

Total 27,991,559,572 25,235,709,587 2,277,849,985  
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21. Revaluation reserve 
 
We are uncertain why the company has a revaluation reserve of $1.8B since it has not adopted 
the revaluation model of measuring fixed assets. This leaves doubts in the mind of the 
stakeholders in the absence of a note to the financial statements explaining the background to 
the revaluation. However, if the revaluation arose years back then the amount should have been 
amortized in accordance with IAS 16.41 which states that the amount should be amortized to 
retained earnings by the excess depreciation as the assets are being used. 
 
Management’s response: “Your comment is noted as it relates IAS 16.41 and will be implemented. This 
was a revaluation done in a consultancy over six years ago. It must be noted that the basis and working papers of 
this revaluation is not available but nevertheless revaluation would have to be done on assets and the revaluation 
reserve will be adjusted accordingly.” 

 
22. Taxation payable 

Taxation payable to GRA at December 31, 2014 was $1.4B. We understand from management 
that this amount relates to property tax which is under consideration by the BOD. 

In accordance with the Income Tax Act chapter 81:01 Section 99(1(d), the company is liable to 
5% penalty per month for not paying taxes when due.  

Further in accordance with Section 60(1) and (2) and Section 99(3), failing to file returns when 
due will give rise to a penalty of 2% or 5% if the Commissioner demands returns. 

Considering the number of years the amounts that are owed, the interest and penalty could 
surpass the principal amounts owed. Given the materiality of this balance, the audit report did 
not draw attention to this matter. In addition, the financial statements do not include any note 
relating to this matter and the consequences of the company failing to file returns with the 
Guyana Revenue Authority. 

In addition and in the absence of any explanation, the recognition and disclosure requirements of 
IAS 12-Taxation was not followed. 

Management’s response: “All of the five sub sections are noted and would be pursued. And IAS 12 has 
been partially implemented and additional disclosure will be followed in 2015 financial statements.” 

23. Contingent liabilities 

Included in trade and other payables is provision for legal settlements which amounted to 
$66.8M. This component is governed by IAS 37. IAS 37.85 specifies the following disclosures: 

(a) Nature of the event 

(b) Timing of the event 

(c) Uncertainties that surround the event 

(d) Assumptions made by management in assessing the event 

(e) Reimbursement, if any 

There are no disclosures in the financial statements to explain any of these requirements. 
Further, we received a list of pending legal matters against GWI from the Company Secretary. 
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These matters were discussed with him and based on his explanations it is likely that only one 
matter may give rise to a potential liability. 

The trial balance at December 31, 2014 has a balance payable of $40,045,189 for ‘legal 
settlement’ which we could not have determined the basis while the financial statements on page 
30 Note 8.2 showed provision for legal settlement of $66,824,363 a difference of $26,779,124. 

Management’s response: “Concur with (a) to (e). The existing notes to the financial statements will include 
additional disclosure require in the next financial statements.” 

24. Additional paid in capital 

Additional paid in capital is a term which means that the existing shareholders have invested 
additional sums in excess of their share par value. The balance sheet includes $3.3B as paid in 
capital. However, there is no note to the financial statements which explains the circumstances 
under which the company received the amount. 

The foregoing are major short comings and based on other findings as described under Tangible 
fixed assets, revenue and receivables, we are uncertain whether the financial statements for the 
last three years 2012-2014 are materially presented since these findings apply to 2012 and 2013. 
At the time of this audit-March 2016, the DF was not in a position to provide to us a draft of 
neither 2015 financial statements nor a trial balance. 

Management’s response: “The $3.3B has been stated in the balance sheet since the Company’s 
incorporation in 2002. Efforts have been made to obtain all details pertaining the additional ‘paid in capital’ 
without any success. However, as a reference point to note is that the Audit Office of Guyana has verified the 
amount stated as “additional paid in capital” in 2006 Audited Financial Statements of the Guyana Water 
Incorporated for the Year Ended 31 December 2006.”  

25. Inventory 
 

In reviewing the financial statements, we noted that the Notes on inventory provide inadequate 
details on the policy and the details of the inventory balances. The policy explains briefly the 
method of valuation and another note showed the composition of the balance including goods-
in-transit and an insignificant provision for obsolescence. There is no information on the 
composition of the balance for spares, materials, meters etc. In the case of goods-in-transit, no 
details were provided as to when they were received subsequent to the balance sheet dates and 
the basis on which the amount was recognised as goods-in-transit.   

The Oracle’s module for Inventory Management was not fully utilised which resulted in the 
Internal Audit Department unable to pronounce on the accuracy of the company’s inventory 
value and variances declared for all areas for the 2013 stock count. The primary shortcomings 
were as follows: 

 Oracle EBS Snapshot was not performed as required for a Physical Count Exercise. 
 

 The management of all inventory holding areas was unsure of how to treat items in Sub-
inventories despite being adequately addressed in a memorandum circulated by the 
Management Accountant on the December 6, 2013. 

 

 Reconciliation of closed balanced periods between Oracle EBS and the General Ledger was 
not up-to-date due to technical problems experienced with the Inventory Module since 
October 2013. 
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Completeness of the process in Oracle E-business suite (EBS) to perform the year-end stock 
count was not followed through. There was a significant amount of transactions (Issues, 
Receipts, and Work Orders) not processed prior to commencement of the stock count exercise.    

At the end of 2013 slow moving items valued $367,163,220 were compiled but the BOD did not 
deliberate and instruct on this matter further. A majority of these items still remain on site. In 
fact during our visit in January 2015 at the GWI’s largest and most significant Store at LBI, the 
Inventory Manager confirmed that there are significant amounts of items which are slow 
moving, obsolete or damaged that need to be removed, sold or destroyed in order to better 
organise the limited available space at the Store. In 2015, about $3M of items were disposed by 
sale which was a grossly inadequate and a poor attempt to address the slow moving, damaged 
and obsolete inventory.  

The financial statements did not provide any note on the composition of supplies and services; 
that is what portion relates to goods directly consumed, issued from Store and the description of 
services. The amounts reported in the financial statements for 2014 and 2013 respectively were 
$651,140,531 and $812,458,592.  

We were unable to obtain an extraction of the receipts and issues of inventories to carry out 
analytical and audit tests. 

A sample of inventory was selected for testing and the following were noted: 

Item 
ID  
 

Item 
description 

 

Unit 
price 

 
Unit 

 

Rough 
stock 
sheet 

 

System 
report 

 

System 
value 

 
Variance 

 

Variance 
value 

 

190029 
 

Photocopy 
paper 

11x17" 
 

 
2,300 

 

 
 

Each 60 6 13,800 54 124,200 

110428 
 

Coupling 
maxi-fit 4" 

 
15,580 

 
 

Each 1 2 31,161 (1) (15,580) 

110514 
 

Self-tapping 
ferrule strap 
6x25M 

 
7,195 

 
 

Each 3539 3536 25,441,635 3 21,585 

150001 
 

Aluminium 
sulphate 

 
4,036 

 
 

Each 1 0 - 1 4,036 

170002 
 

Milk 1800g 
 

3,585 
 

 
Each 2 3 10,754 (1) (3,585) 

170005 
 

Tea bags 
100 

 
1,030 

 Each 2 1 1,030 1 1,030 

170006 
 

Coffee 
 

1,031 
 

 
Each 5 4 4,123 1 1,031 

 

The following were also observed:- 

 Damaged items were counted as inventory. We noted that these items were in a 
deplorable state and they cannot be used. 
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 Movements to inventory are recorded in the Inventory module in ORACLE but there 
was no evidence that periodical physical counts are done and matched against records 
and vice versa. The DF/IAD needs to be more proactive to ensure that independent 
checks are done for inventory. These checks must be documented for audit verification 
purposes. 

 A report of the balance of inventory is only sent to the Finance Department when an 
inventory count is done. In cases where there are variances between ORACLE and the 
stock sheets, the Store Manager informed us that depending on the size of the variance 
only then would the Finance Department make enquires. At most times, balances are 
adjusted in ORACLE to reflect the amounts shown on the physical count sheet. 
 

We are still to receive a detailed listing including slow moving, obsolescence and damaged 

inventory for the years 2014 and 2015. 

Management’s response – “The oracle E-Business suite was implemented in June 2013. This process took 

almost a month to migrate the data to the new Management Information System (MIS). It was also a learning 

period as it was the first time was being expensed after the work order by operations staff in divisions had a 

negative impact on the balances. The repairs to mains and the installation of service do not stop during the count 

hence, materials are always being used. There was a count of the contractor materials on hand on the last day of 

the year for finalization of the balances as at December 31st each year. Perpetual inventory done weekly on selected 

items, half year stock counts done (on items with movements 2014/2015). Internal Audit Department does 

routine and that includes sample checks). June 2014, January – March 2015.” 

26. Tangible Fixed Assets 
 

The company’s financial statements reported total assets value for the years 2012-2014 as follow:  

Value 2012 2013 2014 

 $B $B $B 

Gross 33.8 35.1 36.7 

Net 21.0 25.3 20.8 

Work-in-progress 2.5 4.4 5.8 

 

We requested schedules of the details for work-in-progress for each year from the Asset 
Accountant but they were not provided. Therefore, we are unable to determine the validity of 
the assertions for assets-existence, valuation, classification, occurrence etc. Further, we are 
unable to determine whether the amounts shown as work-in-progress are materially correct and 
are classified based on state of the assets. 

The company adopted the cost model of measuring fixed assets as per IAS 16.30. However, 
there is no disclosure in the financial statements to explain whether any impairment review was 
carried out and the effect it would have on the financial statements in accordance with IAS36.9. 

In addition, given the nature of the company’s assets, its risk and stakeholders interest, it is 
important that the financial statements present a fair assessment of the company’s assets value. 
Therefore, the company should have opted for the revaluation model for measuring fixed assets 
in an effort to achieve this. 
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Effect of non-compliance 
 
Due to the non-compliance of disclosures of IAS 16 and 36, the users of the financial statements 
will be unable to determine the following: 

(a) Whether the fixed assets are reflected at their carrying amount; 
(b) When was the last assessment done, if any; 
(c) What are the fair values of the fixed assets given that the revaluation model of 

measurement is not being used? 

During our meetings and discussions with the DF and the MA, they both agreed that the 
financial statements are deficient in many areas and that efforts will be made to remedy these 
deficiencies. 

Management maintains a fixed assets register in ‘ORACLE’ which is up-loaded periodically into 
EXCEL from which the assets are reviewed and used to carry out physical counts. We have 
received copies of certain Divisions, as requested and have concluded that the fixed assets 
register in its present state cannot be relied on and may not a true reflection of the company’s 
physical assets. The Division received in EXCEL format are: Georgetown, LBI and Linden. 

The major findings are: Georgetown listing  

a) While assets do have fixed assets codes (fixed assets identification number), as are shown 
on the EXCEL printout ,we were unable to physically identify many of the assets 
because the assets themselves do not have the codes e.g. many of the buildings and other 
assets in Georgetown cannot be identified by reference to a code or description since the 
description in the assets register makes reference to ‘wooden building, office buildings, 
sign board, security lights, halogen lights etc at ‘Shelter Belt’ in Georgetown. The codes 
are not on the assets and therefore we could not have determined the correct identity of 
the assets. 

b) While carrying out the physical verification for the generators, we noted that there were 
three large new generators two of which were still to be installed. These are not as yet 
recorded in the assets register. The Fixed Assets Supervisor who is responsible for the 
maintenance of the fixed assets register explained to us that ‘certain procedures’ must be 
followed before they are included in the register. 

c) Improvement works to buildings and other related components are listed as line items as 
if they are identifiable assets whereas the improvements had to do with existing assets. 
The improvement works are described as concrete works, halogen lights, security lights 
etc.  

d)  Electrical works valued in excess of $180m at various stations in Georgetown should 
have been included as part of the assets-buildings etc., rather than described as ‘electrical 
works’. Or, since there may have been major components such as transformers, 
generators, cables etc, they should have been described as specific items or as fixtures to 
buildings, Workshop, Water Treatment Plant etc.  

e) Land is listed under Shelter Belt, Georgetown instead of the Divisions e.g. La Bonne 
Intention, Tucville, Kingston. Ownership documents such as titles are still to be issued in 
the company’s name.  

f) Assets acquired during the merger of GS&WC and GUYWA have all been included in a 
few significant values in 2005. Unfortunately, even though attempts to carry out a fixed 
assets count in 2015 were made, the amounts still remained in the fixed assets register. 
This is because the approach used to carry out the physical count was flawed. Instead of 
doing a 100% physical count and record all assets by their description, location, 
condition, serial/manufacturer identification #, the existing register was used as the 
basis. This has led to the assets register still not nearing being correct. 
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g) Fixed assets have not been revalued/appraised over the last five years which is contrary 
to accounting Standard, IAS 16-Property, Plant & Equipment prescribes that assets ‘After 
initial recognition, the asset should be measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses or at a revalued amount, which is its fair valueless subsequent depreciation and impairment losses. 
Revaluations must be made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount is not materially 
different from fair value’. 

h) In addition, the Property Tax Act was amended in 2013 to include changes approved 
through the National Budget. ‘The valuation date for land and buildings for the purposes of 
property tax will be revised from January 1, 1991 to January 1, 2011. In addition, all assets have 
to be assessed at least annually to determine whether their existing values have changed 
since the last accounting period after taking depreciation into effect. 

i) Water connections to customers are described in the fixed assets register as ‘service 
connection’. The gross value of these connections at present is $3.1B and net $2.7B. 
These connections are depreciated over 40 years except in a few cases 20 years. Further 
investigations and subsequent discussions with the Director of Capital Investment & 
Project Development revealed that these connections have several components all with 
have different useful lives and are expected NOT to exceed ten (10) years because of 
their compositions, weather and environmental conditions, and their constant misuse 
and internal rust because of the ironized water. These components include galvanise 
pipes, polyurethane hose, poly fittings, saddles meters, PVC pipes and stop corks. 
Therefore, it is very clear that the useful lives of ‘service connections’ is grossly 
overstated. Please refer to Appendix XVII for sample from the fixed assets register. 
 

j) List of motor vehicles that are not working for various reasons: 

Details 
Acquisition 

Date 
Location 

Toyota Hilux PHH 578 - Division 1 Bartica 

Nissan Pick-up PGG 6343 7/01/1999 Shelter belt 

Toyota Pick-up PGG 8765 2/11/2000 Operation  

Nissan X Trail 4x4 6370 7/08/2002 Head office 

Nissan Frontier PHH 6331 7/08/2002 Div. 4 Onverwagt 

Nissan Patrol Station wagon PJJ 7385 8/25/2005 Head office 

Nissan Patrol wagon PJJ 7386 8/01/2005 Head office 

 
These vehicles have not been used for over a year; therefore they should be considered 
as impaired if management do not intent to repair them. 

k) Vehicles cannot be traced to the assets register because the registration numbers are not 
included. Therefore, we cannot confirm whether all the company’s vehicles are included 
the assets register. 

l) Assets acquired in 2005 and described as Fixture, Furniture Office equipment and 
Hardware & software are recorded at values of $41,034,320 and $53,373,480 respectively. 
It appears that the assets were not recorded separately but as a block figure. These assets 
could not have been physically verified and may have been susceptible or already 
impaired due to obsolescence, usage and or no longer working. 

m) Mouse, keyboard, CPU and monitor were being listed on the assets register instead of a 
complete unit. Each item carried a separate code.  

n) Generator on trailer (P150E) was not physically labelled; however, in the assets register it 
was labelled. This made it difficult to determine whether the item in the register is the 
same as the physical. 

o) Klimaries Air condition units acquired on December 31, 2008 for $5,993,688 have been 
damaged beyond repairs but are still recorded in the assets register. 
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p) The assets transfer files for the years 2012 to 2014 were not available for our verification. 
 

LBI location 

q) Based on the assets listing extracted from the assets register, only a few items could have 
been verified. Assets have not been labelled at this location, thus making it difficult to 
verify and compare to the assets listing. 
 
Two assets that came to our attention which are not listed in the assets register are: 

Descriptions Conditions 

2 Pallet jack Working condition 

Forklift CAT  Not working 

 

Linden 

r) When we visited Linden, a sample of assets could not have been easily verified to the 
assets register because although a physical count was done in late 2015, the register was 
not brought up-dated.  

 

Comments 

Based on the foregoing findings on the financial statements components including inventory and 

fixed assets and based on finding reported earlier on receivables and income, we strongly believe 

that the financial statements for the last three years are materially incorrect. 

Management’s response: 

“Concur with table of total value of assets provided for 2012-2014.” 

“We do not agree with the comment as the work in progress schedule was provided at the beginning of the audit by 

the Financial Accountant to the audit staff. Such qualification of validity noted for limitation of asset assertion is 

not accurate. The schedules are, however, available to determine the validity of assertions for non-current assets. 

The Finance Director is not aware that there would have been a verification of work in progress. What has been 

communicated to the Director of Finance was that checks were carried out at the following locations – Georgetown, 

Linden Water Treatment Plants and LBI Central Stores for fixed asset verification and not work in progress. 

Subsequent to the asset verification a discussion with the lead Auditor were held in the Finance Director’s Office 

(Asset Accountant was present) and no mentions were made of work in progress but other asset verifications of the 

locations mentioned above. Attached are details of work in progress schedules for the periods under review 2012-

2014 in Appendix 2” 

Our comments: We reviewed the schedules attached in the management’s response for 

work in progress and noted that the schedules are the same that were presented to us at 

the beginning of the audit. Our aim was to verify the composition and validity of the 

balances in the work in progress schedule but we were informed by the Asset Accountant 

that it was unlikely for him to trace the composition of these balances. 

“The DF and MA noted that there have been improvements in the financial statements but nevertheless 

acknowledged that efforts would be made to further improve it, including evaluating the practicability of fully 

complying with IAS 16 and 36.” 
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(a) “It is acknowledged that buildings and the sign boards in Shelter Belt, Georgetown were not labelled with 
a code description and this has been corrected in 2016, except the sign boards.” 
 

(b) “The three FG Wilson new generators were purchases under the Shelterbelt Frequency Conversion 
program and are work in progress as other components needs to be installed before it is moved to the asset 
register.” 

(c) “Concrete works described in the assets register is directly traceable to the individual Sewer Sanitation in 
Georgetown. With regards to halogen lights, security lights, etc. are practice in the past (up to 2005) and 
such are no longer classify as fixed assets ( except for security and flood lights which are high value assets 
are classify as a sub category in the asset register under the location are for accountability and separate 
depreciation rate); instead a revenue expenditure." 

(d)  “A sewer station consists of a panel with wiring and an enclosure (concrete). The concrete element is 
described as building in the asset register and the electrical works in the register is categorized as 
mechanical & electrical for accountability and depreciation as both categories carry different depreciation 
rate.” 

(e) “The given lands are listed to the shelterbelt location because they are recognized and labelled under 
departments that fall under the Head Office.” 

(f) “The Company’s fixed asset register was done by a consultancy in 2006. There are a number of assets 
categories that were brought into the register at “block” values meaning that the components that relate to 
those item were not segregated which resulted a net book value of $314m as of December 2015. Asset 
verifications are done 100% per locations and all assets not only those on the register are taken into 
consideration when reconciling. At verification assets that relate to the locations where those block values 
are brought into the register at a nominal value of $1. However, efforts will be made to the value those 
assets that are brought into the register at a nominal value to a more realistic value. Assets were acquired 
during the merger of (GSWC & GUYWA) was done by a consultant in 2006 (and entered the 
register in Dec, 2015). Asset Verification is done by using the Asset Register as a guide. Items found 
that were not included in the fixed asset register are recorded as misplaced assets and also damaged assets 
are reconciled to the register for action.” 

(g) “The comment is noted and would be explored.” 
(h) “The comment is noted and would be explored.” 
(i) “These depreciation rates have been in force the incorporation of the Company in 2002. It is premature 

to just conclude that the depreciation rated used are not realistic and the assets are grossly overstated 
taking into consideration a comment made by the Director of Capital Investment. These are highly 
technical engineering matter that requires detailed research and study.” 

(j) “It is the practice of the company to sell unserviceable/ impaired motor vehicles. The vehicles in questions 
would be sold be Public Tender (1 of the 7 was already sold). These vehicles are fully depreciated.” 

(k) “Not in agreement that the registration numbers of motor vehicles are not included in the fixed   asset 
register. All motor vehicles asset numbers are uploaded under the serial number content in the asset 
module. The asset register report that was provided does not include the motor vehicle registration numbers 
and was requested urgently without specifying or discussing the report use. The asset module export does 
not facilitate the serial numbers but there is a report that is available for asset verification that has all 
serial numbers and can be provided.” 

(l) “Acknowledged that the assets acquired in 2005 were as a result of a consultancy that was done in 
2006 that resulted to the limitation of the block figure. This would be addressed by matching the items in 
the register that were subsequently verified and brought in the register. 

(m) “This was the practice of the past which have been corrected; a desktop computer is now entered in the 
fixed asset register as one unit.” 

(n) “The generator on the trailer was subsequently re-labelled February 2016.” 
(o) “The Klimaries Air Conditioning units that are unserviceable and will disposed of and taken off the 

register in 2016.” 
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(p) “This query is noted and Asset Transfer files were done for 2015. The Fixed Asset Policy will be 
reviewed in 2016.” 

(q) “Acknowledged that the asset listing provided include LBI & Procurement asset which are merged and 
will be corrected in 2016. A request was made to have an Asset Clerk to assist with the verification 
exercise but the exercise was carried out without the Asset Clerk.” 

(r) “Acknowledged that a physical verification was done in the last quarter in 2015 and the register was not 
updated at the time of the Auditor’s verification. The asset register was however updated.” 
 

Recommendations 

The BOD needs: 

1) To set up a Committee to carry out a comprehensive review of all the major components 
of the financial statements to determine whether the accounting policies used are 
adequate and are consistent with the reporting accounting framework adopted. 

2) To determine whether revenue and expenditures have been reported correctly over the 
last four years. 

3) Whether all the balance sheets component balances are materially correct and have been 
disclosed in accordance with the accounting framework. 

4) Ensure that the company complies with its statutory obligations to file corporation and 
property tax returns and to pay outstanding taxes.    

5) Reorganise the finance department to ensure that the Billing department forms part of it 
or there is a direct link to ensure that billing information are linked to the ORACLE 
system.  

6) Ensure that the key personnel within the department are experienced enough to carry 
out their responsibilities including the preparation of high quality financial statements, 
management accounting and analytical reporting for the monthly BOD meetings.  

7) Carry out a 100% physical verification of assets and ensure that the fixed assets register is 
brought up to date within a given time-say six months.  

8) Review depreciation and capitalisation policies to ensure that immaterial items are 
expensed rather than ‘burden’ the fixed assets register with their entries. 

9) Carry out a comprehensive review and assessment of the inventory system to ensure that 
slow moving, obsolete and damaged items are disposed of and removed from all stores. 
Then ensure that the balances in the ORACLE module are correct.  

10) Review the company’s insurance policies for assets and inventory to ensure that the 
coverage is adequate. 

 

27. Information Communication Technology (ITC) 
 

Recently, the HEAD ITC resigned before an investigation was about to be carried out on alleged 

unethical practices management suspected he was involved in. 

The current Head of the Department has determined that GWI needs to do the following: 

a) Up-grade existing hardware and software and at the same time to utilise all the features 
and modules available in both ORACLE and Hi-Affinity.  

b) She has informed us that the locations where all the equipment are housed is very 
cramped which we verified.  

c) Management needs to invest more in human resource development to ensure a higher 
level of skilled staff base available to the department to ensure maximum usage can be 
made of ORACLE and Hi-Affinity. Presently, this is not the case. 
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d) The department is under staffed; it currently has a staff complement of 12 technical + 1 
administrative staff. GWI does not attract the personnel with the level of skill needed 
because of the compensation package. 

e) Storage of data is done in-house; this poses a huge risk in the event of fire or any natural 
disaster. Head explained that efforts are being made to move the office and to store data 
off-site. 

f) Network needs overhauling because it is 10 years old. All locations need to be re-cabled. 
Of the 24 servers, 10 need replacing, upgrading of firewalls etc 
 

28. Human Resource Department (HRD) 
 

We carried out general reviews and interviews with the HR Director (HRD) and noted the 

following: 

HRD is responsible for all employment except those at Executive Levels which is done by the 

BOD. 

We reviewed a sample of personal files of employees and found that they were generally  in 

order. The salaries paid through the payrolls matched the amounts recorded in the  personal 

files. 

However, employees have not been subject to annual appraisals since 2013. Currently, the HRD 

is in the process of completing appraisals for 2015 but, in our opinion, it will take a  long time 

or may never be completed unless they are done within a given time before year end. The forms 

have been sent out and HRD is now awaiting their return, before March 31, 2016. 

29. Chief Executive  
 

During the period under review, the chief executive was Mr Shaik Baksh who was employed by 
the BOD on September 17, 2012 and resigned on June 25, 2015. His contract of employment 
states that he was employed for a period of three years with the following benefits: 

a) Gross salary of $710,000 per month 
b) Gratuity of 22.5% payable at the end of every six months of satisfactory service (there 

was no evidence of an evaluation of his service) 
c) Rent of $120,000 per month plus electricity (to live in his own home) 
d) Twenty hours security 
e) Entertainment allowance of $70,000 
f) Duty allowance of $30,000 
g) All telephone changes including approved overseas calls (no body verified the legitimacy 

of the overseas calls or who authorised them) 
 

Based on these benefits, the CE should not have earned more than $930,000 inclusive of rent of 

$120,000 per month. The security and gratuity, we understand, were paid separately. The 

financial statements for 2012 did not comply with IAS 24-Related party disclosures; therefore we 

could not have verified whether the benefits he received in that year were consistent with his 

contract. We were unable to get this information from the finance department even though we 

requested the information from the DF. In 2013 and 2014, the total benefits he received were 

$14,177,500 and $14,791,650 respectively as stated in the financial statements 

The BOD approved rent for the CE to live at his own home at Lot 16 Ixora Avenue, Eccles, 

East Bank, Demerara which was in effect a non-taxable allowance contrary to the Income Tax 



 

83 
 

Act. The other allowances were also intended for him not to pay income tax as all expenses he 

incurred on behalf of the company were refunded to him.  

In addition, the CE was entitled to twenty (20) hours of security services at lot 16 Ixora Avenue, 

Eccles, according his contract of employment.  The IAD reported in one of their reports that 

two (2) private security personnel were employed by the CE despite the company has a 

contracted security firm which provides this service. There is no evidence to confirm that the 

BOD approved the CE’s appointment of independent security personnel. It should be noted 

that the two (2) security personnel were paid a basic salary of $44,000 and $16,000 to 

compensate for overtime ($120,000 per month) at a time when these positions were not in the 

company’s staff complement. 

In addition, we reviewed an IAD’s report dated June 3, 2015 which highlighted certain 

irregularities committed by the CE. The investigation that led to this report originated from a 

special meeting of the BOD on May 28, 2015 which dealt with allegation of irregularities 

committed by the CE. In addition, we carried out our own verification of the findings to ensure 

the validity of the report. With the IA’s approval, details of the report are reproduced except for 

certain changes and the full report is attached as an appendix. 

Report of June 3, 2015 -Overview 

During an emergency meeting held on May 28, 2015 by the Board of Directors and Senior 

Management several reports of irregularities regarding the conduct of the Chief Executive were 

raised. These include misappropriation of cash advances for sites visits, abuse of authority in 

using the company assets, overriding company policies etc. 

 

Misappropriation of Cash Advance for site visits and unauthorized Cash Refunds 

Findings: 

During the period January 2014 – May 2015 a total of $3.9M was issued to the CE and 

employees performing duties as his Executive Assistant to facilitate official field trips. However, 

the following were noted: 

1) The legitimacy of expenses and field trips could not have been verified since bills 
produced did not provide any contact information for the persons issuing same; no other 
official from GWI was stated accompanying the CE on the claimed official visits and the 
purpose of the visits were not stated. Refer to Exhibit 1. 
 

2) The following were observed from bills presented to substantiate expenses incurred. 
Refer to Exhibit 2. 

 Liked hand writings and formation of letters on bills “supposedly” issued by 
different individuals. 

 Bills issued from different persons in different locations which showed signs of 
being from the same book since the receipts contained one of the above if not 
both and had the same designs. 

 Individuals who “supposedly” issued the receipts from one location issued 
another at a different location. 

 
3) Cash receipt of US$400 equivalent to GY$84,000 (Ex. Rate @210) dated 05/09/14  

written to S. Baksh from M. Ramgoolan for “hire of taxi Piarco – POS San Fernando 
Chaguanas/ POS” was presented to clear advance of $105,000 taken on 04/09/14 for a 
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visit to the Water Authority of Trinidad and Tobago. See exhibit 3.There is no evidence to 
confirm that the BOD or senior management was aware of this visit.  
 

4) Bills dated December 4, 2014 totalling $200,000 were proven to be fictitious as security 
logs showed that the Chief Executive was at head office instead of the locations claimed. 
Refer to the below table for the details:- 

 

Advance Voucher Cheque Bills 
Date 

Prepared 
Prepar
ed By 

Date 
Approved 

Appro
ved 
By 

Cheque # Oracle 
AP 

Module 
Creation 
date & 
Time 

 

Approve
d By 

Date Details Value 
($) 

04/12/14 Onika 
Holder 

04/12/14 Shaik 
Baksh 

950013014 04-Dec-
2014 
12:02:29 

N. Niles 
& S. 
Tiwari 

04/12/14 Hire of speed 
boat from 
Parika – 
Moruka on 
4/12 and 
return Morika 
– Parika on 
6/12 

160,000 

Hire of speed 
boat from 
Parika / 
Supenaam / 
Parika 

40,000 

 

Head Office Security “vehicle log book” showed following logs for the Chief Executive’s 
vehicle:- 
 

Date Driver’s Name Time # of persons 
in  the 
vehicle 

Remarks 

In Out 

December 4, 2014 Gavin 
Anderson 

11:15 - 3 CEO 

- 13:25 2 CEO 

15:55 - 3 CEO / Family 

Baksh - 17:25 1 CEO 

 

See exhibit 4 
 

5) Advance of $300,000 was issued on April 30, 2015 for visits to Upper Pomeroon 

Region and Santa Rosa and Villages in Moruka Sub Region, however, one of the bills 

presented totalling $245,000 for hiring of speed boat from Charity to Santa Rosa, Santa 

Rosa to Moruka return and Santa Rosa to Mabaruma return was dated May 11, 2015 –

Elections Day which was declared a public holiday. See exhibit 5 for bill 

 

6) The Chief Executive’s employment contract does not provide for compensation for 

medical expenses; however, an instance was noted where monies were reimbursed for a 

“claimed” on the job accident. This accident was never reported to the Occupational 

Health and Safety Officer or the Human Resources Department nor was there any 

accident report prepared to justify payments. The total value amounted to $29,000 which 

was approved by the Management Accountant and paid on April 24, 2015. See exhibit 6. 
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Missed use of Vehicle PPP9050 used by the Chief Executive   

On March 28, 2012 a contract was entered into between GWI and S. Jagmohan Hardware 
Supplies and Constructing Services and Nabi Construction Inc., Joint Venture/Consortium for 
the Georgetown Sanitation Program – Priority Works for the Installation of Force Mains. 
 
Under the contract’s Special Conditions of Contract, the Contractor was required to provide a 
specific list of facilities for the Engineer’s location which included one (1) Double Cab Pickup 
(new or reconditioned). The Contractor tendered a quoted price of $4,700,000 from 
Associated Industries Limited (AINLIM) for a Nissan Frontier 4x4 Double Cab Pickup – ‘DX’ – 
Diesel. 
 
This pickup was to be utilised for the sole purpose of site visits and verification of works to be 
done by GWI’s Project Manager and Engineer on the contract.  
 
A decision was taken to allocate the double cab pickup to be acquired under the contract to the 
CE’s full use to fulfil Clause 3.3-3.3.3 of his contract of employment under Salary and Benefits. 
There was no evidence to confirm who made the decision to allow the CE to use the vehicle 
since he was already allocated a vehicle. 
 
The IAD reported the following regarding the above arrangement:- 

- ‘The decision was taken despite GWI making available two (2) other vehicles to the CE 
which he deemed as unsuitable. The Director of IPID - Ramchand Jailall who is 
ultimately responsible for the overall management of the contract stated that it was his 
understanding that the CE should have discussed this decision with the Chairman of the 
Board for approval to use the vehicle instead of the one allocated to him’ 
 

- ‘The double cab pickup acquired differed to the one tendered by the contractors by 
manufacturer and cost. The double cab pickup acquired was an upgrade in the form of a 
Toyota Hilux Vigo Double Cab Pickup (brand new) 2012 Year Model, Diesel, 2982cc 
and cost $7,500,000 which was $2,800,000 more than the Nissan Frontier. The Toyota 
Hilux Vigo carried plate # PPP 9050. The additional cost of the Toyota Hilux Vigo was 
borne by GWI and recorded in the Asset Register – Vehicles and Mobile Plant Account 
#1107 with an acquisition cost of $3,899,865 and incorrectly dated 01-Jan-07’ 
 

- ‘Vehicle PPP 9050 was never used on the contract under which it was acquired. The 
Project Manager and Engineer had to resort to the use of an assigned vehicles from 
GWI’s vehicles pool, which is shared throughout the company on a first come, first serve 
basis. This significantly hampered the work of the Project Manager and Engineer 
throughout the duration of the contract.’ 
 

- ‘The persons authorized to operate vehicle PPP 9050 were assigned driver and the CE’ 
 

- ‘The general maintenance and repairs to vehicle was done by an unauthorized mechanic 
instead of GWI’s approved mechanic. All costs for the repairs and maintenance were 
processed through Purchase Orders. Table below shows maintenance to date’ 
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Sum of Net Column Labels

Category 2013 2014 2015 Grand Total

Entertainment/Hospitality 2,000           2,000                

Fuel & Lubricants MV 660,861                   1,172,690  382,718       2,216,269        

Hired/Outside Services 65,500          65,500              

Insurance 12,515                     12,515              

Licences 6,000                       6,000           12,000              

Other supplies and servic 8,950                       22,381        40,316          71,647              

Other Transport Costs 4,000                       21,500        25,500              

Repair & Maintenance -B&E 20,500                     319,906      116,000       456,406           

Repairs - Vehicles 197,536                   154,800      9,315            361,651           

Tyres & Tracks 343,640      343,640           

Grand Total 910,361                   2,042,917  613,849       3,567,127         
 
 
The vehicle was involved in an accident on the 3rd May, 2015. At the time of the accident, 
the CE was out of the country and the vehicle was driven by his son who was not 
authorized to drive the vehicle.  
 
We met with the Director HR and the Health and Safety Office (H&SO) to determine 
whether an investigation was done. The H&SO confirmed to us that he did attempt to 
carry out an investigation of the accident and discovered that: 
 
1) The vehicles was not owned by GWI; and, 
2) That no GWI’s employee was involved in the accident, therefore, there was no need 

to carry out an investigation. 
 

In fact, the H&CO is wrong; the vehicle although registered in Suresh Jagmohan’s name was 

never in his possession; it was always used by GWI’s CE and was paid for by GWI. Screen shots 

of the Assets Register in ORACLE showed that the vehicle was registered at values of 

$4,700,000 which was recovered from the contract and $2,800,000 which was the additional 

amount paid by GWI because a different vehicle was acquired instead of the one quoted for 

$4.7m. The H&CO would have seen that the vehicle was used by the CE daily and therefore 

should have made proper enquiries about the ownership and why it was being used by the CE. 

After the accident, the vehicle is a complete write off and is sitting in the compound of GWI, 

Shelterbelt. The CE resigned on June 18, 2015 and the BOD acknowledged his resignation letter 

on June 24, 2015. The Company Secretary wrote to him on behalf of the BOD on June 26, 2015 

advising him that the BOD has agreed to waive the required three (3) months’ notice and 

accepted his resignation with immediate effect. In the letter, the BOD also agreed with the CE’s 

request to pay GWI $4,500,000 for the vehicle which was paid by deducting benefits owed to 

him and the balance of $2,651,494 to be repaid in twelve monthly instalments of $220,958 each. 

We have verified that the CE was up-to-date with the payments. 

Payment of Gratuity to the Chief Executive without approval from the Board  

According to clause 3.2 of the Chief Executive Employment contract “gratuity should be paid subject 

to satisfactory performance”. We saw no evidence that performance appraisal was done as there was 

no evidence in his personal file. We were informed that gratuity payments was programmed in 

the Payroll Software to be processed when due. The Directors and Senior Manager’s payroll with 

statutory and applicable deductions are prepared by the Finance Director and checked by the 

Human Resources Director prior to payment through designated banks. Gratuity payments via 
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payroll to the Chief Executive from the date of employment September 17, 2102 to current were 

as follows:- 

Year Amount Paid Duration  

2013   $1,917,000  12 months 

2014  $2,012,850 12 months 

2015 $1,056,719 6 months 

 

Conclusion 

It appears that the CE used his position to override policies and procedures and overstepped his 

authority with or without the approval of the BOD. There is no evidence in the BOD’s minutes 

to confirm that the CE was authorised to use vehicle PPP 9050 which was intended to be used 

by the Project Manager-Georgetown Sanitation Programme. 

Recommendation 

The new BOD should review the contract of the previous CE to determine whether benefits 

paid were consistent with his contract of employment. If not, they should pursue all over 

payments      

30. Advances 
 

In addition to the matters reported under the heading ‘Chief Executive’ above, we investigated 

account 1603 ‘Staff Advances for Site Visits’ and noted that the company’s policies on 

advances were not followed and are still not being followed. All most all the advances were 

cleared after the three days period during which they should have been cleared. If not, the 

departments’ manager must write the DF to advice that there will be delays to clear the advances. 

Only the IAD department seems to have followed this policy. The advances were eventually 

cleared, except for the two below.  

We had requested the monthly reconciliation of these advances but only received them for 2015 

and part of 2014; the earlier years we were told were stored in a container and could not have 

been retrieved quickly.  

Included in outstanding advances of $89,324,312 at December 31, 2015 were two as follow: 

1) C&N Trading Company Limited was advanced on August 31, 2011 $8,775,000 for the 
supply of transformers, which were never supplied. GWI took the company to Court and 
obtained judgement in its favour. The execution of the judgement could not have been 
done and the money is still to be recovered  

2) Lynwill International Trading Ltd was advanced in December 2011 $4,930,681 for the 
supply of chlorine gas, which was never supplied. The matter is before the Court.  

 

These are clear evidences that proper due diligence was not done before funds were advanced to 

companies that could not or were never in a position to deliver the goods. Based on the fact that 

judgement had been awarded in favour of GWI and the advance could not be recovered, it is 

also likely that the other advance may not be recovered after four years. 
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